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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

This Admission Document has been prepared solely by the Company in connection with the 
Admission. The purpose of the Admission Document is to provide information about the Company 
and its business. This Admission Document has been prepared solely in the English language. For 
definitions of terms used throughout this Admission Document, please refer to Section 14 
("Definitions and glossary of terms"). 

The Company has engaged Carnegie AS and DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA as its advisor in 

connection with its Admission to Merkur Market (the "Merkur Advisors"). This Admission Document 
has been prepared to comply with the Admission to Trading Rules for Merkur Market (the "Merkur 
Market Admission Rules") and the Content Requirements for Admission Documents for Merkur 
Market (the "Merkur Market Content Requirements"). Oslo Børs ASA has not approved or 
reviewed this Admission Document or verified its content. 

The Admission Document does not constitute a prospectus under the Norwegian Securities Trading 
Act and related secondary legislation, including Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are 
offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market and has not been reviewed or 
approved by any governmental authority. 

All inquiries relating to this Admission Document should be directed to the Company or its Merkur 
Advisors. No other person has been authorized to give any information, or make any representation, 
on behalf of the Company and/or its Merkur Advisors in connection with the Admission, if given or 
made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized 

by the Company and/or its Merkur Advisors. 

The information contained herein current is as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion 
or amendment without notice. There may have been changes affecting the Company subsequent to 
the date of this Admission Document. Any new material information and any material inaccuracy that 
might have an effect on the assessment of the Shares arising after the publication of this Admission 
Document and before the Admission will be published and announced promptly in accordance with 

the Merkur Market regulations. Neither the delivery of this Admission Document nor the completion 

of the Admission at any time after the date hereof will, under any circumstances, create any 
implication that there has been no change in the Company's affairs since the date hereof or that the 
information set forth in this Admission Document is correct as of any time since its date. 

The contents of this Admission Document shall not be construed as legal, business or tax advice. 
Each reader of this Admission Document should consult with its own legal, business or tax advisor 
as to legal, business or tax advice. If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Admission 

Document, you should consult with your stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant or other 
professional advisor. 

The distribution of this Admission Document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons 
in possession of this Admission Document are required to inform themselves about, and to observe, 
any such restrictions. No action has been taken or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Company 
that would permit the possession or distribution of this Admission Document in any country or 
jurisdiction where specific action for that purpose is required. 

The Shares may be subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred 
or resold except as permitted under applicable securities laws and regulations. Any failure to comply 
with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. 
Investors should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of this investment 
for an indefinite period of time. 

This Admission Document shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. 

The courts of Norway, with Oslo District Court (Nw.: Oslo tingrett) as legal venue, shall have exclusive 
jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise out of or in connection with the Admission 
Document. 

Investing in the Company's Shares involves risks. Please refer to Section 1 ("Risk factors"). 
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INFORMATION TO DISTRIBUTORS 

Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within: (a) EU Directive 
2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments, as amended ("MiFID II"); (b) Articles 9 and 10 of 
Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 supplementing MiFID II; and (c) local implementing 
measures (together, the "MiFID II Product Governance Requirements"), and disclaiming all and 
any liability, which any "manufacturer" (for the purposes of the MiFID II Product Governance 
Requirements) may otherwise have with respect thereto, the Shares have been subject to a product 

approval process, which has determined that they each are: (i) compatible with an end target market 
of retail investors and investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible 
counterparties, each as defined in MiFID II (the "Positive Target Market"); and (ii) eligible for 
distribution through all distribution channels as are permitted by MiFID II (the "Appropriate 
Channels for Distribution"). Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment (as defined below), 
distributors should note that: the price of the Shares may decline and investors could lose all or part 
of their investment; the Shares offer no guaranteed income and no capital protection; and an 

investment in the Shares is compatible only with investors who do not need a guaranteed income or 
capital protection, who (either alone or in conjunction with an appropriate financial or other adviser) 

are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient 
resources to be able to bear any losses that may result therefrom. Conversely, an investment in the 
Shares is not compatible with investors looking for full capital protection or full repayment of the 
amount invested or having no risk tolerance, or investors requiring a fully guaranteed income or fully 
predictable return profile (the "Negative Target Market", and, together with the Positive Target 

Market, the "Target Market Assessment"). 

For the avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute: (a) an assessment 
of suitability or appropriateness for the purposes of MiFID II; or (b) a recommendation to any investor 
or group of investors to invest in, or purchase, or take any other action whatsoever with respect to 
the Shares. 

Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the 

Shares and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES 

The Company is a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway. As a 
result, the rights of holders of the Shares will be governed by Norwegian law and the Company's 
articles of association (the "Articles of Association"). The rights of shareholders under Norwegian 
law may differ from the rights of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions. 

The members of the Company's board of directors (the "Board Members" and the "Board of 

Directors", respectively) and the members of the Group's senior management (the "Management") 
are not residents of the United States of America (the "United States"), and a substantial portion 
of the Company's assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be very difficult 
for investors in the United States to effect service of process on the Company, the Board Members 
and members of Management in the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts 
against the Company or those persons, whether predicated upon civil liability provisions of federal 
securities laws or other laws of the United Stated (including any State or territory within the United 

States). 

The United States and Norway do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and 
enforcement of judgements (other than arbitral awards) in civil and commercial matters. Uncertainty 
exists as to whether courts in Norway will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including 
the United States, against the Company or its Board Members or members of Management under 
the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions in Norway against the Company or its 

Board Members or members of Management under the securities laws of other jurisdictions. In 
addition, awards of punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere may not 
be enforceable in Norway. The United States does not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal 
recognition and enforcement of judgements (other than arbitral awards) in civil and commercial 
matters with Norway. 

Similar restrictions may apply in other jurisdictions.
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1 RISK FACTORS  

Investing in the Shares involves inherent risks. Before making an investment decision, investors 
should carefully consider the risk factors and all information contained in this Admission Document, 
including the Financial Information and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described in this 
Section 1 are the principal known risks and uncertainties faced by the Group as of the date hereof 
that the Company believes are the material risks relevant to an investment in the Shares. An 
investment in the Shares is suitable only for investors who understand the risks associated with this 

type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of their investment. The absence of a 
negative past experience associated with a given risk factor does not mean that the risks and 
uncertainties described herein should not be considered prior to making an investment decision. 

If any of the risks were to materialize, individually or together with other circumstances, it could 
have a material and adverse effect on the Company and/or its business, financial condition, results 
of operations, cash flow and/or prospects, which may cause a decline in the value of the Shares that 
could result in a loss of all or part of any investment in the Shares. The risks and uncertainties 

described below are not the only risks the Company may face. Additional risks and uncertainties that 

the Company currently believes are immaterial, or that are currently not known to the Company, 
may also have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flow. The order in which the risks are presented below is not intended to provide an indication 
of the likelihood of their occurrence nor of their severity or significance. 

The risk factors described in this Section 1 ("Risk factors") are sorted into a limited number 
categories, where the Company has sought to place each individual risk factor in the most appropriate 

category based on the nature of the risk it represents. The risks that are assumed to be of the 
greatest significance are described first. This does not mean that the remaining risk factors are 
ranked in order of their materiality or comprehensibility, and the fact that a risk factor is not 
mentioned first in its category does not in any way suggest that the risk factor is less important when 
taking an informed investment decision. The risks mentioned herein could materialise individually or 
cumulatively. 

The information in this Section 1 ("Risk factors") is as of the date of this Admission Document. 

1.1 Risks relating to the Group and the industry in which it operates 

Risks relating to key personnel and ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel  

The Company's development and prospects are dependent upon the continued services and 
performance of its key personnel and the Company's ability to attract and retain highly qualified 
personnel when needed. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to retain its key 
personnel or recruit the required new key personnel in the future. Any failure to retain or attract 

such personnel could result in the Company not being able to successfully implement its business 
plan which could have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, 
results of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

Risks relating to prices or sales volumes for its products 

There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to obtain the expected prices for its products, 
and a change in the market conditions could lead to lower sales prices or volumes. If expected prices 

for products is are not obtained or the Company experience lower sales volumes, this may adversely 

impact the Company’s business, financial position and profits. 

Risks relating to entrance into new customer contracts  

The Company’s commercialization strategy involves the entering into customer, OEM, distribution, 
marketing, sales and other agreements with third parties. A commercial success of the Company will 
require such agreements to be entered into with large companies on commercially favorable terms. 
The Group may suffer loss of clients and important collaborations may be terminated, the Group may 

be unable to enter into or are conducted unsatisfactorily, all of which could result in a significant loss 
of revenues and cash, which may in turn adversely impact the Company’s business, financial position 
and profits.  

Risks relating to ability to renew or retain customer contracts  

Due to the nature of the Company’s products and solutions, most contracts span over up to three 

years and may be renewed at maturity. There is a risk that the Company’s customers refrain from 
renewing contracts at maturity. If the Company fails to renew or to retain contracts on the same or 

more favourable terms, this could have material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
position and profits. 
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Risks relating to the outbreak of the corona-virus disease (COVID-19) and possible similar 

future outbreaks 

The ongoing outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and any possible future outbreaks of viruses may 
have a significant adverse effect on the Group. The outbreak of the corona-virus disease (COVID-
19) in March 2020 has had a negative effect on the Company's sales and revenues. As a consequence, 
the Company temporarily laid of three employees. Further, the COVID-19 outbreak has resulted in 
a delay of the Company's reorganizational process, which may lead to increased costs related to the 

restructuring and a delay in the expected positive results of the reorganization. 

Risks relating to competitive market subject to rapid technology changes 

The Company operates in an environment with rapid technological changes. New competitors and 
offerings might enter the market, weakening the Company’s competitive position. Competitors may 
have access to greater financial resources or more rapid technology development than the Group 
which may give them a competitive advantage. There can be no assurances that competing products 
with equivalent or better technology has been or will be introduced in the market. 

1.2 Intellectual property and legal risks 

Risks relating to intellectual property  

The development of software in a complex competitive market where intellectual property rights 
exist involves a general risk of alleged infringement of third-party rights. Competitors may claim that 
one or more of the Company’s products infringe upon their patents or other intellectual property 
rights. The Company relies upon intellectual property rights, including un-patented know-how and 
software code. The Company may be unable to adequately protect its proprietary software and 

intellectual property. The Company has currently not registered any trademarks related to its 
business name, logo or products. Consequently, the Group does not have trademark protection for 
its name or products. Other market players may therefore use the brand in their own businesses 
unless the Company can prove the acquired distinctiveness through use.  

The Company’s business is dependent on utilization of open source elements, patented or otherwise 
proprietary technology of third parties, to which the Company will have or seek right of use as further 

regulated in license agreements and arrangements and no assurances can be given that such license 
rights will be renewed and upheld in the future. 

There can be no assurance that competing products with equivalent or better technology has been 
or will be introduced in the market.  

Risks relating to legal disputes  

The Group is and may be subject to litigation that could have an adverse effect on the Group's 
business. Amongst other, the Company faces the risks of legal disputes if its contract parties or the 

Company itself does not perform in accordance with agreements entered into. Specifically, the 
Company currently has an ongoing discussions with two partners relating to disputed amounts under 
customer/supplier contracts in the area of NOK 3 million in aggregate. Further, the Company's recent 
reductions in its work forces in connection with the ongoing restructuring may lead to claims or 
dispute from employees. The Group's former CEO has sent notice to the Group claiming severance 
pay of USD 68,750 pursuant to his employment agreement as well as certain other monetary 

remedies as he is arguing wrongful termination. In the absence of an amicable solution, he also 

noted his intent to initiate arbitration proceedings against the Company and ayfie Inc. The Group is 
contesting his claims. 

Risks relating to changes in laws and regulations  

Changes in laws and regulations applicable to the Group could increase compliance costs, mandate 
significant and costly changes to the way the Group implements its services and solutions, and 
threaten the Group's ability to continue to serve certain markets. For instance, the implementation 

of new data privacy protection laws in Europe from May 2018 (which entered into force in Norway in 
July 2018) has incurred additional compliance and other costs which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group's operating revenue and profitability. 

Risks relating to changes in tax laws and compliance with applicable tax legislation 

The Group is subject to prevailing tax legislation, treaties and regulations in the jurisdictions in which 
it is operating, and the interpretation and enforcement thereof. The Group's income tax expenses 

are based upon its interpretation of the tax laws in effect at the time that the expense is incurred. If 

applicable laws, treaties or regulations change, or if the Group's interpretation of the tax laws is at 
variance with the interpretation of the same tax laws by tax authorities, this could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations or financial condition. 
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If any tax authority successfully challenges the Group's operational structure, intercompany pricing 

policies, the taxable presence of its subsidiaries in certain countries, or if taxing authorities do not 

agree with the Group's and/or any subsidiaries' assessment of the effects of applicable laws, treaties 
and regulations, or the Group loses a material tax dispute in any country, or any tax challenge of the 
Group's tax payments is successful, the Group's effective tax rate on its earnings could increase 
substantially and the Group's business, earnings and cash flows from operations and financial 
condition could be materially and adversely affected.  

Risk relating to data protection and privacy regulations 

In the provision of its services, the Group collects and processes personal data about its users. The 
Group's processing of personal data is subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations 
regarding data protection and privacy ("Data Protection Laws"), including but not limited to the 
General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 ("GDPR") in the EU/EEA. Although the Group has 
adopted measures to ensure compliance with Data Protection Laws, such measures may not always 
be successful. The Group may incur civil or criminal liability in case of infringement of Data Protection 

Laws and failure to comply with Data Protection Laws may affect the Group's reputation and brands 
negatively, which may affect the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial 

condition and prospects. 

1.3 Financial risks 

Risks relating to the Company being a holding Company and dependent on subsidiaries 

As a holding company, the Company depends on access to cash flows from its operating subsidiaries 
for its cash and financing requirements, including funds necessary to services any debt it may incur. 

The Company's subsidiaries may be restricted in their ability to transfer funds to the Company 
whether in form of dividends, loans or advances, and the imposition of such a limitation could 
materially and adversely limit the Company's ability to grow, make investments or acquisitions that 
could be beneficial to its businesses or otherwise fund and conduct its business.  

Risks relating to financing 

The Company may require additional capital in the future to further pursue its business plan, or may 

require additional capital due to unforeseen liabilities, delayed or failed technical or commercial 

launch of its products or in order for it to take advantage of opportunities that may be presented to 
it. No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to raise additional new equity and/or debt 
financing on attractive terms, or at all. 

Foreign currency risk on operations 

The Group’s currency risk on operations is related to the Group’s revenue and operating expenses in 
foreign currency. The Group's revenue is mainly in NOK,USD and SEK while its operating expenses 

are mainly in NOK, USD, SEK and EUR. ayfie aims to minimize the risk of changes in the value of net 
cash flows arising from foreign currencies. Any fluctuations in exchange rates between NOK and USD 
and EUR could adversely affect the operational income for the Company.  

Risks related to economic exposure towards its customers 

The Company has significant economic exposure towards its customers. Should one or more of the 
customers be unable to meet obligations for payment to the Company, this may adversely affect the 
Company’s business, financial position and profits.  

Liquidity risks 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group's reputation. The future cash flow for the Group is constantly forecasted and 
owners or other investors are contacted if external financing is deemed necessary. In case the Group 

should experience a liquidity shortfall, there is a risk that additional capital cannot be raised when 
needed, that capital cannot be raised on terms favourable to the Group, or that the capital raised 
should prove insufficient to cover the Group's liquidity needs which could have an adverse effect on 
the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and prospects. 

Credit risks  

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under contract, leading to a 
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade 

receivables) and to a lesser degree from its cash deposits with banks in Norway, Germany and the 
US.  

Risks associated with changes to accounting rules or regulations 
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Changes to existing accounting rules or regulations may impact the Group’s future profit and loss or 

cause the perception that the Group is more highly leveraged. New accounting rules or regulations 

and varying interpretations of existing accounting rules or regulations may be adopted in the future 
and could adversely affect the Group’s financial position and results of operations. 

1.4 Risks relating to the Company and its Shares 

Risks related to fluctuations in share price 

An investment in the Shares involves risk of loss of capital, and securities markets in general have 

been volatile in the past. The trading volume and price of the Shares may fluctuate significantly in 
response to a number of factors beyond the Company's control, including adverse business 
developments and prospects, variations in revenue and operating results, changes in financial 
estimates, announcements by the Company or its competitors of new development or new 
circumstances within the industry, legal actions against the Group, unforeseen events and liabilities, 
changes in management, changes to the regulatory environment in which the Group operates or 
general market conditions. The market value of the Shares could also be substantially affected by 

the extent to which a secondary market develops or sustains for the Shares. Each potential investor 

in the Shares must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. 

Dividends or other distributions from the Company cannot be expected for several years 

Dividends or other distributions from the Company cannot be expected for several years. The 
Company's ultimate ability to pay dividends is dependent on the availability of distributable reserves. 

The Company will incur increased costs as a result of being listed on Merkur Market 

As a company with its Shares listed on Merkur Market, the Company will be required to comply with 

Oslo Børs' reporting and disclosure requirements for companies listed on Merkur Market. The 
Company will incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in order to ensure compliance 
with these and other applicable rules and regulations. The Company anticipates that its incremental 
general and administrative expenses as a company with its Shares listed on Merkur Market will 
include, among other things, costs associated with annual and interim reports to shareholders, 
shareholders' meetings, investor relations, incremental director and officer liability insurance costs 

and officer and director compensation. In addition, the Board of Directors and management may be 

required to devote significant time and effort to ensure compliance with applicable rules and 
regulations for companies with its Shares listed on Merkur Market, which may entail that less time 
and effort can be devoted to other aspects of the business. Any such increased costs, individually or 
in the aggregate, could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results 
of operations, cash flows and prospects. 

Shareholders not participating in future issuances of Shares or convertible loans may be 

diluted 

The Company may in the future decide to offer additional Shares, convertible loans or other 
securities. Depending on the structure of any future offering, existing Shareholders may not be able 
or willing to purchase additional equity securities. If the Company raises additional funds by issuing 
additional Shares or other equity securities, the relative holdings and voting interests and the 
financial interests of existing Shareholders may be diluted. 

Risks related to being a multi-national group 

The Group is a multi-national group with operations across a number of jurisdictions and is subject 
to laws and regulations in multiple jurisdictions, including the United States, Germany, the United 
Kingdom, Sweden and Norway. The Group has employees, subsidiaries and/or shareholders in these 
jurisdictions, which implies an increased exposure to claims and/or litigation in such jurisdictions, 
either against the Company and/or its subsidiaries. 

Nominee registered Shares cannot be voted 

Beneficial owners of Shares that are registered in the name of a nominee will be unable to exercise 
their voting rights for Shares unless their ownership is re-registered with the VPS in the name of the 
beneficial owners prior to the general meeting. There can be no assurance that beneficial owners of 
the Shares will receive the notice of any general meeting in time to instruct their nominees to either 
effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares in the manner desired by 
such beneficial owners. 

The transfer of Shares may be subject to restrictions under laws of foreign jurisdictions  

Certain transfer and selling restrictions may limit shareholder's ability to sell or otherwise transfer 
their Shares. None of the Shares have been registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 (as 
amended) (the "US Securities Act") or any US state securities laws or any other jurisdiction outside 
of Norway and are not expected to be registered in the future. As such, the Shares may not be 
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offered or sold except pursuant to an exemption from, or in transactions not subject to, the 

registration requirements of the US Securities Act and other applicable securities laws. In addition, 

there is no assurances that shareholders residing or domiciled in the US or other jurisdictions will be 
able to participate in future capital increases or rights offerings. Further, investors in the United 
States or other jurisdictions may have difficulty enforcing any judgment obtained in the United States 
or other jurisdictions against the Company or its directors or executive officers in Norway. 

An active trading market for the Company's Shares on Merkur Market may not develop 

The Shares have not been traded on any stock exchange, other regulated market place or multilateral 
trading facilities. No assurances can be given that an active trading market for the Shares will develop 
on Merkur Market, nor sustain if an active trading market is developed. The market value of the 
Shares could be substantially affected by the extent to which a secondary market develops for the 
Shares following completion of the Admission. 

Norwegian law imposes certain restrictions  

The rights of shareholders of the Company are governed by Norwegian law and by the articles of 

association of the Company. These rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in companies 

incorporated in other jurisdictions. Norwegian law may limit the shareholders’ ability to bring an 
action against the Company. Further, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process 
in other jurisdictions upon such persons or the Company, to enforce on such persons or the Company 
judgments obtained in non-Norwegian courts, or to enforce judgments on such persons or the 
Company in other jurisdictions.  

Shareholders outside of Norway are subject to exchange rate risk 

The Shares will be traded in NOK and any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be 
denominated in NOK. An investor outside Norway will therefore be affected by adverse changes in 
the NOK against their local currency. Further, the market value of the Shares as expressed in foreign 
currencies will fluctuate in part as a result of foreign exchange fluctuations. This could affect the 
value of the Shares and of any dividends paid on the Shares for an investor whose principal currency 
is not NOK. 

Future sales of substantial numbers of Shares may affect the market price of the Shares 

The market price of the Shares could decline as a result of sales of a large number of Shares in the 
market after the date hereof or as a result of the perception that such sales could occur. Such sales, 
or the possibility that such sales may occur, might also make it more difficult for the Company to 
issue new Shares or other equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that it deems 
appropriate. The Company cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of the Shares, or the 
availability of Shares for future sales, will have on their market prices. Sales of substantial amounts 

of the Shares following the date hereof, or the perception that such sales could occur, may materially 
and adversely affect the market price of the Shares, making it more difficult for holders to sell their 
Shares or the Company to issue new Shares or other equity securities at a time and price that they 
deem appropriate. 
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2 RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ADMISSION DOCUMENT  

This Admission Document has been prepared solely in connection with the Admission to trading on 
Merkur Market. 

The Board of Directors of ayfie Group AS accepts responsibility for the information contained in this 
Admission Document. The members of the Board of Directors confirm that, after having taken all 
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Admission 
Document is, to the best of their knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission 

likely to affect its import. 

 

6 July 2020 

The Board of Directors of ayfie Group AS 

 

   

 Sign.  

 Lars Rahbæk Boilesen 
(Chairman) 

 

   

   

Sign. Sign. Sign. 

Øystein Stray Spetalen 
(Board member) 

Martin Nes 
(Board member) 

Lars Nilsen 
(Board member) 

   

   

Sign.  Sign. 

Jostein Devold 
(Board member) 

 Jan Christian Opsahl 
(Board member) 
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3 GENERAL INFORMATION  

3.1 Other important investor information 

The Company has furnished the information in this Admission Document. No representation or 
warranty, express or implied, is made by the Merkur Advisors as to the accuracy, completeness or 
verification of the information set forth herein, and nothing contained in this Admission Document 
is, or shall be relied upon as a promise or representation in this respect, whether as to the past or 
the future. The Merkur Advisors assume no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness or the 

verification of this Admission Document and accordingly disclaim, to the fullest extent permitted by 
applicable law, any and all liability whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which they might 
otherwise be found to have in respect of this Admission Document or any such statement. 

Neither the Company nor the Merkur Advisors, or any of their respective affiliates, representatives, 
advisors or selling agents, is making any representation to any purchaser of the Shares regarding 
the legality of an investment in the Shares. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors 
as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Shares. 

3.2 Presentation of financial and other information 

3.2.1 Financial information 

The consolidated audited financial statements as of and for the years ending on 31 December 2019 
and 31 December 2018 (the "Financial Statements") have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the EU. The Financial Statements 
have been audited by Ernst & Young AS. 

The Financial Statements present consolidated financial information. For the year ending 31 

December 2019, the Company has prepared consolidated financial statements for the Group in 
accordance with IFRS, including cash flow statements and notes. 

The Company presents the Financial Statements in NOK (presentation currency). Reference is made 
to Section 7 ("Selected financial information and other information") for more information on the 
Company's financial statements. 

3.2.2 Industry and market data 

In this Admission Document, the Company has used industry and market data obtained from 
independent industry publications, market research and other publicly available information. 
Although the industry and market data is inherently imprecise, the Company confirms that where 
information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been accurately reproduced 
and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that 
third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 
misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such 

information has been identified. 

Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained 
from sources believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not 
guaranteed. The Company has not independently verified and cannot give any assurances as to the 
accuracy of market data contained in this Admission Document that was extracted from industry 
publications or reports and reproduced herein. 

Market data and statistics are inherently predictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily 

reflective of actual market conditions. Such data and statistics are based on market research, which 
itself is based on sampling and subjective judgments by both the researchers and the respondents, 
including judgments about what types of products and transactions should be included in the relevant 
market. 

As a result, prospective investors should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other 
information relating to markets, market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry 

data in this Admission Document (and projections, assumptions and estimates based on such 
information) may not be reliable indicators of the Company's future performance and the future 
performance of the industry in which it operates. Such indicators are necessarily subject to a high 
degree of uncertainty and risk due to the limitations described above and to a variety of other factors, 
including those described in Section 1 ("Risk factors") and elsewhere in this Admission Document. 

Unless otherwise indicated in the Admission Document, the basis for any statements regarding the 

Company's competitive position is based on the Company's own assessment and knowledge of the 

market in which it operates. 
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3.3 Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements 

This Admission Document includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's current 
views with respect to future events and financial and operational performance. These forward-looking 
statements may be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms 
"anticipates", "assumes", "believes", "can", "could", "estimates", "expects", "forecasts", "intends", 
"may", "might", "plans", "projects", "should", "will", "would" or, in each case, their negative, or other 
variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements are not historic facts. 

Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance and that the Company's actual financial position, operating results 
and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which the Company operates, may differ 
materially from those made in, or suggested, by the forward-looking statements contained in this 
Admission Document. The Company cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or current 
expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based will occur. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve, and are subject to, known and unknown risks, 

uncertainties and assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or 
may not occur in the future. Because of these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 

assumptions, the outcome may differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking 
statements. For a non-exhaustive overview of important factors that could cause those differences, 
please refer to Section 1 ("Risk factors"). 

These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date on which they are made. The Company 
undertakes no obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, whether 

as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-
looking statements attributable to the Company or to persons acting on the Company's behalf are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred to above and contained 
elsewhere in this Admission Document.
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4 REASONS FOR THE ADMISSION  

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Company has approximately 260 shareholders.  

The main reasons for the Admission are: 

• To enhance the Group's profile with investors, business partners, suppliers and 
customers; 

• The Admission will allow for a trading platform and liquid market for the Shares; 

• To facilitate for a more diversified shareholder base and enable additional 

investors to take part in the Group's future growth and value creation; 

• To enable the Company to access the capital markets to fund attractive growth 
opportunities; 

• To further improve the ability of the Group to attract and retain key management 

and employees. 

No proceeds will be generated in relation to the Admission.



ADMISSION DOCUMENT 

Page 15/50 

5 DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY 

5.1 Dividends policy  

The Company will strive to follow a dividend policy favourable to the shareholders. The amount of 
any dividend to be distributed will be dependent on, inter alia, the Company's investment 
requirements and rate of growth.  

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Company is in a growth phase and is not in a position 
to pay any dividends. There can be no assurance that in any given year a dividend will be proposed 

or declared, or if proposed or declared, that the dividend will be as contemplated by the policy. 

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board of 
Directors will take into account legal restrictions, as set out in Section 5.2 ("Legal and contractual 
constraints on the distribution of dividends") below, as well as capital expenditure plans, financing 
requirements and maintaining the appropriate strategic flexibility. 

The Company has not paid any dividends on its Shares during the financial years 2019 and 2018. 

5.2 Legal and contractual constraints on the distribution of dividends 

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount in the future, the 
Board of Directors must take into account applicable legal restrictions, as set out in the Norwegian 
Private Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 1997 no. 44 (as amended) (the "Norwegian 
Private Companies Act"), the Company's capital requirements, including capital expenditure 
requirements, its financial condition, general business conditions and any restrictions that its 
contractual arrangements in force at the time of the dividend may place on its ability to pay dividends 
and the maintenance of appropriate financial flexibility. Except in certain specific and limited 

circumstances set out in the Norwegian Private Companies Act, the amount of dividends paid may 
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board of Directors. 

Dividends may be paid in cash or in some instances in kind. The Norwegian Private Companies Act 
provides the following constraints on the distribution of dividends applicable to the Company: 

• Section 8-1 of the Norwegian Private Companies Act regulates what may be 

distributed as dividend, and provides that the Company may distribute dividends 

only to the extent that the Company after said distribution still has net assets to 
cover (i) the share capital and (ii) other restricted equity (i.e. the reserve for 
unrealized gains and the reserve for valuation of differences). 

• The calculation of the distributable equity shall be made on the basis of the 
balance sheet included in the approved annual accounts for the last financial year, 
provided, however, that the registered share capital as of the date of the 
resolution to distribute dividend shall be applied. Following the approval of the 

annual accounts for the last financial year, the General Meeting may also authorize 
the Board of Directors to declare dividends on the basis of the Company's annual 
accounts. Dividends may also be resolved by the General Meeting based on an 
interim balance sheet which has been prepared and audited in accordance with 
the provisions applying to the annual accounts and with a balance sheet date not 
further into the past than six months before the date of the General Meeting's 

resolution. 

• Dividends can only be distributed to the extent that the Company's equity and 
liquidity following the distribution is considered sound. 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Private Companies Act, the time when an entitlement to dividend arises 
depends on what was resolved by the General Meeting when it resolved to issue new shares in the 
company. A subscriber of new shares in a Norwegian private limited company will normally be entitled 
to dividends from the time when the relevant share capital increase is registered with the Norwegian 

Register of Business Enterprises. The Norwegian Private Companies Act does not provide for any 
time limit after which entitlement to dividends lapses. Subject to various exceptions, Norwegian law 
provides a limitation period of three years from the date on which an obligation is due. There are no 
dividend restrictions or specific procedures for non-Norwegian resident shareholders to claim 
dividends. For a description of withholding tax on dividends applicable to non-Norwegian residents, 
see Section 10 ("Norwegian taxation"). 

5.3 Manner of dividend payments  

Any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be denominated in the currency of the bank 
account of the relevant shareholder, and will be paid to the shareholders through the VPS Registrar. 
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Shareholders registered in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS Registrar with details of their 

bank account, will not receive payment of dividends unless they register their bank account details 

with the VPS Registrar. The exchange rate(s) that is applied when denominating any future payments 
of dividends to the relevant shareholder's currency will be the VPS Registrar's exchange rate on the 
payment date. Dividends will be credited automatically to the VPS registered shareholders' accounts, 
or in lieu of such registered account, at the time when the shareholder has provided the VPS Registrar 
with their bank account details, without the need for shareholders to present documentation proving 

their ownership of the Shares. Shareholders' right to payment of dividend will lapse three years 
following the resolved payment date for those shareholders who have not registered their bank 
account details with the VPS Registrar within such date. Following the expiry of such date, the 
remaining, not distributed dividend will be returned from the VPS Registrar to the Company.
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6 BUSINESS OVERVIEW  

This section provides an overview of the Company's business as of the date of this Admission 
Document. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's 
plans and estimates, see Section 3.3 ("Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements") 
above, and should be read in conjunction with other parts of this Admission Document, in particular 
Section 1 ("Risk factors"). 

6.1 Introduction  

The Company is a global software company specialized in text analytics and smart research based 
on natural language processing and machine learning. ayfie's unique text analytics solutions index 
data, inspect documents and uncover hidden insights is for use in the legal, financial and corporate 
compliance markets.  

The Company was established in 2016 by a merger between VirtualWorks (knowledge management), 
and ayfie (analytics). The Company's headquarter is located at Oslo, Norway. As of 16 June 2020, 
the Group has 56 employees, of which 42 are permanent.  

6.2 History and important events  

The table below shows the Group's key milestones from its incorporation and to the date of this 
Admission Document: 

YEAR MAIN EVENTS 

2017  Headquarters relocated from the US to Norway. 

2017  Completion of a NOK 96.4 million private placements strengthened the 
shareholder structure and capital base while facilitating accelerated 
development and growth. 

2017  Registration on the Norwegian OTC. 

2017 Q3 The Group launched a technology platform that helps businesses index, 

organize and understand any amount of unstructured data based on 
ayfie’s unique AI-enhanced technology that combined advanced search 
and innovative text analytics. 

2018 February  The Group changed name from VirtualWorks to ayfie to embody the 
transformation from an enterprise search provider to an international AI 
company. 

2018 Second half Strategic shift from customized development cases to products. 

2018 Q4  Development of the product Locator for Knowledge Management.  

2019 January Deregistration from the Norwegian OTC. 

2019 April Establishment of a NOK 87 million convertible loan and conversion of a 
NOK 15.8 million shorter debt to shareholders converted to convertible 

loan. 

2020 January The new ayfie Inspector version was launched and partnerships with US 

legal service providers established. 

2020 Q1 Completion of a NOK 54.9 million private placement and subsequent 
offering. 

2020 March A Board initiated reorganization of the Group and several restructuring 
measures were implemented to ensure cost reductions and improved 
cash flows. 

2020 March Outbreak of the corona-virus disease (COVID-19). 

2020 June Completion of debt/equity conversion of NOK 101 million. 

2020 July Completion of a NOK 50 million private placement. 
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6.3 Group structure  

The Company is the parent company of the ayfie Group. The Company owns 100% of the shares in 
ayfie AS in Norway, ayfie AB in Sweden, ayfie GmbH in Germany, ayfie Ltd in the UK and ayfie Inc. 
in the US. Please refer to section 9.2 ("Legal structure") for a legal chart of the Group and a full 
overview of the Company's subsidiaries. 

6.4 Principal Activities  

ayfie was established in 2016 by a merger between VirtualWorks (knowledge management), and 

ayfie (analytics). In 2017, the Company launched a technology platform that helps businesses index, 
organize and understand any amounts of unstructured content. 

In general, companies are today challenged by data management, risk and compliance. Employees 
spend 30-40% of their time searching, finding and accessing data, according to Gartner1 and more 
than 50% of the data is redundant, obsolete and trivial2. ayfie meets these challenges of addressing 
new data volumes, multiple languages, diversity of data sources and demand to protect personal 
data.  

Today, ayfie is a global software company specialized in natural language processing based on 
artificial intelligence, text analytics and smart search. The Company’s text analytics solutions inspect 
documents, provide indexing of data, and uncovering of hidden insights for use in the legal, financial 
and corporate compliance markets.  

The Company is headquartered in Oslo, and has operations in Norway, Sweden, Germany, UK and 
the US. The Scandinavian business, with its proven products and solid customer base, is well 
positioned for further expansion in the Norwegian market as well as in other European markets – 

specifically the Swedish, UK and German markets. The Company currently has 56 employees, of 
which 42 are permanent.  

ayfie’s products and technology  

ayfie’s products are based on artificial intelligence enhanced solutions built on proprietary linguistics, 
machine learning, smart search and text analysis. Two main products have been developed based 

on the Company’s technology: 

Overview of ayfie’s products 

 

ayfie Locator  

Helps customers turn their corporate data into a true knowledge 
resource by  

• Leveraging existing knowledge about previous 

cases and clients by connecting different 
information silos through one single interface 
 

• Uncovering hidden connections and relations 
between documents to make it possible to use 
similar agreements or clauses when drafting new 

agreements 
 

• Classifying documents based on existing structures 
for efficient workflows 
 

• Identifying qualified experts by searching for 
enhanced meta-data 

 

 
1https://enterprisetechnologyconsultant.wordpress.com/2013/02/17/semi-structured-or-unstructured-data-metadata/ 
2https://www.veritas.com/en/aa/news-releases/2016-03-15-veritas-global-databerg-report-finds-85-percent-of-stored-data 

https://enterprisetechnologyconsultant.wordpress.com/2013/02/17/semi-structured-or-unstructured-data-metadata/
https://www.veritas.com/en/aa/news-releases/2016-03-15-veritas-global-databerg-report-finds-85-percent-of-stored-data
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ayfie Inspector  

Helps lawyers and others involved in litigation and investigations 
to quickly identify the data important for their cases by: 

• Enhancing data sets with automatically generated 
metadata, such as persons, organizations and 
locations to ensure fast and easy filtering and 

search  
 

• Identifying (near) duplicates and email threads to 
remove redundant data and prioritize review 
 

• Clustering documents into buckets containing the 
same topics to immediately sort out irrelevant 

items 
 

• Extracts over 190 types of personally identifiable 
information (credit card, social security numbers 
etc.) for data breach analysis and DSARs 
 

 
The illustration below shows an example of how key information can be extracted from a mortgage 
agreement and be made available for further processing. 

Example of extraction of key information from an agreement 

 

 

The products contain comprehensive dictionaries which have been prepared for most western 
languages and some Asian languages. The basic dictionary for the English language, for example, 
contains around 20 million entries. Extraction algorithms parse sentences semantically (and not on 

a “word-by-word” basis). The algorithms work on both single page documents and petabytes of 
textual data. The technology is developed such that it can easily be modified and extended. 

Customers 

Leading Norwegian law firms like BAHR, Thommessen, SANDS and Kvale are currently using ayfie, 
and there is a strong pipeline of Norwegian law firms and in-house legal departments which are 
considering starting using ayfie’s products. Recent contracts with UK law firms Fenwick Elliot and 
Linklaters also proves ayfie’s Locators relevance for the UK legal market. In addition, the company 
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has several Nordic and international corporates on its client list, including Skanska, BDO, Statkraft, 

Storebrand, Total and Lidl, among other. 

Sample of customers 

 

 

 

Business model and revenue split 

ayfie’s business model is based on selling subscriptions which typically have 1-3 year durations for 

the ayfie Locator product. The contract value is typically driven by the functionalities required and 
the number of users. 

With regards to ayfie Inspector, a fee of USD 0.01 is typically charged per processed document within 
the Relativity (a provider of eDiscovery Software Solutions) integration. For other contracts, the 
company charges a subscription based on the volume of data. 

Recurring revenue3 was almost 80% of total revenue in 2019. The company reported a year-over-

year growth in subscription revenues of 18% to NOK 30.5m in 2019. The remaining recurring revenue 
was related to maintenance support and retainer development service (NOK 2.9m). The recurring 
revenue share is expected to increase further in 2020. 

Overview of revenue development 

 

 

In 2019, Locator represented 70% of the company’s total revenue, while Inspector represented the 
remaining 30%. The chart below shows that Norway is ayfie’s main market, although other markets 
are important contributors as well.  

Revenues from the Scandinavian business increased year-over-year by 11% in 2019, whereas 
revenues from the US fell by 31% compared to previous year. The decrease in the US business was 

due to internal factors rather than market developments4. These internal factors were among other, 
instability in the Relativity integration which caused project delays, a partner dispute which halted 
the launch of Inspector for mortgages launch and other internal challenges which were addressed by 
the restructuring of the company which was initiated in March 2020. 

  

 
3 Recurring revenue is defined as revenues from subscriptions, maintenance/support and retainer development service 
4 ayfie (2019), Annual Report 
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Revenue splits 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

Key focus areas going forward 

ayfie’s focus will be on selling existing solutions while reducing the cost base substantially in order 
to achieve profitability and positive cash flow from its operations at Group level going forward.  

The Scandinavian business, with its proven products and solid customer base, is well positioned for 
further expansion in the Norwegian market as well as in other European markets – specifically the 
Swedish, UK and German markets. Sales processes and onboarding of new customers are expected 
to become more efficient as the Company now has solid reference customers, in addition to more 

mature products. Further geographical expansion is planned from 2021. 

6.5 Principal Markets  

The Company mainly operates in the LegalTech market, a market which is estimated to grow from 
approximately USD 15bn in 2018 to USD 30bn in 2023 on a global basis according to Complex 
Discovery5. ayfie Inspector’s focus in the LegalTech Market is within the eDiscovery segment. The 
eDiscovery segment represented USD 8bn of revenues in 2018, and is estimated to grow to 

approximately USD 17bn in 2023. The illustration below depicts the historic and expected 
development of the LegalTech market going forward. 

 

The LegalTech Market 2018-2023 

 

Source: Complex Discovery6 

 

 
5 https://complexdiscovery.com/an-ediscovery-market-size-mashup-worldwide-software-and-services-overview-2018-2023  
6 https://complexdiscovery.com/an-ediscovery-market-size-mashup-worldwide-software-and-services-overview-2018-2023/  
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Current market trends and global surveys support ayfie’s expectations regarding the market for AI, 

smart search and text analytics. A key driver for the market growth is that the amount of data 

continues to increase exponentially. Global data is predicted to grow by 61% annually to 175 
zettabytes by 2025, according to Networkworld7 and unstructured data accounts for 80% of all 
corporate data8. The legal services and financial industries continue to represent a major opportunity 
for the company as they attempt to handle large amounts of unstructured data such as contracts 
and loan documents. Other industries are about to face similar challenges as data within their 

respective industries continue to grow.  

According to estimates for the Legal Industry by Gartner, 33% of corporate legal departments will 
have a dedicated legal technology expert to support the increasing automation of core in-house 
workflows by 2023, according to Gartner. Organizational spending on third-party risk management 
technologies to support due diligence and monitoring is expected to increase by 50% according to 
Gartner. 2020 is expected to see a change in legal technology adoption for lawyers. The illustration 
below illustrates the key predictions for the Legal Industry by Gartner. 

Gartner predictions by 2023 

 

Source: Gartner, 20209 

 

Competitive advantages 

ayfie is built on 30 years of computational linguistics research and development. The company’s 
products have a semantic understanding of context and concepts, and ayfie uses proprietary concept 
engineering for machine learning. The product’s architecture is characterized by flexibility and 

scalability, and is based on a modern stack. 

The Company provides a built in API (Application Programming Interface) which makes the platform 
extensible and able to adapt to several types of business problems. It is nimble and applicable across 
verticals and use cases.  

Competitive advantages 

 

 

Source: ayfie 

 
7 https://www.networkworld.com/article/3325397/idc-expect-175-zettabytes-of-data-worldwide-by-2025.html 
8 https://solutionsreview.com/data-management/80-percent-of-your-data-will-be-unstructured-in-five-years/ 
9 https://www.gartner.com/smarterwithgartner/4-legal-tech-trends-for-2020/ 

https://www.networkworld.com/article/3325397/idc-expect-175-zettabytes-of-data-worldwide-by-2025.html
https://solutionsreview.com/data-management/80-percent-of-your-data-will-be-unstructured-in-five-years/
https://www.gartner.com/smarterwithgartner/4-legal-tech-trends-for-2020/


ADMISSION DOCUMENT 

Page 23/50 

 

Source: ayfie 

 

Key competitors 

ayfie’s main competitors are split between Locator and Inspector.  

OpenText (generalist) and iManage (specialist) are deemed to be the key competitors for Locator. 
A short description is provided below: 

• OpenText 

OpenText Corporations is a Canadian software company which is listed on NASDAQ with 

a market cap of approximately CAD 15.6bn. The company sells enterprise information 
management (EIM) solutions and the software manages content or unstructured data for 
large companies, government agencies and professional service firms.  
 

• iManage 

iManage was established in 2015 and has its headquarter in Chicago. By combining 
artificial intelligence, content and email management, iManage automates routine 
cognitive tasks, provides insights and streamlines how professionals work. The company 
mainly operates in the legal sector, but also has customers within the accounting and 

financial sectors.  

Palantir, Watson and SAS are the most significant players among generalists that operate in 
Inspector’s market. Below is a short description of these players: 

• Palantir Technologies 
Palantir Technologies was established in 2003 and origins from California. The company 
delivers software that helps corporates to structure and handle their unstructured data. 
 

• Watson  
Watson is a question-answering system developed by IBM. When first developed in 2011, 
its main innovation was to quickly execute hundreds of proven language analysis 

algorithms simultaneously. 
 

• SAS Integration Technologies 

SAS Integration Technologies was developed in North Carolina, and the company’s 
largest set of products is its line for customer intelligence. SAS Language is SAS’ 
computer programming language that can read in data from common spreadsheets and 
databases and output the results of statistical analysis in several ways.   

Brainspace, NEXLP and RELATIVITY are Inspector’s main competitors among companies that are 
focused on the legal sector. Below is a short description of these players: 

• Brainspace  

Brainspace is a comprehensive and advanced data analytics platform for investigations, 
eDiscovery, intelligence mining and compliance. The technology is designed to quickly 
surface data insights while reducing an organizations legal risk. The company was 

founded in 2005 with its headquarter in Texas.   
 

• NEXLP 
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NEXLP was founded in 2013 in Chicago. The company’s Story EngineTM was developed 

for the Legal business to autonomously classify large sets documents with unstructured 

data ahead of a review team.  
 

• RELATIVITY 
Relativity Technologies was established in 1997 and has its headquarters in Chicago. By 
using advanced searching and analytics, machine learning and visualizations, Relativity 

is a complete platform for organizing data. 

6.6 Material contracts  

Neither the Company nor any other member of the Group has entered into any material contracts 
outside the ordinary course of business for the two years prior to the date of this Admission 
Document. Further, the Group has not entered into any other contract outside the ordinary course 
of business that contains any provision under which any member of the Group has any obligation or 
entitlement that is material to the Group as of the date of this Admission Document. 

6.7 Dependency on contracts, patents, licenses etc.  

The Group's existing business and profitability is not dependent on any patents, licenses or other 
intellectual property. 

It is the Company's opinion that the Group's existing business and profitability are not dependent 
upon any contracts. 

6.8 Related party transactions 

Below is a summary of the Group's related party transactions for the periods covered by the historical 

financial information included in this Admission Document as Appendix B and C and up to the date 
of this Admission Document. For further information on related party transactions of the Group, 
please refer to the Financial Statements (note 6.3 for 2019 and note 6.3 for 2018), included in this 
Admission Document as Appendix B and C. 

The Group has two contracts with searchgears GmbH, a company 50% owned by Johannes Stiehler, 
the acting CEO. One contract related to contracted labourers and one contract related to leasing of 

company cars. The total estimated 2020 value of the contracts is approximately EUR 125,000. 

In 2016 the Group established in connection with the acquisition of Language Tools GmbH a seller's 
credit. The sellers’ credit currently amounts to NOK 11,160,080, with 50% due in November 2020 
and 50% in March 2021.  

In 2014 the Group established a loan in ayfie Inc. of approximately NOK 34,000,000 to a set of 

existing or former shareholders. The loan was reduced to NOK 1,644,000 through a debt/equity 
conversion in 2018-2019, and will be payable only when the board of directors of ayfie Inc. decides 
to pay a dividend.  

6.9 Legal and arbitration proceedings  

From time to time, the Group may become involved in litigation, disputes and other legal proceedings 

arising in the course of its business. The Company currently has an ongoing discussions with two 
partners relating to disputed amounts under customer/supplier contracts in the area of NOK 3 million 

in aggregate. Further, the Company's recent reductions in its work forces in connection with the 
ongoing restructuring may lead to claims or dispute from employees. The Group's former CEO has 
sent notice to the Group claiming severance pay of USD 68,750 pursuant to his employment 
agreement as well as certain other monetary remedies as he is arguing wrongful termination. In the 

absence of an amicable solution, he also noted his intent to initiate arbitration proceedings against 
the Company and ayfie Inc. The Group is contesting his claims. 

Except for the above, neither the Company nor any other company in the Group, is, nor has been, 
during the course of the preceding 12 months involved in any legal, governmental or arbitration 
proceedings which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the Company's 
and/or the Group's financial position or profitability, and the Company is not aware of any such 
proceedings which are pending or threatened.
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7 SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER INFORMATION  

7.1 Introduction and basis for preparation 

The consolidated audited financial statements as of and for the years ending on 31 December 2019 
and 31 December 2018 (the "Financial Statements") have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the EU. The Financial Statements 
are included herein as Appendix B and C, respectively.  

The Financial Statements have been audited by the Company's independent auditor Ernst & Young 

AS, as set forth in the auditor's report, which is included in the Financial Statements (see Appendix 
B and C).  

The selected financial information presented in Section 7.2 to Section 7.6 below has been derived 
from the Financial Statements, and should be read in connection with, and is qualified in its entirety 
by reference to, the Financial Statements included herein as Appendices B and C. 

7.2 Summary of accounting policies and principles 

For information regarding accounting policies and the use of estimates and judgments, please see 

note 1 in each of the Financial Statements, incorporated herein as Appendix B and C. 

7.3 Selected statement of income 

The table below sets out selected data from the Company's audited consolidated statement of income 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

Amounts in NOK 1000

  

Year ended  

31 December 2019 

(audited) 

Year ended  

31 December 2018 

(audited) 

 

Revenue and other operating income 

Revenue 

 

 
45 891 

 

 
48 944 

Total revenue and other operating income 45 891 48 944 

Cost of sales 

Cost of sales 

 
4 151 

 
2 265 

Gross profits 41 740 46 679 

Operating expenses 

Personnel expenses 

Other operating expenses 

Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 

 
         77 587 

20 645 

47 495  

145 727 

 
        69 736 

31 864 

5 469 

-107 069 

Operating profit or loss -103 987 -60 390 

Finance income and costs 

Finance income 

Finance costs 

 
1 348 

9 044 

 
872 

807 

Profit or loss before tax - 111 683 -60 325 

Income tax expense 233 1 398 

Net loss for the year -111 450 -58 927 

 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss 

Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations 

 

 

181 

 

 

-337 

Total items that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or 

loss 

181 -337 

Other comprehensive income for the period 181 -337 

   

Total comprehensive income for the period -111 269 -59 264 
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7.4 Selected statement of financial position 

The table below sets out selected data from the Company's consolidated audited statement of income 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

Amounts in NOK 1000  

Year ended 31 

December 2019 

(audited)  

Year ended 31 

December 2018  

(audited) 
 
ASSETS 

   

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  701           1 006  

Right-of-use assets   14 323             

Intangible assets  13 392            6 221 

Goodwill   40 247 

 28 416 47 474 

 
Current assets 

   

Trade receivables          2 929 11 610 

Other current assets  13 621 6 041 

Cash and cash equivalents   13 970 2 236 

 30 520 19 888 

 58 936  67 362 

 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

   

Equity    

Issued share capital  3 035 2 981 

Share premium  161 220 154 257 

Other capital reserves  1 490     1 490 

Currency revaluation reserve  6 674 6 260 

Uncovered losses   -280 469 -168 614 

      -107 878 -3 626 

 
Non-current liabilities 

   

Deferred tax liabilities    343 

Non-current liabilities to related parties   6 543 17 298 

Other non-current provisions and liabilities  102 803  658 

Non-current leases liabilities   10 043  

 119 389 18 299 

 
Current liabilities 

   

Trade and other payables  10 502 10 936 

Current liabilities to related parties    10 495 7 017 

Current lease liabilities        4 816  

Contracted liabilities    14 861 12 562 

Other current liabilities  6 751 22 174 

Total current liabilities 47 425 52 689 

   

Total liabilities  166 814 70 988 

 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 58 936 67 362 

 

7.5 Selected statement of cash flows 

The table below sets out selected data from the Company's consolidated audited statement of income 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

Amounts in NOK 1000  Year ended 31 

December 2019 

(audited)  

Year ended 31 

December 2018  

(audited) 

 

Cash flows from operating activities 
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Loss before tax  -111 683 -60 325 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flow:    

Depreciation and amortization 

Leases interests 

 47 495 

1 385 

5 469 

Net finance income and costs included in financing activities  4 074 65 

Net foreign exchange differences  55 268 

Share based payments          - 657 -640 

Working capital adjustment: 
   

Changes in trade receivables  8 680 -4 298 

Changes in other current assets  -7 580 894 

Changes in trade and other payables  -434 5 610 

Changes in provisions and other liabilities  - 3 155  852 

Net cash flows from operating activities -61 930 -52  

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  -76 -982 

Investment in intangible assets  -7 960 -5 576 

Interests received 

Deferred purchase consideration paid 

          232 

-1 440 

 

92 

Net cash flow from investing activities -9 246 -6 466 

 

Cash flow from financing activities 

  

Proceeds from issuance of equity   1 477 

Proceeds from/(repayment of) loan from shareholders  -15 588  15 300 

Proceeds from new convertible loan  102 803  

Interests paid  -4 306  

Net cash flow from financing activities 82 909 16 777 

 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

  
11 734 

 
-41 775 

Effect of change in exchange rate   -65 

 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  2 236 44 076 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 13 970 2 236 

 

7.6 Selected statement of changes in equity 

Changes in equity is presented in the equity note of the financial statements as of and for the year 
ending on 31 December 2019 and 2018. An overview is included below. 

 

 

NOK 1000 

Issued 
share 

capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
capital 

reserves 

Cumulativ
e 

translatio
n 

difference
s 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total  
equity 

Balance as of 01.01.2018 2 759 124 475 1 490 6 597 -109 687 25 634 

Profit (loss) for the year     -58 927 -58 927 

Other comprehensive income    -337  -337 

Issue of share capital 222 29 782    30 004 

Balance as of 31.12.2018 2 981 154 257 1 490 6 260 -168 614 -3 626 

Profit (loss) for the year     -111 450  -111 450 

Other comprehensive income    181  181 

Issue of share capital  54 6 963    7 017 

Balance as of 31.12.2019 3 035 161 220 1 490 6 674 -280 297 -107 878 

 

7.7 Significant changes in the Company's financial or trading position 

The Company raised NOK 54.9 million in Q1 2020 through share issues at NOK 0.1 per share, 
comprising of NOK 50.0 million in a private placement in February 2020 and NOK 4.9 million in a 
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subsequent offering in March 2020. Net proceeds from the combined capital amounted to NOK 52.0 

million. 

The outbreak of the corona-virus disease (COVID-19) has had a global impact on health and 
economic activities. For the time being, ayfie is essentially operating as normal, although the majority 
of employees have been working from home since mid-March 2020. However, the lock-down 
situation is impacting the reorganizational processes as well as sales activities. It is currently too 
early to assess the mid-term and long-term effects of the COVID-19. 

In June 2020, NOK 101.4 million of a NOK 102.8 million convertible loan was converted at NOK 2 
per share. 

The Company carried out a 20:1 reverse share split in June 2020, giving a new nominal value of NOK 
1 per share.  

The Company raised NOK 50 million in July 2020 through share issue at NOK 2 per share, as further 
described in section 12 ("Information on the Private Placement"). 

Except for the above, there has not been any significant change in the financial or trading position 

of the Company since 31 December 2019. 

7.8 Grants 

The Group has not received any grants. 

7.9 Working capital statement 

The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is sufficient for the 
Group's present requirements, for the period covering at least 12 months from the date of this 
Admission Document.
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8 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT AND OTHER CONSULTANTS  

8.1 Introduction 

The General Meeting is the highest decision-making authority of the Company. All shareholders of 
the Company are entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings and to table draft resolutions for 
items to be included on the agenda for a General Meeting. 

The overall management of the Company is vested with its board of directors (the "Board of 
Directors", and each of the members thereof, a "Board Member") and its executive management 

team (the "Management"). In accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible 
for, among other things, supervising the general and day-to-day management of the Company's 
business ensuring proper organization, preparing plans and budgets for its activities ensuring that 
the Company's activities, accounts and assets management are subject to adequate controls and 
undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties. 

The Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's operations in 
accordance with Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors. Among other 

responsibilities, the Company's Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO"), is responsible for keeping the 
Company's accounts in accordance with existing Norwegian legislation and regulations and for 
managing the Company's assets in a responsible manner. In addition, the CEO must, according to 
Norwegian law, brief the Board of Directors about the Company's activities, financial position and 
operating results at a minimum of one time per month. 

8.2 The Board of Directors  

8.2.1 General 

The Company's registered business address, Karenslyst allé 49, N-0279 Oslo, Norway, serves as 
business address for the members of the Board of Directors in relation to their directorship in the 
Company. 

8.2.2 Overview of the Board of Directors  

The details of the members of the Board of Directors as at the date of this Admission Document10 
are set out in the table below. 

NAME POSITION SERVED SINCE TERM EXPIRES SHARES OPTIONS 

Lars Rahbæk 

Boilesen 

Chairman 24 February 2020 23 February 2022 0 5,000,000 

Jostein Devold Board Member 10 April 2017 23 February 2022 7,659 8,750 

Lars Nilsen Board Member 28 June 2018 23 February 2022 10,894,360 1 8,750 

Martin Nes Board Member 24 June 2019 23 February 2022 0  0 

Jan Christian 

Opsahl 

Board Member 24 February 2020 23 February 2022 4,513,160 2 0 

Øystein Stray 

Spetalen 

Board Member 24 June 2019 23 February 2022 17,573,117 3 0 

1  Nilsen holds the shares through Lani Invest AS of which he together with close associates holds 100% of the shares.  

2  Opsahl holds the shares through Dallas Asset Management AS of which he holds 100 % of the shares. 

3 Spetalen holds the shares through Tycoon Industrier AS of which he indirectly holds 100 % of the shares. 

8.2.3 Brief biographies of the Board Members 

Set out below are brief biographies of members of the Board of Directors, including their managerial 
expertise and experience, in addition to an indication of any significant principal activities performed 
by them outside of the Company. 

Lars Rahbæk Boilesen, Chairman 

Lars Rahbæk Boilesen is CEO at Otello Corporation ASA. Mr. Boilesen has extensive experience in 

the software and tech industry and has held executive positions in various corporations within that 
industry. Prior to joining Otello Corporation, he was CEO at Opera Software ASA. Mr. Boilesen holds 

 
10 Includes new Shares issued in the Private Placement as described in section 12.1 ("Details of the Private Placement").  
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a bachelor's degree in Business Economics from Aarhus Business School, and postgraduate diploma 

from Kolding Business School.  

Jostein Devold, Board Member 

Jostein Devold is CEO of Mertoun Capital AS. Mr. Devold has been a chairman and/or board member 
of several companies, including Solvang ASA, Expert ASA and Leif Hubert AS. Mr. Devold has 
previously held the position of investments director at Rasmussengruppen AS. Mr. Devold received 
a graduate degree from the University of Manchester and an undergraduate degree from BI 

Norwegian School of Economics.  

Jan Christian Opsahl, Board Member 

Jan Christian Opsahl is owner and CEO of Dallas Asset Management. Mr. Opsahl has been chairman 
and/or member of the boards of several companies, including REC Solar ASA and REC Silicon ASA. 
In the period 2016-2019 he was a member of the board of directors in Storebrand ASA and he was 
a member of the board of directors in NEL ASA in the period 2014- 2017. In the period 1985-2008 

he was president/CEO and chairman of the board in Tomra Systems ASA. During 1988-1997 he was 

president/CEO of Tandberg ASA and in the period 1997 – 2010 he was executive chairman of the 
Board in the company. Mr. Opsahl was chairman of the board in Tomra Systems ASA from 1985 to 
2008. He was chairman of the board of Tandberg Television ASA from 1989 to 2007 and deputy 
chairman of the board of Komplett from 1999 to 2005. Mr. Opsahl holds a degree in business as well 
as computer science from the University of Strathclyde in Glasgow, Scotland. He is also a Sloan 
Fellow from London Business School/M.I.T.  

Martin Nes, Board Member 

Martin Nes has been CEO in Ferncliff since 2010. He holds a law degree from the University of Oslo, 
and also holds a Master of Laws degree from University of Southampton, England. Prior to joining 
Ferncliff, he spent several years with the Norwegian law firm Wikborg Rein, working in both the Oslo 
and London offices, and with the shipping law firm Evensen & Co. Mr. Nes has extensive corporate 
experience and is/has been chairman and/or a member of the boards of several listed companies.  

Lars Nilsen, Board Member 

Lars Nilsen is owner and CEO of Lani Invest AS. Mr. Nilsen has been CEO of Block Watne AS which 
changed name to BWG Homes ASA, a company previously listed on Oslo Stock Exchange. Mr. Nilsen 
holds an MBA in finance and real estate from the University of Denver, USA.  

Øystein Stray Spetalen, Board Member 

Mr. Spetalen is Chairman and owner of investment firm Ferncliff TIH AS. He is an independent 
investor. He has worked in the Kistefos Group as an investment manager, as corporate advisor in 
different investment banks and as a portfolio manager in Gjensidige Forsikring. Mr. Spetalen is a 

chartered petroleum’s engineer from NTNU. Mr Spetalen is/has been chairman and/or a member of 
the boards of several companies, including Hiddn Solutions ASA, a company listed on Oslo Stock 
Exchange.  

8.3 Management 

8.3.1 General 

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Company's senior management team consists of the 
following persons presented in the table below. 

NAME POSITION EMPLOYED SHARES OPTIONS 

Johannes Stiehler * Acting CEO 2016 6,495 5,030,487 

Siw Ødegaard CFO 2017 500,000 1 32,500 

1 Stiehler holds 3,539 shares through Searchgear GmbH, where he holds 50% of the shares. All of his shares are held 

through a nominee account.  

2 Ødegaard holds the Shares through Kvinnesiden AS of which she holds 100% of the shares. 

* Due to consequences of the outbreak of COVID-19, Mr. Stiehler is not yet registered as new CEO

in the Norwegian Business Register of Enterprises. The Board resolved on 19 June 2020 to appoint
Roar Hansen as interim CEO for the period until completion of the registration of Mr. Stiehler as CEO.
Mr. Hansen holds 375 Shares and 15,000 options in the Company.
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The Company's registered business address, Karenslyst allé 49, N-0279 Oslo, Norway, serves as 

business address for the members of the Company's senior management team in relation to their 

employment with the Company. 

8.3.2 Brief biographies of the management 

Johannes Stiehler, acting Chief Executive Officer 

Johannes Stiehler has served as CTO at ayfie Group since 2016. In March 2020 he was appointed 
acting CEO. Prior to joining ayfie, Mr. Stiehler worked in technical leadership positions in several 

companies, among them Fast Search & Transfer, German Telekom and searchgears Gmbh, which he 
co-founded. 

Siw Ødegaard, Chief Financial Officer 

Siw Ødegaard has served as CFO of the ayfie Group since 2017. Prior to joining ayfie, she was CFO 
and EVP M&A and IR in Link Mobility Group ASA. Siw Ødegaard has broad operational as well as 
board experience from the tech sector, including from listed companies. She is currently serving on 

the board and the audit committee of Webstep ASA, a company listed at Oslo Stock Exhange. 

Roar Hansen, interim Chief Executive Officer 

Roar Hansen has served as Managing Director, Nordics, of the ayfie Group since 2019. Prior to that 
he served as VP Software Engineering of the Group from 2018-2019. Prior to joining ayfie Group, 
Mr. Hansen held different positions at Virtual Works, including as Director of Product Development 
and Services. 

8.4 Share incentive schemes 

The Company introduced in September 2017 a share option program for its employees. As of the 

date of this Admission Document, the Company has issued 161,922 options under this share option 
program. The options were issued free of charge with a strike price of NOK 130 per Shares. The 
Company is considering replacing the share option program with a new share option program. 

In June 2020, the Company issued 10 million options for shares in the Company in a new share 

option program of which 5 million was granted to the Lars Boilesen, the chairman of the Company, 
and 5 million to Johannes Stiehler, the CEO of the Company. Under the new share option program 

each option will give the holder the right to acquire one share form the Company of which 5 million 
options at a strike price NOK 2.25 that can be called 1 June 2021 and 5 million options at strike price 
NOK 2.50 that can be called 1 June 2022. Expansion of this program will be considered to replace 
the program from 2017. 

8.5 Employees and other consultants 

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Group has 56 employees of which 42 are permanent. 
The table below sets out the Group's average number of full-time employees over the last two years: 

YEAR GROUP 

2018 62 

2019 65 

8.6 Benefits upon termination 

There are no benefits upon termination for the Company's employees, Board of Directors, or 
members of the Management. 

8.7 Corporate governance 

The Board of Directors has a responsibility to ensure that the Company has a good corporate 
governance. The Company is not subject to the Corporate Governance Code, but the Company 
intends over time to implement the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code. 

8.8 Conflicts of interests etc. 

No member of the Board of Directors or Management has, or have had, as applicable, during the last 

five years preceding the date of the Admission Document: ( 

a) any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences; 

b) received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory
authorities (including designated professional bodies) or was disqualified by a court from
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acting as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company 

or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company; or  

c) been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation 
in his or her capacity as a founder, member of the administrative body or supervisory body, 
director or senior manager of a company. 

To the Company's knowledge, there are currently no actual or potential conflicts of interest between 
the Company and the private interests or other duties of any of the Board Members and members of 

the Management, including any family relationships between such persons.
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9 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER MATTERS  

9.1 Corporate information  

The Company's commercial and legal name is ayfie Group AS and the Company's commercial name 
is "ayfie". The Company is a private limited liability company (Nw.: aksjeselskap), validly 
incorporated and existing under the laws of Norway and in accordance with the Norwegian Private 
Companies Act. The Company is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises with 
company registration number 917 913 773. The Company was incorporated on 19 October 2016. 

The Company's registered business address is Karenslyst allé 49, N-0279 Oslo, Norway, which also 
is its principal place of business. The telephone number to the Company's principal offices is +47 
483 10 800 and its website is www.ayfie.com. 

The Shares are registered in book-entry form with VPS under ISIN NO 001 0793243. The Company's 
register of shareholders in VPS is administrated by the VPS Registrar, DNB Bank ASA, Norway. The 
Company's LEI-code is 635400GUFTQDXIVUEM96. 

9.2 Legal structure  

The Company is the parent company of ayfie AS in Norway, ayfie AB in Sweden, ayfie GmbH in 
Germany, ayfie Ltd in the UK and ayfie Inc. in the US.  

The following table sets out brief information about the Company's subsidiaries at the date of this 
Admission Document. 

COMPANY NAME 
REGISTERED 
OFFICE ACTIVITY OWNERSHIP HELD 

ayfie AS Oslo, Norway Knowledge 
management products 
for law firms and 
other businesses 

100% 

ayfie AB Stockholm, Sweden Knowledge 

management products 
for law firms and 
other businesses 

100% 

ayfie Inc. Denver, US Knowledge 
management products 
for US legal services 

and financial markets 

100% 

ayfie GmbH Munich, Germany Research and 
development for 
advanced NLP and 
machine learning 

100% 

ayfie Ltd London, UK There is currently no 

operations in the 
company 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 100% 

 100% 

 100%  100% 

ayfie Group AS 
(Norway) 

 100% 

ayfie AS 
(Norway) 

ayfie AB 
(Sweden) 

ayfie Inc. 
(USA) 

ayfie GmbH 
(Germany) 

ayfie Ltd 
(UK) 



ADMISSION DOCUMENT 

Page 34/50 

9.3 Share capital and share capital history  

9.3.1 Overview 

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Company's registered share capital is NOK 
106,209,392 divided into 106,209,392 Shares, each with a par value of NOK 1. All of the Shares 
have been created under the Norwegian Private Companies Act, and are validly issued and fully paid. 

The Company has one class of Shares, and accordingly there are no differences in the voting rights 
among the Shares. The Company's Shares are freely transferable, meaning that a transfer of Shares 

is not subject to the consent of the Board of Directors or rights of first refusal. Pursuant to the Articles 
of Association, the Company's Shares shall be registered in the Norwegian Central Securities Registry 
("VPS"). 

9.3.2 Share capital history 

The table below shows the development in the Company's share capital for the period covered by 
the Financial Statements to the date of the Admission Document. There have not been any other 
capital increases in the Company other than as set out in the table below, neither by way of 

contribution in cash or in kind for the period covered by the Financial Statements until the date of 
this Admission Document. 

Date of 

registration Type of change 

Change in 

share capital 

(NOK) 

Subscrip-

tion price 

per share 

(NOK) 

Nom. 

value 

(NOK) 

New number 

of total issued 

Shares 

New share 

capital 

(NOK) 

1 July 2020 Share capital increase 

(private placement) 

25,000,000 2 1 25,000,000 106,209,392  

24 June 2020 Share capital increase 

(conversion of 

convertible loan) 

50,703,99 2 1 50,703,997 81,209,392 

4 June 2020 Reverse share split 

20:1 

N/A N/A 1 30,505,395 30,505,395 

4 June 2020 Share capital increase  0.15 0.05  610,107,900 30,505,395 

16 April 2020 Share capital increase 

(subsequent offering) 

2,469,950.05 0.10 0.05 610,107,897 30,505,394.85 

4 April 2020 Share capital increase 

(private placement) 

25,000,000 0.10 0.05 560,708,896 28,035,444.80 

31 December 

2019 

   0.05 560,708,896 28,035,444.80 

1 March 2019 Share capital increase 

(debt/equity 

conversion) 

53,976.50 6.5 0.05 60,708,896 3,035,444.80 

10 January 2019 Share capital increase 

(debt/equity 

conversion) 

214,772.60 6.5 0.05 4,295,452 2,981,468.30 

20 August 2018 Share capital increase 2922 6,5 0.05 58,440 2,766,695.70 

18 July 2018 Share capital increase 4644.95 6,5 0.05 92,899 2,763,773.70 

 

9.4 Ownership structure 

As of 2 July 2020, following the distribution of the Shares issued in Private Placement as described 
in Section 12 ("Information on the Private Placement"), the Company had approximately 260 
shareholders. The Company's twenty largest shareholders as of the same date are11:  

 Shareholder Shares Ownership 

1 TYCOON INDUSTRIER AS 17,573,117 16.55 % 

2 LANI INVEST AS 10,894,360 10.26 % 

3 DATUM AS 5,341,000 5.03 % 

4 MERTOUN CAPITAL AS 4,963,832 4.67 % 

 
11 Based on a calculation of the shareholdings of 2 July 2020 with the addition of the new Shares issued in the Private Placement.  
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5 STAFF HOLDING AS 4,732,755 4.46 % 

6 DALLAS ASSET MANAGEMENT AS 4,513,160 4.25 % 

7 HØYLANDET BYGGUTLEIE AS 2,897,990 2.73 % 

8 PER-ERIK BURUD AS 2,636,777 2.48 % 

9 UFI AS 2,530,673 2.38 % 

10 CAMACA AS 2,527,500 2.38 % 

11 THABO ENERGY AS 2,500,000 2.35 % 

12 LEIF HÜBERT AS 2,356,252 2.22 % 

13 NIGA AS 2,325,682 2.19 % 

14 LAST INVEST AS 2,247,185 2.12 % 

15 LEIJO AS 2,116,372 1.99 % 

16 KARENSLYST ALLE 5 AS 2,074,000 1.95 % 

17 DELPHI NORGE 2,000,000 1.88 % 

18 TERSUS AS 1,818,522 1.71 % 

19 WANI INVESTERING AS 1,322,598 1.25 % 

20 GEC HOLDING AS 1,300,000 1.22 % 

  Top 20 shareholders 78,671,775 74.07 % 

  Other shareholders 27,537,617 25.93 % 

  Total 106,209,392 100.00 % 

 

As at the date of this Admission Document, no shareholder other than Tycoon Industrier AS, Lani 
Invest AS and Datum AS holds more than 5% of the issued Shares. 

As of the date of this Admission Document, the Company does not hold any treasury shares. 

There are no arrangements known to the Company that may lead to a change of control in the 
Company. 

9.5 Authorisations  

9.5.1 Authorisation to increase the share capital 

As at the date of this Admission Document, the Board of Directors holds the following authorisations 
to increase the share capital:  

a) Pursuant to section 10-14 of the Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act, the board of 
directors is granted an authorization to increase the Company’s share capital by up NOK 
40,604,696.00. 

b) The authorization is valid until the Company’s annual general meeting in 2021, but no longer 

than to and including 30 June 2021. 

c) The shareholders’ preferential right to the new shares in accordance with section 10-4 of the 
Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act may be deviated from. 

d) The authorization comprises share capital increases against contribution in kind and the right to 
incur specific obligations on behalf of the Company, cf. section 10-2 of the Norwegian Private 
Limited Liability Companies Act. 

e) The authorization comprises share capital increases in connection with merges pursuant to 

section 13-5 of the Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act. 

f) The board is authorized to determine the most practical structure and further conditions for the 

share capital increase(s). 

g) The authorization replaces the board authorization to share capital increase granted by the 

Company's extraordinary general meeting on 24 February 2020. 
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9.5.2 Authorisation to acquire treasury shares 

As at the date of this Admission Document, the Board of Directors does not hold any authorisations 
to acquire Shares in the Company. 

9.6 Financial instruments  

Except for the share options described in Section 8.4 ("Share incentive schemes") and the convertible 
loan notes described in Section 7.7, neither the Company nor any of the Company's subsidiaries has 
issued any options, warrants, convertible loans or other instruments that would entitle a holder of 

any such instrument to subscribe for any shares in the Company or its subsidiaries. 

9.7 Shareholder rights  

The Company has one class of Shares in issue and all Shares provide equal rights in the Company, 
including the rights to any dividends. Each of the Company's Shares carries one vote. The rights 
attached to the Shares are further described in Section 9.8 ("The Articles of Association") and Section 
9.9 ("Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law"). 

9.8 The Articles of Association  

The Articles of Association are enclosed in Appendix A to the Admission Document. Below is a 
summary of provisions of the Articles of Association as of 30 June 2020. 

9.8.1 Objective of the Company 

Pursuant to section 3, the objective of the Company is to develop and sell products and services, 
both national and international, which may aid other companies with the management of their own 
information on Internet and intranet. The company may also own shares in other companies. 

9.8.2 Share capital and par value 

Pursuant to section 4, 5 and 6, the Company's share capital is NOK 106,209,392 divided into 
106,209,392 Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 1. The Shares shall be registered in the 
Norwegian Central Securities Depository.  

9.8.3 General meetings 

Documents relating to matters to be dealt with by the Company's general meeting, including 
documents which pursuant to law shall be included in or attached to the notice of the general 

meeting, do not need to be sent to the shareholders if such documents have been made available 
on the Company's website. A shareholder may nevertheless request that documents which relate to 
matters to be dealt with at the general meeting are sent to him/her. 

9.9 Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law 

9.9.1 General meetings 

Through the general meeting, shareholders exercise supreme authority in a Norwegian company. In 
accordance with Norwegian law, the annual general meeting of shareholders is required to be held 

each year on or prior to 30 June. Norwegian law requires that a written notice of annual general 
meetings setting forth the time of, the venue for and the agenda of the meeting is sent to all 
shareholders with a known address no later than seven days before the annual general meeting of a 
Norwegian private limited liability company shall be held, unless the articles of association stipulate 
a longer deadline, which is not currently the case for the Company. 

A shareholder may vote at the general meeting either in person or by proxy (the proxy holder is 
appointed at their own discretion). Although Norwegian law does not require the Company to send 

proxy forms to its shareholders for general meetings, the Company plans to include a proxy form 
with notices of general meetings. All of the Company's shareholders who are registered in the 
shareholders' register kept and maintained with VPS as of the date of the general meeting, or who 
otherwise have reported and documented ownership of shares in the Company, are entitled to 
participate at general meetings, without any requirement of pre-registration. 

Apart from the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held 

if the board of directors considers it necessary. An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders 
shall also be convened if, in order to discuss a specified matter, the auditor or shareholders 
representing at least 10% of the share capital demands such in writing. The requirements for notice 
and admission to the annual general meeting also apply to extraordinary general meetings. 

9.9.2 Voting rights – amendments to the articles of association 

Each Share carries one vote. In general, decisions shareholders are entitled to make under Norwegian 
law or the articles of association may be made by a simple majority of the votes cast. In the case of 

elections or appointments (e.g. to the board of directors), the person(s) who receive(s) the greatest 
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number of votes cast is elected. However, as required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, 

including resolutions to waive preferential rights to subscribe for shares in connection with any share 

issue in the Company, to approve a merger or demerger of the Company, to amend the articles of 
association, to authorize an increase or reduction of the share capital, to authorize an issuance of 
convertible loans or warrants by the Company or to authorize the Board of Directors to purchase 
Shares and hold them as treasury shares or to dissolve the Company, must receive the approval of 
at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast as well as at least two-thirds of the share 

capital represented at the general meeting in question. Moreover, Norwegian law requires that 
certain decisions, i.e. decisions that have the effect of substantially altering the rights and 
preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval by the holders of such shares or 
class of shares as well as the majority required for amending the articles of association. 

Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the Company's shareholders in respect of 
dividend payments or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the Shares, require 
that at least 90% of the share capital represented at the general meeting in question vote in favour 

of the resolution, as well as the majority required for amending the articles of association. 

In general, only a shareholder registered in VPS is entitled to vote for such Shares. Beneficial owners 
of the Shares that are registered in the name of a nominee are generally not entitled to vote under 
Norwegian law, nor is any person who is designated in the VPS register as the holder of such Shares 
as nominees. 

There are no quorum requirements that apply to the general meetings. 

9.9.3 Additional issuances and preferential rights 

If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus share issues, the Company's articles of 
association must be amended, which requires the same vote as other amendments to the articles of 
association. In addition, under Norwegian law, the Company's shareholders have a preferential right 
to subscribe for new Shares issued by the Company. The preferential rights may be deviated from 
by a resolution in the general meeting passed with the same vote required to amend the articles of 
association. A deviation of the shareholders' preferential rights in respect of bonus issues requires 

the approval of all outstanding Shares. 

The general meeting may, by the same vote as is required for amending the articles of association, 
authorize the board of directors to issue new Shares, and to deviate from the preferential rights of 
shareholders in connection with such issuances. Such authorisation may be effective for a maximum 
of two years, and the nominal value of the Shares to be issued may not exceed 50% of the registered 
par share capital when the authorisation is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business 
Enterprises. 

Under Norwegian law, the Company may increase its share capital by a bonus share issue, subject 
to approval by the Company's shareholders, by transfer from the Company's distributable equity or 
from the Company's share premium reserve and thus the share capital increase does not require any 
payment of a subscription price by the shareholders. Any bonus issues may be affected either by 
issuing new shares to the Company's existing shareholders or by increasing the nominal value of the 
Company's outstanding Shares. 

Issuance of new Shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States and other 

jurisdictions upon the exercise of preferential rights may require the Company to file a registration 
statement or prospectus in the United States under United States securities laws or in such other 
jurisdictions under the laws of such jurisdictions. Should the Company in such a situation decide not 
to file a registration statement or prospectus, the Company's U.S. shareholders and shareholders in 
such other jurisdictions may not be able to exercise their preferential rights. To the extent that 
shareholders are not able to exercise their rights to subscribe for new shares, the value of their 

subscription rights will be lost and such shareholders' proportional ownership interests in the 
Company will be reduced. 

9.9.4 Minority rights 

Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority shareholders of the Company, 
including, but not limited to, those described in this paragraph and the description of general 
meetings as set out above. Any of the Company's shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to 
have a decision of the board of directors or the Company's shareholders made at the general meeting 

declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favours certain shareholders or third parties to 

the detriment of other shareholders or the Company itself. The Company's shareholders may also 
petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a result of such decisions to the extent particularly 
strong reasons are considered by the court to make necessary dissolution of the Company. 
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Minority shareholders holding 10% or more of the Company's share capital have a right to demand 

in writing that the Board of Directors convenes an extraordinary general meeting to discuss or resolve 

specific matters. In addition, any of the Company's shareholders may in writing demand that the 
Company place an item on the agenda for any general meeting as long as the Company is notified 
in time for such item to be included in the notice of the meeting. If the notice has been issued when 
such a written demand is presented, a renewed notice must be issued if the deadline for issuing 
notice of the general meeting has not expired. 

9.9.5 Rights of redemption and repurchase of Shares 

The share capital of the Company may be reduced by reducing the nominal value of the Shares or 
by cancelling Shares. Such a decision requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate 
number of votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting. 
Redemption of individual Shares requires the consent of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed. 

The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted 
an authorisation to do so by a general meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the 

aggregate number of votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the 

meeting. The aggregate nominal value of treasury shares so acquired, and held by the Company 
must not lead to the share capital with deduction of the aggregate nominal of the holding of own 
shares is less than the minimum allowed share capital of NOK 30,000, and treasury shares may only 
be acquired if the Company's distributable equity, according to the latest adopted balance sheet, 
exceeds the consideration to be paid for the shares. The authorisation by the general meeting of the 
Company's shareholders cannot be granted for a period exceeding two years. 

9.9.6 Shareholder vote on certain reorganizations 

A decision of the Company's shareholders to merge with another company or to demerge requires a 
resolution by the general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at 
least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan, or demerger 
plan signed by the board of directors along with certain other required documentation, would have 
to be sent to all the Company's shareholders, or if the articles of association stipulate that, made 

available to the shareholders on the Company's website, at least one month prior to the general 
meeting to pass upon the matter. 

9.9.7 Liability of board members 

Board members owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty 
requires that the board members act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their 
functions and exercise a general duty of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task 
is to safeguard the interests of the Company. 

Board members may each be held liable for any damage they negligently or wilfully cause the 
Company. Norwegian law permits the general meeting to discharge any such person from liability, 
but such discharge is not binding on the Company if substantially correct and complete information 
was not provided at the general meeting passing upon the matter. If a resolution to discharge the 
Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against such a person has been passed by a 
general meeting with a smaller majority than that required to amend the articles of association, 
shareholders representing more than 10% of the share capital or, if there are more than 100 

shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders may pursue the claim on the Company's behalf 

and in its name. The cost of any such action is not the Company's responsibility but can be recovered 
from any proceeds the Company receives as a result of the action. If the decision to discharge any 
of the Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against the Board Members is made by 
such a majority as is necessary to amend the articles of association, the minority shareholders of the 
Company cannot pursue such claim in the Company's name. 

9.9.8 Indemnification of board members 

Neither Norwegian law nor the articles of association contains any provision concerning 
indemnification by the Company of the Board of Directors. The Company is permitted to purchase 
insurance for the board members against certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as 
such. 

9.9.9 Distribution of assets on liquidation 

Under Norwegian law, the Company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's shareholders 

at the general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-

thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. In the event of liquidation, the Shares rank 
equally in the event of a return on capital. 
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9.10 Dividend policy 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Private Companies Act, dividends may only be declared to the extent that 
the Company has distributable funds and the Board of Directors finds such a declaration to be prudent 
in consideration of the size, nature, scope and risks associated with the Company's operations and 
the need to strengthen its liquidity and financial position. Apart from this, there are no formal 
restrictions on the distribution of dividends. However, as the Company's ability to pay dividends is 
dependent on the availability of distributable reserves, it is, among other things, dependent upon 

receipt of dividends and other distributions of value from its subsidiaries and companies in which the 
Company may invest. See Section 5 ("Dividends and dividend policy") for more information on the 
Company's dividend policy. 

9.11 Takeover bids and forced transfers of shares  

The Company is not subject to the takeover regulations set out in the Norwegian Securities Trading 
Act, or otherwise. 

The Shares are, however, subject to the provisions on compulsory transfer of shares as set out in 

the Norwegian Private Companies Act. If a private limited liability company alone, or through 

subsidiaries, owns 9/10 or more of the shares in the subsidiary, and may exercise a corresponding 
part of the votes that may be cast in the general meeting, the board of directors of the parent 
company may resolve that the parent company shall take over the remaining shares in the company. 
Each of the other shareholders in the subsidiary have the right to require the parent company to 
take over the shares. The parent company shall give the shareholders a redemption offer pursuant 
to the provisions of the Norwegian Private Companies Act. The redemption amount will in the absence 

of agreement or acceptance of the offer be fixed by a discretionary valuation.
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10 NORWEGIAN TAXATION  

This section describes certain tax rules in Norway applicable to shareholders who are resident in 
Norway for tax purposes ("Norwegian Shareholders") and to shareholders who are not resident 
in Norway for tax purposes ("Non-Resident Shareholders"). The statements herein regarding 
taxation are based on the laws in force in Norway as of the date of this Admission Document and are 
subject to any changes in law occurring after such date. Such changes could possibly be made on a 
retrospective basis. The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of 

all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the 
Shares. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors concerning the overall tax 
consequences of their ownership of Shares. The statements only apply to shareholders who are 
beneficial owners of Shares. Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, references to 
Norwegian Shareholders or Foreign Shareholders refers to the tax residency rather than the 
nationality of the shareholder. 

10.1 Norwegian shareholders 

10.1.1 Taxation of dividends 

Norwegian corporate shareholders (i.e. limited liability companies and similar entities) ("Norwegian 
Corporate Shareholders") are comprised by the Norwegian participation exemption. Under the 
exemption, only 3% of dividend income on shares in Norwegian limited liability companies is subject 
to tax as ordinary income (currently 22% flat rate), implying that such dividends are effectively taxed 
at a rate of 0.66%. 

Dividends distributed to Norwegian individual shareholders (i.e. other shareholders than Norwegian 

Corporate Shareholders) ("Norwegian Individual Shareholders") are grossed up with a factor of 
1.44 before taxed as ordinary income (22% flat rate, resulting in an effective tax rate of 31.68%) to 
the extent the dividend exceeds a tax-free allowance. 

The tax-free allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis for each individual shareholder on the 
basis of the cost price of each of the Shares multiplied by a risk-free interest rate. The risk-free 
interest rate is based on the effective rate of interest on treasury bills (Nw.: statskasseveksler) with 

three months maturity plus 0.5 percentage points, after tax. The tax-free allowance is calculated for 

each calendar year and is allocated solely to Norwegian Individual Shareholders holding Shares at 
the expiration of the relevant calendar year. Norwegian Individual Shareholders who transfer Shares 
will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated allowance related to the year of transfer. Any part 
of the calculated tax-free allowance one year exceeding the dividend distributed on the Share 
("unused allowance") may be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on (or 
gains upon realization of, see below) the same Share. Any unused allowance will also be added to 

the basis of computation of the tax-free allowance on the same Share the following year. 

The Shares will not qualify for Norwegian share saving accounts (Nw.: aksjesparekonto) for 
Norwegian Individual Shareholders as the shares are listed on Merkur Market (and not Oslo Børs). 

10.1.2 Taxation of capital gains 

Sale, redemption or other disposal of Shares is considered as a realization for Norwegian tax 
purposes. 

Capital gains generated by Norwegian Corporate Shareholders through a realization of shares in 

Norwegian limited liability companies, such as the Company, are comprised by the Norwegian 
participation exemption and therefore tax exempt. Net losses from realization of Shares and costs 
incurred in connection with the purchase and realization of such Shares are not tax deductible for 
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders. 

Norwegian Individual Shareholders are taxable in Norway for capital gains derived from realization 
of Shares, and have a corresponding right to deduct losses. This applies irrespective of how long the 

Shares have been owned by the individual shareholder and irrespective of how many Shares that are 
realized. Gains are taxable as ordinary income in the year of realization and losses can be deducted 
from ordinary income in the year of realization. Any gain or loss is grossed up with a factor of 1.44 
before taxed at a rate of 22% (resulting in an effective tax rate of 31.68%. Under current tax rules, 
gain or loss is calculated per Share, as the difference between the consideration received for the 
Share and the Norwegian Individual Shareholder's cost price for the Share, including costs incurred 
in connection with the acquisition or realization of the Share. Any unused tax-free allowance 

connected to a Share may be deducted from a capital gain on the same Share, but may not lead to 

or increase a deductible loss. Further, unused tax-free allowance related to a Share cannot be set 
off against gains from realization of other Shares. 
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If a Norwegian shareholder realizes Shares acquired at different points in time, the Shares that were 

first acquired will be deemed as first sold (the "first in first out"-principle) upon calculating taxable 

gain or loss. Costs incurred in connection with the purchase and sale of Shares may be deducted in 
the year of sale. 

A shareholder who ceases to be tax resident in Norway due to domestic law or tax treaty provisions 
may become subject to Norwegian exit taxation of capital gains related to shares in certain 
circumstances. 

10.1.3 Net wealth tax 

The value of Shares is taken into account for net wealth tax purposes in Norway. The marginal net 
wealth tax rate is currently 0.85% of the value assessed. The value for assessment purposes for the 
Shares is equal to 75% of the total tax value of the Company as of 1 January of the year before the 
tax assessment year. However, if the share capital in the Company has been increased or reduced 
by payment from or to shareholders in the year before the tax assessment year, the value for 
assessment purposes for the Shares is equal to 75% of the total tax value of the Company as of 1 

January of the tax assessment year. The value of debt allocated to the Shares for Norwegian wealth 

tax purposes is reduced correspondingly (i.e. to 75%). 

Norwegian limited liability companies and similar entities are exempted from net wealth tax. 

10.2 Non-Resident Shareholders 

10.2.1 Taxation of dividends 

Dividends paid from a Norwegian limited liability company to Non-Resident Shareholders are subject 
to Norwegian withholding tax at a rate of currently 25%, unless the recipient qualifies for a reduced 

rate according to an applicable tax treaty or other specific regulations. The shareholder's country of 
residence may give credit for the Norwegian withholding tax imposed on the dividend. 

If a Non-Resident Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the Shares are 
effectively connected with such activities, the Non-Resident Shareholder will be subject to the same 
taxation of dividend as a Norwegian Shareholder, as described above. 

Non-Resident Shareholders that are corporate shareholders (i.e. limited liability companies and 

similar entities) ("Foreign Corporate Shareholders") resident within the EEA are exempt from 
Norwegian withholding tax pursuant to the Norwegian participation exemption provided that the 
Foreign Corporate Shareholder is genuinely established and carries out genuine economic activities 
within the EEA. 

Dividends paid to Non-Resident Shareholders that are individual shareholders (i.e. other 
shareholders than Foreign Corporate Shareholders) ("Foreign Individual Shareholders") are as 
the main rule subject to Norwegian withholding tax at a rate of currently 25%, unless a lower rate 

has been agreed in an applicable tax treaty. If the individual shareholder is resident within the EEA, 
the shareholder may apply to the tax authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the 
calculated tax-free allowance on each individual share, see Section 10.1.1 ("Taxation of dividends"). 
However, the deduction for the tax-free allowance does not apply in the event that the withholding 
tax rate, pursuant to an applicable tax treaty, leads to a lower taxation on the dividends than the 
withholding tax rate of 25% less the tax-free allowance. 

In accordance with the present administrative system in Norway, a distributing company will 

generally deduct withholding tax at the applicable rate when dividends are paid directly to an eligible 
Foreign Shareholder, based on information registered with the VPS. Foreign Corporate and Individual 
Shareholders must document their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate by (i) obtaining a 
certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities in the shareholder's country of residence, 
confirming that the shareholder is resident in that state and (ii) providing a confirmation from the 
shareholder that the shareholder is the beneficial owner of the dividend. In addition, Foreign 

Corporate Shareholders must also present either (i) an approved withholding tax refund application 
or (ii) an approval from the Norwegian tax authorities confirming that the recipient is entitled to a 
reduced withholding tax rate or a withholding tax exemption. Such documentation must be provided 
to either the nominee or the account operator (VPS). Dividends paid to Non-Resident Shareholders 
in respect of nominee registered shares are not eligible for reduced treaty withholding tax rate at the 
time of payment unless the nominee, by agreeing to provide certain information regarding beneficial 
owner, has obtained approval for reduced treaty withholding tax rate from the Norwegian tax 

authorities. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends and the 

Company assumes this obligation. 

Foreign Individual and Corporate Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set 
out in an applicable tax treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess 
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withholding tax deducted. The same will apply to Foreign Corporate Shareholders that have suffered 

withholding tax although qualifying for the Norwegian participation exemption. 

Non-Resident Shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of treaty 
benefits in respect of dividend payments. 

10.2.2 Taxation of capital gains 

Gains from realization of Shares by Non-Resident Shareholders will not be subject to tax in Norway 
unless the Non- Resident Shareholders are holding the Shares in connection with business activities 

carried out or managed from Norway. Such taxation may be limited according to an applicable tax 
treaty or other specific regulations. 

10.2.3 Net wealth tax 

Non-Resident Shareholders are not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax with respect to the Shares, 
unless the shareholder is an individual, and the shareholding is effectively connected with a business 
which the shareholder takes part in or carries out in Norway. Such taxation may be limited according 
to an applicable tax treaty. 

10.3 Transfer taxes etc. VAT 

No transfer taxes, stamp duty or similar taxes are currently imposed in Norway on purchase, 
issuance, disposal or redemption of shares. Further, there is no VAT on transfer of shares.
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11 SELLING AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS  

11.1 General 

As a consequence of the following restrictions, prospective investors are advised to consult legal 
counsel prior to making any offer, resale, pledge or other transfer of the Shares admitted to listing 
on Merkur Market. 

The Company is not taking any action to permit a public offering of the Shares in any jurisdiction. 
Receipt of this Admission Document does not constitute an offer and this Admission Document is for 

information only and should not be copied or redistributed. If an investor receives a copy of this 
Admission Document, the investor may not treat this Admission Document as constituting an 
invitation or offer to it, nor should the investor in any event deal in the Shares, unless, in the relevant 
jurisdiction, the Shares could lawfully be dealt in without contravention of any unfulfilled registration 
or other legal requirements. Accordingly, if an investor receives a copy of this Admission Document, 
the investor should not distribute or send the same, or transfer Shares, to any person or in or into 
any jurisdiction where to do so would or might contravene local securities laws or regulations. 

11.2 Selling restrictions 

11.2.1 United States 

The Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any 
securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be 
offered or sold except: (i) within the United States to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to 
another available exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; or (ii) 
outside the United States to certain persons in offshore transactions in compliance with Regulation 

S under the U.S. Securities Act, and, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state 
or territory of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Merkur Advisors has 
represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any of the Shares 
as part of its allocation at any time other than (i) within the United States to QIBs in accordance with 
Rule 144A or (ii) outside of the United States in compliance with Rule 903 of Regulation S. Transfer 
of the Shares will be restricted and each purchaser of the Shares in the United States will be required 

to make certain acknowledgements, representations and agreements, as described under Section 
11.3.1 ("United States"). 

11.2.2 United Kingdom 

The Merkur Advisors has represented, warranted and agreed that: 

a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or 
cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity 
(within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") 

in connection with the issue or sale of any Shares in circumstances in which Section 21(1) 
of the FSMA does not apply to the Company; and 

b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to 
anything done by it in relation to the Shares in, from or otherwise involving the United 
Kingdom. 

11.2.3 European Economic Area 

In no member state (each a "Relevant Member State") of the European Economic Area (the "EEA") 

have Shares been offered and in no Relevant Member State other than Norway will Shares be offered 
to the public pursuant to an offering, except that Shares may be offered to the public in that Relevant 
Member State at any time in reliance on the following exemptions under the EU Prospectus 
Regulation: 

a) to persons who are "qualified investors" within the meaning of Article 2(e) in the EU 
Prospectus Regulation; 

b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the 
EU Prospectus Regulation) per Relevant Member State, with the prior written consent of 
the Merkur Advisors for any such offer; or 

c) in any other circumstances falling under the scope of Article 3(2) of the EU Prospectus 
Regulation; provided that no such offer of Shares shall result in a requirement for the 
Company or Merkur Advisors to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU 

Prospectus Regulation or supplementary prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the EU 

Prospectus Regulation. 
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For the purpose of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Shares in 

any Relevant Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any means 

presenting sufficient information on the terms of the an offering and the Shares to be offered, so as 
to enable an investor to decide to acquire any Shares. 

This EEA selling restriction is in addition to any other selling restrictions set out in this Admission 
Document. 

11.2.4 Other jurisdictions 

The Shares may not be offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, 
Switzerland, Japan, Canada, Australia or any other jurisdiction in which it would not be permissible 
to offer the Shares. 

In jurisdictions outside the United States and the EEA where an offering would be permissible, the 
Shares will only be offered pursuant to applicable exceptions from prospectus requirements in such 
jurisdictions. 

11.3 Transfer restrictions 

11.3.1 United States 

The Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any 
securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be 
offered or sold except: (i) within the United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant 
to another exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; and (ii) outside 
the United States in compliance with Regulation S, and in each case in accordance with any applicable 
securities laws of any state or territory of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Terms defined 

in Rule 144A or Regulation S shall have the same meaning when used in this section. 

Each purchaser of the Shares outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S will be deemed to 
have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Admission Document 
and such other information as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and 
that: 

• The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in 

compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be 
registered under the U.S. Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory 
authority or any state of the United States, subject to certain exceptions, may not 
be offered or sold within the United States. 

• The purchaser is, and the person, if any, for whose account or benefit the 
purchaser is acquiring the Shares, was located outside the United States at the 

time the buy order for the Shares was originated and continues to be located 
outside the United States and has not purchased the Shares for the account or 
benefit of any person in the United States or entered into any arrangement for 
the transfer of the Shares or any economic interest therein to any person in the 
United States. 

• The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of 
such affiliate, and is not in the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is 

in such business, it did not acquire the Shares from the Company or an affiliate 
thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares. 

• The purchaser is aware of the restrictions on the offer and sale of the Shares 
pursuant to Regulation S described in this Admission Document. 

• The Shares have not been offered to it by means of any "directed selling efforts" 
as defined in Regulation S. 

• The Company shall not recognize any offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of the 
Shares made other than in compliance with the above restrictions. 

• If the purchaser is acquiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or 
more accounts, the purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion 

with respect to each such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing 
acknowledgements, representations and agreements in behalf of each such 
account. 
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• The purchaser acknowledges that the Company, the Merkur Advisors and their 

respective advisers will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing 

acknowledgements, representations and agreements. 

Each purchaser of the Shares within the United States purchasing pursuant to Rule 144A or another 
available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the 
U.S. Securities Act will be deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has 
received a copy of this Admission Document and such other information as it deems necessary to 

make an informed investment decision and that: 

• The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be 
registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority 
of any state of the United States and are subject to significant restrictions to 
transfer. 

• The purchaser (i) is a QIB (as defined in Rule 144A), (ii) is aware that the sale to 
it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A and (iii) is acquiring such Shares for its 
own account or for the account of a QIB, in each case for investment and not with 
a view to any resale or distribution to the Shares, as the case may be. 

• The purchaser is aware that the Shares are being offered in the United States in 
a transaction not involving any public offering in the United States within the 
meaning of the U.S. Securities Act. 

• If, in the future, the purchaser decides to offer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer 
such Shares, or any economic interest therein, as the case may be, such Shares 
or any economic interest therein may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise 
transferred only (i) to a person whom the beneficial owner and/or any person 
acting on its behalf reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the 
requirements of Rule 144A, (ii) outside the United States in a transaction meeting 

the requirements of Regulation S, (iii) in accordance with Rule 144 (if available), 
(iv) pursuant to any other exemption from the registration requirements of the 
U.S. Securities Act, subject to the receipt by the Company of an opinion of counsel 
or such other evidence that the Company may reasonably require that such sale 
or transfer is in compliance with the U.S. Securities Act or (v) pursuant to an 
effective registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act, in each case in 
accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the 

United States or any other jurisdiction. 

• The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of 
such affiliate, and is not in the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is 
in such business, it did not acquire the Shares from the Company or an affiliate 
thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares. 

• The purchaser will not deposit or cause to be deposited such Shares into any 

depositary receipt facility established or maintained by a depository bank other 

than a Rule 144A restricted depository receipt facility, so long as such Shares are 
"restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) under the U.S. 
Securities Act. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares are "restricted securities" within the 
meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) and no representation is made as to the availability 
of the exemption provided by Rule 144 for resales of any Shares, as the case may 

be. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Company shall not recognize any offer, sale 
pledge or other transfer of the Shares made other than in compliance with the 
above-stated restrictions. 

• If the purchaser is requiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or 
more accounts, the purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion 

with respect to each such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing 

acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such 
account. 
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• The purchaser acknowledges that the these representations and undertakings are 

required in connection with the securities laws of the United States and that 

Company, the Merkur Advisors and their respective advisers will rely upon the 
truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and 
agreements. 

11.3.2 European Economic Area 

Each person in a Relevant Member State who receives any communication in respect of, or who 

acquires any Shares under, the offers contemplated in this Admission Document will be deemed to 
have represented, warranted and agreed to and with the Merkur Advisors and the Company that: 

a) it is a qualified investor within the meaning of Articles 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; 
and 

b) in the case of any Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in 
Article 1 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) the Shares acquired by it in an offer have not 
been acquired on behalf of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale 

to, persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified investors, as that term is 
defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation, or in circumstances in which the prior consent of 
the Merkur Advisors has been given to the offer or resale; or (ii) where Shares have been 
acquired by it on behalf of persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified 
investors, the offer of those Shares to it is not treated under the EU Prospectus Regulation 
as having been made to such persons. 

For the purpose of this representation, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any 

Shares in any Relevant Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any 
means presenting sufficient information on terms of an offering and the Shares to be offered, so as 
to enable an investor to decide to acquire any Shares.
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12 INFORMATION ON THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT 

12.1 Details of the Private Placement 

On 1 July 2020, the Company completed a private placement (the "Private Placement") consisting 
of a share capital increase for a total amount of NOK 50 million by issuing 25,000,000 Shares, at a 
subscription price of NOK 2 per Share, each with a nominal value of NOK 1.  

The book building period for the Private Placement took place from 25 June 2020 to 30 June 2020, 
notifications of allocations was issued on 30 June 2020 and payment took place on 1 July 2020. 

12.2 Shareholdings following the Private Placement 

Upon completion of the registration of the Private Placement in the Norwegian Register of Business 
Enterprises on 1 July 2020 and after the distribution of the new Shares issued in the Private 
Placement, the 20 largest shareholders were as set out in Section 09.4 "Ownership structure". 

12.3 Use of proceeds 

The proceeds from the Private Placement will be used in connection with strengthening the 

Company's equity, financing of further growth, issuance of shares as consideration in connection with 

acquisitions of other companies, business or assets or to finance such acquisitions.  

12.4 Lock-up 

Pursuant to lock-up undertakings entered into in connection with the Private Placement, members of 
the Board of Directors holding Shares have undertaken that they will not, and to procure that its 
respective subsidiaries and any other parties acting on its behalf will not, without the prior written 
consent of the Merkur Advisors, directly or indirectly, from the date of the lock-up agreement and 
for a period of 6 months after the date of settlement in the Private Placement, (a) offer, pledge, 

create any security interest over, sell, contract to sell, sell or grant any option, right, warrant or 
contract to purchase, exercise any option to sell, purchase any option or contract to sell, or lend or 
otherwise transfer or dispose of Shares or any securities convertible into or exercisable or 
exchangeable for Shares; or (b) enter into any swap or other agreement or any transaction that 
transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, the economic consequence of ownership of any 
Shares, whether any such transaction described in (a) or (b) is to be settled by delivery of Shares or 

other securities, in cash or otherwise; or (c) agree, or publicly announce an intention, to effect any 
transaction specified in (a) or (b). 
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13 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

13.1 Admission to Merkur Market 

On 22 June 2020, the Company applied for Admission to Merkur Market. The first day of trading on 
Merkur Market is expected to be on or about 7 July 2020. 

Neither the Company nor any other entity of the Group have securities listed on any stock exchange 
or other regulated market place.  

13.2 Information sourced from third parties and expert opinions 

In this Admission Document, certain information has been sourced from third parties. The Company 
confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been 
accurately reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from 
information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the 
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has 
been presented, the source of such information has been identified. 

The Company confirms that no statement or report attributed to a person as an expert is included in 

this Admission Document. 

13.3 Independent auditor 

The Company's independent auditor is Ernst & Young AS with business registration number 976 389 
387 and registered business address at Dronning Eufemias gate 6, 0191 Oslo, Norway. The partners 
of Ernst & Young AS are members of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants (Nw.: Den Norske 
Revisorforening). Ernst & Young AS has been the Company's independent auditor since 2016. 

Ernst & Young AS has not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information in this 

Admission Document. 

13.4 Advisors 

AGP Advokater AS (Tjuvholmen allé 3, 0252 Oslo, Norway) is acting as Norwegian legal counsel to 
the Company. 

Carnegie AS (Fjordalléen 16, 0250 Oslo, Norway) and DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA 
(Dronning Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway), are acting as Merkur Advisors. 

Advokatfirmaet Wiersholm AS (Dokkveien 1, 0250 Oslo, Norway) is acting as Norwegian legal counsel 
to the Merkur Advisors. 
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14 DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

When used in this Admission Document, the following defined terms shall have the following 
meaning: 

Admission .............................................................................. The admission to trading of the Company's 
Shares on Merkur Market. 

Admission Document ....................................................... This admission document, dated 6 July 2020. 

Appropriate Channels for Distribution ..................... Has the meaning ascribed to such term under 

"Important Information". 

AI ............................................................................................... Artificial intelligence. 

Articles of Association ..................................................... Articles of Association of the Company. 

ayfie ......................................................................................... The Company. 

Board of Directors ............................................................. The board of directors of the Company. 

Board Members .................................................................. The members of the Board of Directors. 

CEO .......................................................................................... Chief Executive Officer. 

Company................................................................................ ayfie Group AS. 

Corporate Governance Code ........................................ The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance. 

EEA ........................................................................................... European Economic Area. 

EUR or Euro .......................................................................... The lawful common currency of the Member 
States who have adopted the Euro as their sole 

national currency. 

FSMA ........................................................................................ Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. 

Financial Statements ....................................................... The audited financial statements of the 
Company for the periods ended 31 December 
2019 (consolidated) and 31 December 2018 
(consolidated), prepared in accordance with 
IFRS. 

Foreign Corporate Shareholders ................................ Non-Resident Shareholders that are corporate 
shareholders (i.e. limited liability companies 
and similar entities). 

Foreign Individual Shareholders................................. Non-Resident Shareholders that are individual 
shareholders (i.e. other shareholders than 

Foreign Corporate Shareholders). 

GDPR ....................................................................................... The General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 

2016/679. 

GLEIF ....................................................................................... The Global Legal Identifier Foundation. 

Group ...................................................................................... The Company together with its subsidiaries. 

LEI ............................................................................................ Legal Entity Identifier 

Management ........................................................................ The members of the Group's senior 
management. 

Merkur Market ..................................................................... The multilateral trading facility for equity 

instruments operated by Oslo Børs ASA. 

Merkur Market Admission Rules ................................. Admission to trading rules for Merkur Market. 
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Merkur Market Content Requirements .................... Content requirements for Admission Documents 

for Merkur Market. 

MiFID II .................................................................................. EU Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial 
instruments, as amended. 

MiFID II Product Governance Requirements ........ MiFID II, Articles 9 and 10 of Commission 
Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 
supplementing MiFID II and local implementing 

measures. 

Negative Target Market .................................................. Has the meaning ascribed to such term under 
"Important Information". 

NOK .......................................................................................... Norwegian kroner, the currency of the Kingdom 
of Norway. 

Non-Resident Shareholders .......................................... Shareholders who are not resident in Norway for 

tax purposes. 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders .......................... Shareholders who are limited liability companies 
(and certain similar entities) domiciled in 
Norway for tax purposes. 

Norwegian Individual Shareholders .......................... Norwegian Shareholders other than Norwegian 
Corporate Shareholders. 

Norwegian Private Companies Act ............................ The Norwegian Private Limited Liability 
Companies Act of 13 June 1997 no 44 (as 

amended) (Nw.: aksjeloven). 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act .............................. The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 
2007 no. 75 (as amended) (Nw.: 

verdipapirhandelloven) 

Norwegian Securities Trading Regulation .............. The Norwegian Securities Trading Regulation of 
29 June 2007 no 876 (as amended) (Nw.: 

verdipapirforskriften).  

Norwegian Shareholders ................................................ Shareholders who are resident in Norway for tax 
purposes. 

Oslo Børs (or OSE) ........................................................... Oslo Børs ASA. 

Positive Target Market .................................................... Has the meaning ascribed to such term under 
"Important Information". 

Relevant Member State .................................................. Each Member State of the European Economic 

Area which has implemented the EU Prospectus 
Directive. 

Shares (or Share).............................................................. Shares in the capital of the Company, each with 
a nominal value of NOK 1, or any one of them. 

Target Market Assessment ........................................... Negative Target Market together with the 
Positive Target Market. 

USD .......................................................................................... United States Dollars, the currency of the United 

States. 

United States (or US) ...................................................... The United States of America. 

US Securities Act ............................................................... The US Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

VPS ........................................................................................... The Norwegian Central Securities Depository 
(Nw.: Verdipapirsentralen). 

VPS Registrar....................................................................... DNB Bank ASA. 

*** 
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Vedtekter 

for 

ayfie Group AS 

Org.nr. 917 913 773 

(à jour pr. 30. juni 2020) 

Statutes 

of 

ayfie Group AS 

Org.nr. 917 913 773 

(as of 30 June 2020) 

 

1. Selskapets navn er ayfie Group AS. 1. The company’s business name is 

ayfie Group AS. 

2. Selskapets forretningskommune er i 

Oslo.  

2. The company’s registered office is in 

Oslo. 

3. Selskapets virksomhet er å utvikle og 

selge produkter og tjenester for 

håndtering av bedrifters informasjon på 

internett og intranett både nasjonalt og 

internasjonalt. Selskapet kan også eie 

aksjer i andre selskaper.  

3. The company’s business is to develop 

and sell products and services, both 

national and international, which may 

aid other companies with the 

management of their own information 

on Internet and intranet. The company 

may also own shares in other 

companies 

4. Aksjekapitalen er NOK 106 209 392. 4. The share capital is 

NOK 106,209,392. 

5. Aksjenes pålydende er NOK 1,00. 5. The nominal value of the shares is 

NOK 1.00.  

6. Selskapets aksjer skal være registrert i 

Verdipapirsentralen. 

6. The company’s shares shall be 

registered in the Norwegian Central 

Securities Depository. 

7. Dokumenter som gjelder saker som 

skal behandles på 

generalforsamlingen som er gjort 

tilgjengelig for aksjonærene på 

selskapets nettside, trenger ikke 

sendes til aksjonærene. Det samme 

gjelder dokumenter som etter lov skal 

inntas i eller vedlegges innkallingen til 

generalforsamlingen. En aksjonær kan 

uansett kreve å få dokumenter som 

gjelder saker som skal behandles på 

generalforsamlingen tilsendt til han 

eller henne uten kostnader. 

7. Documents concerning matters to be 

considered at the general meeting that 

are made available for the 

shareholders on the company's 

website, do not have to be sent to the 

shareholders. The same applies to 

documents that by law shall be 

included or attached to the notice of 

the general meeting. Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, a shareholder may 

request that documents concerning 

matters to be considered at the 

general meeting be sent to him or her 

without cost. 

8. Selskapets aksjer skal være fritt 

omsettelig. Erverv av aksjer er ikke 

betinget av samtykke fra selskapet.  

 

Aksjelovens regler om forkjøpsrett 

gjelder ikke.  

8. The company's shares shall be freely 

transferable. Acquisition of shares is 

not subject to approval from the 

company.  

 

The Norwegian Private Limited 

Liability Act's regulation of 

shareholder's pre-emption rights shall 

not apply.  
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Report from the Board of Directors 
2019 was overall a challenging year for ayfie Group. There were positive developments in the 
Scandinavian business through sales of the new Locator of Knowledge Management product to 
leading Norwegian law firms. Whereas the US business was halted by integration issues with the 
Inspector product and a partner dispute related to the Document Analyzer product, delaying the 
planned 2019 launch of both products.  

 
 

Locations, business overview and operations 
ayfie Group AS (“the Company”) is the parent company of the ayfie Group (“the Group” or “ayfie”) and 
is located in Oslo, Norway. The Company owns 100 percent of the shares in ayfie AS in Norway, ayfie 
AB in Sweden, ayfie GmbH in Germany and ayfie Inc. in the USA (“US”).  

ayfie is operating in the Norwegian, Swedish and US markets. The Scandinavian companies are 
providing knowledge management products for law firms and other Scandinavian knowledge 
businesses. The US company is focusing on the US legal services and financial markets, while the 
German company is the research and development hub for advanced NLP and machine learning.  

ayfie’s products are based on Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) enhanced solutions built on proprietary 
linguistics, machine learning, smart search and text analytics. ayfie’s technology and solutions are 
developed by the Group’s highly qualified research and development teams - among them 
computational linguistics experts and computer scientists.  
 

Based on the unique technology, ayfie has developed the following three main products:  

• Locator for Knowledge Management that helps customers turn their corporate data into a true 
knowledge resource by:  

o Leveraging existing knowledge about previous cases and clients by connecting to all 
available information silos through one single interface 

o Uncovering hidden connections and relations between documents to make it possible 
to use similar agreements or clauses when drafting new agreements 

o Classifying documents based on existing structures for efficient workflows 
o Identifying qualified experts by searching for enhanced meta-data, e.g. author 

 
• Inspector that helps lawyers and others involved in litigation and investigations to quickly 

identify the data important for their cases by: 
o Enriching data sets with automatically generated meta data, such as persons, 

organizations and locations to ensure fast and easy filtering and search 
o Identifying (near) duplicates and email threads to remove redundant data and 

prioritize review 
o Automatically grouping documents into topic clusters which can be used to cull away 

irrelevant data  
 

• Document Analyzer that reads huge collections of homogenous documents to extract key 
information with unmatched speed and precision. Initially developed for the US mortgage 
industry, with the potential to be relevant for many businesses within the financial sector that 
deal with form-based documents. 
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Business developments  

The Scandinavian business achieved revenue growth, profits and positive cash flow in 2019, and will 
continue to build its revenue base and streamline its operations in 2020. The US business experienced 
revenue decline and increasing losses in 2019 due to delayed launches of new products combined with 
churn on the existing customer portfolio, and will be refocusing and reorganizing in 2020. 

 

Market  
ayfie believes the market for AI, smart search and text analytics will expand as the amount of data 
continues to increase exponentially - a view supported by current market trends and global surveys. 
The legal, legal services and financial industries continue to represent a major opportunity as they 
attempt to handle large amounts of unstructured data such as contracts and loan documents. Other 
industries are about to face similar challenges as data within their respective industries continue to 
grow. 

ayfie’s setback in the US market was the result of internal factors rather that market developments. 
ayfie therefore still believes the Group has the potential to become a major provider due to the nature 
of its technology and solutions: Firstly, ayfie offers a text analytics solution capable of rapidly providing 
semantic understanding of words, phrases and their relations. Contrary to text analytics solutions 
based solely on machine learning, ayfie’s technology performs semantic analysis of phrases and 
expressions. Thus, on top of providing higher quality analysis, ayfie’s solution can analyse smaller 
amounts of text as there is no need for extensive amounts of data to trace patterns. Secondly, by 
combining its unique language-based text analytics layer with statistical analysis, machine learning and 
other advanced algorithms, ayfie provides superior and faster processing solutions than its 
competitors. 

 

Outlook 

Moving forward, ayfie’s focus will be on selling existing solutions while reducing the cost base 
substantially in order to achieve profits and positive cash flow from its operations at Group level. 

The Scandinavian business, with its proven products and solid customer base, is well positioned for 
further expansion in the Norwegian market as well as in other European markets - specifically the 
Swedish, UK and German markets.  

The US business, which includes the German research and development hub, will in 2020 be focusing 
on revenue creation through the Legal Service Providers it signed with in late 2019. It will also pursue 
incremental OEM revenue through current channels. Increased focus on off-the-shelf products and 
current customers/sales channels will allow for a considerable reduction of research, development, 
business development and sales resources.  

 

Financial summary 
(All amounts in brackets are comparative figures for 2018 unless otherwise specifically stated) 

The following financial summary is based on the consolidated financial statements of ayfie Group AS 
and its subsidiaries. The consolidated statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors believe 
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the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, 
consolidated statement of cash flow, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
accompanying notes provide satisfactory information about the operations, financial results and 
position of the Group and the parent company at 31 December 2019. 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  
Full year consolidated revenues amounted to NOK 45.9 million (NOK 48.9 million). Revenues from the 
Scandinavian business increased by 11 percent compared to the previous year, whereas revenues from 
the US business fell by 31 percent compared to the previous year. 

• Consolidated recurring revenues amounted to NOK 36.3 million (NOK 35.4 million), and 
consisted of the following revenues: 

o Subscription revenues of NOK 30.5 million (NOK 25.9 million). Subscription revenues 
experienced a net increase of 18 percent from the previous year mainly through 
increased revenues from the Scandinavian business  

o Maintenance/support of NOK 2.9 million (NOK 2.5 million) 
o Retainer development service of NOK 2.9 million (NOK 7.1 million). This revenue 

classification was introduced in 2018 as a response to key USA customers’ requests for 
continuing development of their ayfie products. The revenues fell by 59 percent in 
2019 as the US business experienced churn on major customer accounts 
 

• Non-recurring revenues amounted to NOK 9.6 million (NOK 13.5 million) and consisted of the 
following revenues:  

o Perpetual revenues of NOK 3.6 million (NOK 5.8 million). The decrease of 38 percent 
from the previous year was due to lower sales through the Scandinavian business 
entity’s main reseller 

o Professional services /consultancy fees of NOK 6.0 million (NOK 7.7 million). The 
revenues generated by customer specific developments and onboarding of new 
customers fell by 22 percent from the previous year mainly due to lower sales in the 
US market 

Cost of sales of NOK 4.2 million (NOK 2.3 million) consisted of cost of third-party licences used in some 
of ayfie’s main products.  

Total operating expenses amounted to NOK 145.7 million (NOK 101.6 million). Personnel expenses of 
NOK 77.6 million (NOK 69.7 million). The number of employees increased from 62 on 31 December 
2018 to 66 on 31 December 2019, and the number of contracted labours decreased from 21 to 15 
during the same period. Other operating expenses amounted to NOK 20.6 million (NOK 31.9 million).  

Depreciation and amortization expenses amounted to NOK 47.5 million (NOK 5.5 million), whereof 
NOK 40.6 million (NOK 0.0 million) was related on an impairment charge of goodwill from the 
acquisition of Language Tools GmbH (now ayfie GmbH) in March 2016 triggered by the weak 
performance of the US business. 

Financial income of NOK 1.3 million (NOK 0.9 million) was related to foreign exchange gains and 
interest on bank deposits. Financial costs of NOK 9.0 million (NOK 0.8 million) consisted of costs related 
to the convertible loan of NOK 6.8 million (NOK 0.0 million), office leases of NOK 1.4 million (NOK 0.0 
million) and foreign exchange losses of NOK 0.8 million (0.3 million).  

Net loss for the year amounted to NOK 111.4 million (NOK 58.9 million). Total comprehensive income, 
adjusted for exchange differences on translation of foreign operations of NOK 0.2 million (negative 
NOK 0.3 million), gave a total comprehensive income of negative NOK 111.3 million (negative NOK 59.3 
million). 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
Total assets amounted to NOK 58.9 million (NOK 67.4 million). The total non-current assets of NOK 
28.4 million (NOK 47.5 million) consisted mainly of right-of-use-assets related of office leases after the 
adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 of NOK 14.3 million (NOK 0.0 million) and capitalized technology 
and product development recorded as intangible assets NOK 13.4 million (NOK 6.2 million). Goodwill 
was written off entirely by NOK 40.6 million in 2019. 

Total current assets of NOK 30.6 million (NOK 19.9 million) consisted of cash NOK 14.0 million (NOK 
2.2 million), trade receivables NOK 2.9 million (NOK 11.6 million) and other current assets NOK 13.6 
million (NOK 6.0 million). NOK 1.5 million (NOK 7.4 million) of trade receivable were not due per 31 
December 2019. Other current assets consisted mainly of prepayments from customers of NOK 8.5 
million (NOK 1.9 million) and deposits of NOK 4.9 million (NOK 3.2 million).  

Total equity and liabilities amounted to NOK 58.9 million (NOK 67.4 million), where the total equity of 
negative NOK 107.9 million (negative NOK 3.6 million) as uncovered losses of NOK 279.5 million (NOK 
168.6 million) exceeded share capital and share premium totalling NOK 164.2 million (NOK 157.2 
million). Equity was strengthened by NOK 52.0 million in Q1 2020 through capital increases. 

Non-current liabilities of NOK 119.4 (NOK 18.3 million) consisted of a convertible loan NOK 102.8 
million (NOK 0.7 million), non-current lease liabilities NOK 10.0 million (NOK 0.0 million) and non-
current liabilities to related parties NOK 6.6 million (NOK 17.3 million). Current liabilities of NOK 47.4 
million (NOK 52.7 million) consisted mainly of trade and other payables of NOK 10.5 million (NOK 10.9 
million), contracted liabilities of NOK 14.9 million (NOK 12.6 million), current liabilities to related 
parties of NOK 10.5 million (NOK 7.0 million) and current lease liabilities NOK 4.8 million (NOK 0.0 
million).  

ayfie had NOK 592.4 million (NOK 602.0 million) of tax losses carried forward. The Group has 
determined not to recognize deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried forward in the 2019 financial 
statements. If the Group had recorded all unrecognized deferred tax assets, equity would have 
increased by approximately NOK 154.1 million. NOK 148.5 million of the tax losses carried forward do 
not expire, while NOK 443.9 443.9 million related to losses in the US subsidiary, ayfie Inc., begin to 
expire in 2030.  

Consolidated statement of cash flow 
Net cash flow from operating activities was negative NOK 61.9 million (negative NOK 52.1 million). Net 
cash flow from investing activities was negative NOK 9.2 million (negative NOK 6.5 million). Net cash 
flow from financing activities was NOK 82.9 million (NOK 16.8 million). Cash and cash equivalents was 
NOK 14.0 million (NOK 2.2 million) at year end.  

Equity, shares and shareholders 

Equity decreased from negative NOK 3.6 million in 2018 to negative NOK 107.9 million in 2019 due to 
the 2019 loss of NOK 111.4 million (NOK 58.9 million), issue of share capital NOK 7.0 million (NOK 30.0 
million) and other comprehensive income NOK 0.2 million (negative NOK 0.3 million).  

At year end 2019, there were approximately 220 shareholders (including estimates for number of 
shareholders behind nominee accounts). ayfie had no own shares in ayfie Group AS. 

Financial risks  

ayfie is exposed to financial risk in different areas - mainly currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
The Group seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of such risks through sound business practice.  
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Currency risk 
ayfie has a significant portion of its financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. There is an 
inherent risk that the liabilities to the Group may increase as a result of an appreciation of USD, EUR 
and SEK, while the Group's presentation currency is NOK.  

ayfie’s currency risk on operations is related to the Group’s revenue and operating expenses in foreign 
currency. Employee benefit expenses and other operating expenses are mainly in NOK, USD and EUR, 
with sales incurring mainly in USD, NOK and SEK. ayfie aims to minimize the risk of changes in the value 
of net cash flows arising from foreign currencies.  

ayfie is also exposed to currency changes related to the carrying amounts of equity in foreign 
subsidiaries. Changes in the value of equity of foreign subsidiaries are partly offset by financial 
liabilities in the same currency.  

The Group does not hedge foreign currency exposure with derivatives at the current time but monitors 
the net exposure and may choose to use financial derivatives to limit foreign currency risk in the future. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that ayfie will be unable to meet its obligations associated with operational and 
financial liabilities. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it 
will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group's reputation.  

ayfie owns its technology, as well the products and solutions it provides, and has a highly scalable 
business model. Customers typically pay subscription upfront – yearly or quarterly. The Group, 
therefore, has the potential to significantly increase cash flow from operations as sales increase. 

Future cash flow for the Group is constantly forecasted with owners or other investors being contacted 
if external financing is deemed necessary. ayfie’s investors have over the years been most supportive 
and have contributed in financing developments.  

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under contract, leading to a 
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade 
receivables) and from its cash deposits with banks. It is the management's opinion that there is no 
material credit risk connected to the Group's current assets. 

 

Events after 31 December 2019 
NOK 54.9 million was raised in Q1 2020 through share issues at NOK 0.1 per share, NOK 50 million in 
February 2020 in a private placement and NOK 4.9 million in a subsequent offering in March 2020. Net 
proceeds from the combined capital increases amounted to NOK 52.0 million. 

On 19 March 2020 the Board terminated Erik Baklid’s employment as CEO with immediate effect. The 
Group’s CTO Johannes Stiehler was appointed acting CEO.  
 
On 19 March 2020 the board initiated a reorganization of the Group, and several restructuring 
measures were implemented to ensure cost reductions and improved cash flows.  
 
The outbreak of the corona-virus disease (COVID-19) has had a global impact on health and economic 
activities. For the time being, ayfie is essentially operating as normal, although the majority of 
employees have been working from home since mid-March 2020. However, the lock-down situation is 



   

 

 

ayfie Group – 2019 Annual Report 8 

impacting the reorganizational processes as well as sales activities. It is currently too early to assess 
the mid-term and long-term effects of the COVID-19. 

 

Going concern 
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, the Board confirms that the financial statements have 
been prepared under the assumption of going concern and that this assumption is valid. The 
assumption is based on profit and cash flow forecasts for the year 2020 and ayfie’s long-term strategic 
forecasts. 

The book value of the company’s equity as of 31 December 2019 is negative by NOK 107.9 million. In 
the first quarter 2020 the equity was increased by NOK 52.0 million by new subscription of shares for 
cash contributions to secure sufficient liquidity and a strengthening of the equity position of the 
company. At the same time several restructuring measures were implemented to ensure cost 
reductions and improved cash flows. The Board of Directors will be assessing the need for additional 
actions if required in order to ensure an equity that can be deemed sound, based on the extent of the 
company’s activities and the risk involved.  

 

Employees 
ayfie aims to be a workplace with equal opportunities and practices gender equality regarding salary, 
promotion and recruiting. As the Group is mainly recruiting sales and technology personnel, 
occupations typically dominated by males, a major portion of the staff is male. At year end 2019 ayfie 
had 66 employees, of which 8 were female. ayfie had 1 female executive manager, and there were no 
female board members. 

There was hardly any leave of absence due to illness recorded in 2019, and no incidences nor reports 
of work-related accidents resulting in significant material damage or personal injury. 

The working environment is considered to be good and activities to secure a continued positive 
working environment are carried out on an ongoing basis.  

 

Change in Board of Directors  
On 24 February 2020 the extraordinary shareholder meeting elected a new board: 

• Lars Boilesen, chairman 
• Jostein Devold 
• Martin Nes 
• Lars Nilsen 
• Jan Chr. Opsahl 
• Øystein Stray Spetalen 
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Allocation of net loss for the year 
The Board of Directors has proposed the net loss of ayfie Group AS of NOK 111.4 million to be charged 
to uncovered losses.  

The Board of Directors does not propose any dividend payments for 2019. 

 

 

 

Oslo, 25 May 2020 
The Board and CEO of ayfie Group AS 

 
 

Sign.  Sign. 
Lars Boilesen 

Chairman 
 Jostein Devold 

Board member 
 
 

Sign. 

 
 
 

 
 

Sign. 
Martin Nes 

Board member 
 Lars Nilsen 

Board member 
 

 

Sign.  Sign. 
Jan Opsahl 

Board member 
 Øystein Stray Spetalen 

Board member 
 

 

Sign.  
Johannes Stiehler 

Acting chief executive officer 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the years ended 31 December 

 

 

Amounts in NOK 1000 Notes 2019 2018 
 
Revenue and other operating income 

Revenue 2.1 

 
 

45 891 

 
 

48 944 
Total revenue and other operating income 45 891 48 944 
Cost of sales 

Cost of sales 
 

4 151 
 

2 265 
Gross profits 41 740 46 679 
Operating expenses 

Personnel expenses 2.2 
Other operating expenses 2.3 
Depreciation and amortization 3.3 

Total operating expenses 

 
         77 587 

20 645 
47 495  

145 727 

 
        69 736 

31 864 
5 469 

-107 069 
Operating profit or loss -103 987 -60 390 
Finance income and costs 

Finance income 4.4 
Finance costs 4.4 

 
1 348 
9 044 

 
872 
807 

Profit or loss before tax - 111 683 -60 325 
Income tax expense 5.1 233 1 398 

Net loss for the year -111 450 -58 927 
 
 
Other comprehensive income  

  

 
Items that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 

 
 

181 

 
 

-337 
Total items that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss 181 -337 
Other comprehensive income for the period 181 -337 
   
Total comprehensive income for the period -111 269 -59 264 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
 

 

 

Amounts in NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
 
 
ASSETS 

   

Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 3.1 701           1 006  
Right-of-use assets  6.2 14 323             
Intangible assets 3.2 13 392            6 221 
Goodwill 3.3  40 247 

Total non-current assets 28 416 47 474 
 

Current assets    
Trade receivables 2.4         2 929 11 610 
Other current assets 2.5 13 621 6 041 
Cash and cash equivalents  4.3 13 970 2 236 

Total current assets 30 520 19 888 
 
TOTAL ASSETS 58 936  67 362 
 
 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

   

Equity    
Issued share capital 4.6 3 035 2 981 
Share premium  161 220 154 257 
Other capital reserves  1 490     1 490 
Currency revaluation reserve  6 674 6 260 
Uncovered losses   -280 469 -168 614 

Total equity       -107 878 -3 626 
 

Non-current liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities 5.1   343 
Non-current liabilities to related parties 6.3  6 543 17 298 
Other non-current provisions and liabilities 6.1 102 803  658 
Non-current leases liabilities 6.2  10 043  

Total non-current liabilities 119 389 18 299 
 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 2.6 10 502 10 936 
Current liabilities to related parties 6.3   10 495 7 017 
Current lease liabilities  6.2      4 816  
Contracted liabilities  6.1  14 861 12 562 
Other current liabilities 6.1 6 751 22 174 

Total current liabilities 47 425 52 689 
   

Total liabilities  166 814 70 988 
 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 58 936 67 362 
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Oslo, 25 May 2020 
The Board and CEO of ayfie Group AS 

 
 

Sign.  Sign. 
Lars Boilesen 

Chairman 
 Jostein Devold 

Board member 
 
 

Sign. 

 
 
 

 
 

Sign. 
Martin Nes 

Board member 
 Lars Nilsen 

Board member 
 

 

Sign.  Sign. 
Jan Opsahl 

Board member 
 Øystein Stray Spetalen 

Board member 
 

 

Sign.  
Johannes Stiehler 

Acting chief executive officer 
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Consolidated statement of cash flow 
For the years ended 31 December 

 

 

Amounts in NOK 1000 Notes 2019 2018 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

   

Loss before tax  -111 683 -60 325 
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flow:    

Depreciation and amortization 
Leases interests 

3.1,3.2 
6.2 

47 495 
1 385 

5 469 

Net finance income and costs included in financing activities 4.4 4 074 65 
Net foreign exchange differences  55 268 
Share based payments 4.7         - 657 -640 

Working capital adjustment: 
   

Changes in trade receivables 2.4 8 680 -4 298 
Changes in other current assets 2.5 -7 580 894 
Changes in trade and other payables 2.6 -434 5 610 
Changes in provisions and other liabilities 6.1 - 3 155  852 

Net cash flows from operating activities -61 930 -52  
 
Cash flows from investing activities 

  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3.1 -76 -982 
Investment in intangible assets 3.2 -7 960 -5 576 
Interests received 
Deferred purchase consideration paid 

4.4 
3.3 

         232 
-1 440 

 
92 

Net cash flow from investing activities -9 246 -6 466 
 
Cash flow from financing activities 

  

Proceeds from issuance of equity   1 477 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) loan from shareholders 6.3 -15 588  15 300 
Proceeds from new convertible loan 4.2 102 803  
Interests paid 4.4 -4 306  

Net cash flow from financing activities 82 909 16 777 
 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

  
11 734 

 
-41 775 

Effect of change in exchange rate   -65 
 Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 4.3 2 236 44 076 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 13 970 2 236 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 

 

 

 
 
NOK 1000 

Issued 
share 

capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
capital 

reserves 

Cumulative 
translation 
differences 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total  
equity 

Balance as of 01.01.2018 2 759 124 475 1 490 6 597 -109 687 25 634 
Profit (loss) for the year     -58 927 -58 927 
Other comprehensive income    -337  -337 
Issue of share capital 222 29 782    30 004 
Balance as of 31.12.2018 2 981 154 257 1 490 6 260 -168 614 -3 626 
Profit (loss) for the year     -111 450  -111 450 
Other comprehensive income    181  181 
Issue of share capital  54 6 963    7 017 
Balance as of 31.12.2019 3 035 161 220 1 490 6 674 -280 297 -107 878 
 
 
1 March 2019 the equity was increased by NOK 7 017 thousand trough a conversion of debt to equity. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

 

 
Notes 1 – Background Information 
Note 1.1 – Corporate information 
Corporate Information 
The consolidated financial statements of ayfie Group AS and its subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group" or "ayfie") 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors 25 May 2020. ayfie Group AS (“the Company” or “the parent)” is a limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address of its registered office is Karenslyst allé 49, 0279 Oslo. 

Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of ayfie Group AS is comprised of consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flows, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and related notes. The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by The European 
Union (EU). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except when IFRS requires 
recognition at fair value as further described below.  

Presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK), which is also the functional 
currency of the parent company. All figures are rounded to the nearest thousand (000), except when otherwise 
indicated. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

Foreign currencies 
For presentation purposes, balance sheet items are translated from functional currency to presentation currency 
by using exchange rates at the reporting date. Items within total comprehensive income are translated from 
functional currency to presentation currency by applying average exchange rates. If currency rates are fluctuating 
significantly, daily exchange rates are applied for significant transactions. 

Going concern 
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, the Board confirms that the financial statements have been 
prepared under the assumption of going concern and that this assumption is valid. The assumption is based on 
profit and cash flow forecasts for the year 2020 and ayfie’s long-term strategic forecasts. 

The book value of the company’s equity as of 31 December 2019 is negative by NOK 107.9 million. In the first 
quarter 2020 the equity was increased by NOK 52.0 million by new subscription of shares for cash contributions 
to secure sufficient liquidity and a strengthen the equity position of the company. At the same time several 
restructuring measures were implemented to ensure cost reductions and improved cash flows. The Board of 
Directors will be assessing the need for additional actions if required in order to ensure an equity that can be 
deemed sound, based on the extent of the company’s activities and the risk involved.  
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Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as of 
31 December 2019. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its return. Generally, there is a presumption that 

a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has less 
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

Generally, ayfie Group's presumption is that a majority of voting rights results in control. The Group re-assesses 
whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent as the Group currently has no non-controlling interests. Uniform accounting policies are applied to all 
Group companies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

The Group's interests in subsidiaries are presented below: 

Consolidated entities Office CUR Shareholding Group's voting ownership share 
ayfie AS Norway NOK 100 % 100 % 
ayfie Inc. USA USD 100 % 100 % 
ayfie GmbH Germany EUR 100 % 100 % 
ayfie AB Sweden SEK 100 % 100 % 
 

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
Note 1.2 – Estimates, judgments and assumptions 
Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
In connection with the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, the management has made 
assumptions and estimates about future events and applied judgements that affect the reported values of assets, 
liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in 
future periods. The assumptions, estimates and judgements are based on historical experience, current trends 
and other factors that the Group’s management believes to be relevant at the time the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, are described below: 
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Useful life of intangible assets 
The useful lives of the intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite and may in some cases involve 
considerable judgements. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently tested for impairment by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash generating unit (CGU) or 
Group of CGUs to which the intangible assets relate.  

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. Reference is made to note 5.1 for information on 
the Group's recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets. 

 

Note 1.3 – Significant accounting policies 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to 
the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue 
arrangements, because it typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer. 

The Group received recurring revenue from sale of solutions such as subscriptions. The Group considers its 
performance obligation connected to subscriptions to be satisfied over the lifetime of the subscriptions. Such 
revenue is thus recognized over time over the contract period on a linear basis. The customers are invoiced on a 
yearly and quarterly basis, and payment is generally due within 14-30 days from delivery. In addition, the Group 
receives non-recurring revenue such as consulting services. Such revenue is recognized over time as the customer 
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The Group recognises revenue over 
time by measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction of the services. Stage of completion is normally 
measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labour hours for the 
consulting services being provided. The customers are invoiced on a monthly basis, and payment is generally due 
within 14-30 days from delivery. 

There are no significant costs to obtain or fulfil the contracts that are recognized as an asset.  

Contract assets: A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the 
customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays 
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is 
conditional.  

Trade receivables: A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional. 

Contract liabilities: A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays 
consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised 
when the payment is made. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group fulfils the performance 
obligations under the contract. 

 
Financial instruments  
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 
The Group´s financial assets are: trade receivables, other current assets and cash and cash equivalents.  

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that 
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do not contain a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value 
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows and, 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired. 

The Groups financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and other short-term deposit. Trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price 
determined under IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers. 

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit 
losses (ECLs). Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance 
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment. 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives 
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. Loans, borrowings and payables are 
recognised at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 
well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. 

Payables are measured at their nominal amount when the effect of discounting is not material. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities 
are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect of taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses 
can be utilized, except: When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect of deductible 
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition 
at that date, are recognized subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The 
adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred 
during the measurement period or recognized in profit or loss. 

VAT 
Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except: When VAT incurred on a purchase of 
assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognized as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. When receivables and payables 
are stated with the amount of VAT included the net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Construction in progress, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment 
and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and the related 
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. The useful lives of 
intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the 
amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the 
intangible assets. 
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite 
to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognized. 

Research and development 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project, which represents 
new applications/technology, are recognized as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available for use or 
sale 

• Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset 
• How the asset will generate future economic benefits 
• The availability of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 

during development 

Initial capitalization of costs is based on management's judgement that technological and economic feasibility is 
confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined milestone according to an 
established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalized, management makes 
assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the 
expected period of benefits. The assessment of when product development is capitalized is highly subjective, as 
the outcome of these projects may be uncertain. Research and development carried out by the Group’s own 
personnel is not capitalized. 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when 
development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future 
benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. Estimating recoverable 
amounts of assets must in part be based on management’s evaluations, including determining appropriate cash-
generating units, determining discounting rates, estimates of future performance, revenue generating capacity 
of the assets and assumptions of the future market conditions. Reference is made to note 3.2 for an overview of 
capitalized development costs and expensed R&D. 

Group as a lessee 
Identifying a lease 
At the inception of a contract, The Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

Separating components in the lease contract 
The Group accounts for each lease component within the contract as a lease separately from non-lease 
components of the contract. 

Recognition of leases and exemptions 
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset for 
all lease agreements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as 12 months or less) and low 
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as other operating expenses in the 
statement of profit or loss when they incur. 
 
Lease liabilities 
The lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of the lease. The Group measures the lease liability 
at the present value of the lease payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that 
are not paid at the commencement date. The lease term represents the non-cancellable period of the lease, 
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together with periods covered by an option either to extend or to terminate the lease when the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise this option. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying 
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect adjustments in lease payments due to 
an adjustment in an index or interest rate.  
 
Right-of-use assets 
The Group measures the right-of use asset at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities, hence the cost of the right-of-use asset comprise of the 
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability recognized and any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, less any incentives received 

 
Government grants 
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized in the 
statement of Comprehensive income as Other operating income on a systematic basis over the periods that the 
related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is 
recognized as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset. When the Group 
receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts and released 
to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of consumption of the benefits 
of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.  

Pensions and other post-employment benefits 
The Group operates a defined contribution pension plan in Norway, which requires contributions to be made to 
a separately administered fund. Contributions have been made to the pension plan for full-time. The pension 
premiums are charged to expenses as they are incurred. 

Cash and short-term deposits 
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and 
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral 
part of the Group’s cash management. 

Statement of cash flows 
The Company presents the statement of cash flow using the indirect method. Cash inflows and cash outflows are 
shown separately for investing and financing activities, while operating activities include both cash and non-cash 
items. Value added tax and other similar taxes are regarded as collection of tax on behalf of authorities and are 
reported net. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation 

Note 1.4 – New standards in 2019 
Changes in account principles and disclosure requirements 
New and amended accounting standards and interpretations issued by the IASB may affect the Group's future 
financial reporting. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have 
been issued, but are not yet effective. 

In addition to IFRS 16, several amendments to IFRS have been implemented for the first time in 2019. The 
amendments did not have any material impact for the Group.  
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Implementation of IFRS 16 – Leases  
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 determining whether an arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance 
sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. 

The Group adopted IFRS 16 by applying the modified retrospective approach with the date of initial application 
of 1 January 2019.The Group also elected to apply the recognition exemptions for lessees and not recognize 
leases in the balance sheet that has a lease term of 12 months or less or the underlying value of the lease is of 
low value.  

Upon implementation to IFRS 16, the Group recognised NOK 18.7 million in right-of-use assets and NOK 19.7 
million as lease liabilities related of office leases. There was no effect on the opening balance of retained 
earnings. 

The impact on the date of initial application is further presented below: 

NOK 1000 
Reconciliation of lease commitments to lease liabilities     01.01.2019 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018  21 160 
 +/- Sublease reclassifications        

 + Extension options reasonably certain to be exercised    
 

 - Termination options reasonably certain to be exercised    
 

 +Practical expedient related to short-term leases     2 172 
 - Practical expedient related to low-value leases    

 

 - Residual value guarantees    
 

 - Discounting using the incremental borrowing rate        -3 615 
Lease liabilities recognised at initial application        19 717 
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied:     7% 
Right-of-use assets recognised at initial application        0 

 

1.5 Standards issued but not yet effective 
Several amendments to IFRS are issued up to the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements but 
are not yet effective. The impact of applying the amendments is not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial performance and financial position.  

 

Notes 2 - Operating performance 

Note 2.1 – Revenues and other operating income 
NOK 1000   
Revenue from contracts with customers 2019 2018 
Recurring revenue   

Subscription 30 530 25 850 
Maintenance/support 
Retainer Development Service 

2 934 
2 873 

2 521 
7 061 

Total recurring revenue 36 337 35 432 

Non-recurring revenue   
Perpetual 3 557 5 841 
Professional services/consultancy fees 5 996 7 670 

Non-recurring revenue  9 553 13 512 

Total revenue from sales contracts with customers 45 891 48 944 
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Recurring revenue 
ayfie’s business model is based on subscriptions, with contract lengths of typically 3 years. Retainer development 
agreements of more than 12 months are classified as recurring revenue. Such revenue is recognized over time 
over the contract period on a linear basis. 

Non-recurring revenue 
Customer specific development and onboarding of customers is charged at an hourly base and classified as 
professional services. Revenue from resellers of ayfie solutions is classified as perpetual revenue. Such revenue 
has maintenance/support elements classified as recurring revenue. The Group recognises revenue over time by 
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction of the services. 

NOK 1000   
Geographic information 2019 2018 
Revenues from customers   
Norway 26 853 23 437 
Germany 1 915 2 947 
Sweden 5 122 5 368 
USA 12 001 17 192 
Total revenues 45 891 48 944 
 

Note 2.2 – Personnel expenses  
NOK 1000   
Personnel expenses 2019 2018 
Salaries 63 813 57 727 
Social security tax 7 245 6 388 
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 351 368 
Contract labour 
Cost of share-based payment 

4 624 
-327 

5 308 
-639 

Other personnel costs 1 881 583 
Total personnel expenses 77 587 69 736 
 

 2019 2018 
Full time equivalent employees as of 31.12. 66  62 
Contract labor as of 31.12. 15    21 
Total  81  83 
      

Pensions 
The Norwegian companies in the Group are obligated to keep an occupational pension scheme pursuant to the 
Norwegian Mandatory Occupational Pensions Act. The Group's pension scheme satisfies these requirements. 

Contributions are paid to pension insurance plans and charged to the income statement in the period to which 
the contributions relate. Once the contributions have been paid, there are no further payment obligations. 
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Management and Board remuneration 
 
Management remuneration  
The former CEO of the Group was employed by ayfie Inc. in 2019 and was in 2019 entitled to regular employee 
benefits including health benefits as presented in the table below. There were no severance pay agreement. 

NOK 1000     
Remuneration to the CEO in 2019 Salary  Pension Other 

remuneration 
Total  

remuneration 
Erik Baklid – former CEO 2 415             0 297 2 712 
 
Erik Baklid left the Group 19 March 2020.  

Executive Management employed by the Norwegian entities are included in the pension scheme described 
above. 

At the end of the financial year, Executive Management held shares in the parent company. Reference is made 
to note 4.6 for disclosures on shareholdings.  

Board remuneration  
 
NOK 1000     
Accrued remuneration to Board Members in 
2019 

   Total 
 remuneration 

Board of Directors    300 
 
The Board Members are not subject to agreements for severance pay, bonuses or profit-sharing.  

At the end of the financial year, Members of the Board held shares in the parent company. Reference is made to 
note 4.6 for disclosures on shareholdings.  

Note 2.3 – Operating expenses  
NOK 1000   
Other operating expenses 2019 2018 
Sales and marketing  2 331 3 575 
Professional services 4 620 6 972 
Rental and leasing  
IT  
Travel  
Losses on accounts receivables  

494 
5 587 
3 572 
1 696 

6 403 
7 298 
3 945 
1 640 

Other operating expenses 2 346 2 032 
Total other operating expenses  20 645 31 864 
 

Audit fee 
 
Auditor related fees         2019 

Fees for audit     690 
Fees for tax services in USA    320 
Fees for other services*    109 

Total remuneration to the auditor         1 119 
 
*Incl. services related to debt/equity conversion in January 2019 and convertible loan in April 2019 
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Note 2.4 – Trade receivables  
NOK 1000   
Trade receivables 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Trade receivables at nominal value 3 964 11 610 
Expected credit loss -1 034 - 
Total trade receivables 2 929 11 610 
 
As of 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is, as follows: 

NOK 1000 Past due  
Ageing analysis Total Not due < 30 days 31-60 days > 90 days 
Trade receivables 31.12.2018 11 610 7 416 1 376 2 783 35 
Trade receivables 31.12.2019  2 929 1 461 1 123 270 75 
 
For details regarding the Group's procedures on managing credit risk, reference is made to note 4.5. 
 

Note 2.5 – Other current assets  
NOK 1000   
Other current assets 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Pre-payments 8 523          1 852 
Deposits 4 860 3 168 
Other current assets 238 1 021 
Total other current assets 13 621 6 041 
 

Note 2.6 – Trade and other payables  
NOK 1000   
Trade and other payables 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Trade payables 6 300 7 874 
VAT payable 1 688 2 414 
Withholding payroll taxes and social security 2 514 648 
Total trade and other payables 10 503 10 936 
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14-30 day terms. For an overview of the 
term date of trade and other payables, reference is made to note 4.2. 
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Notes 3 – Asset base 

Note 3.1 – Property, plant and equipment 
 

NOK 1000   
 

Property, plant and equipment 
Fixtures and fittings, tools, 

office machinery etc. 

 

Total 
Acquisition cost 01.01.2018 1 354 1 354 
Additions                          982 982 
Disposals   
Currency translation effects   
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 2 336 2 336 
Additions                      76            76   
Disposals   
Currency translation effects   
Acquisition cost 31.12.2019 2 412        2 412 

 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 01.01.2018 

 
1 056 

 
1 056 

Depreciation for the year 274 274 
Currency translation effects   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31.12.2018 1 330 1 330 
Depreciation for the year 381 381 
Currency translation effects - - 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31.12.2019 1 711 1 711 

  
Carrying amount 31.12.2018 1 006 1 006 
Carrying amount 31.12.2019 701 701 

 

Economic life of 3-5 years   
Depreciation plan: Straight line   
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Note 3.2 – Intangible assets  
NOK 1000   

 
 
Intangible assets 

 
Acquired 

Technology 

Other 
intangible 

assets 

 
 

Total 

Acquisition cost 01.01.18 14 111 1 016 15 126 
Additions - 5 576 5 576 
Currency translation effects -   
Acquisition cost 31.12.18 14 111 6 592 20 703 
Additions - 7 960 7 960 
Currency translation effects - -  
Acquisition cost 31.12.19 14 111 14 552 28 663 

 
Accumulated amortization & impairment 01.01.18 

 
                 8 623 

 
        666 

 
9 289 

Amortization for the year 4 704 489 5 193 
Currency translation effects -   
Accumulated depreciation & impairment 31.12.18 13 327 1 155 14 482 
Amortization for the year 784 5       789 
 Currency translation effects -  - 
Accumulated amortization & impairment 31.12.19 14 111 1 160 15 271 

  
Carrying amount 31.12.2018 784 5 437 6 221 
Carrying amount 31.12.2019 - 13 392 13 392 
Economic life 3 years   3-5 years  
Amortization plan Straight line Straight line  

 
 
Acquired technology 
The Group acquired Language Tools GmbH in March 2016. Management assessed the fair value of technology to 
NOK 14 256 thousand at the acquisition date. The economic useful life was estimated to 3 years as big data 
technical solutions are under continuous development. 

Other intangible assets - research and development 
The Group performs a range of research and development projects related to the Group's technology and 
solutions. Development work of NOK 7 960 was capitalized in 2019. Research and development expenses that 
were not capitalized are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as personnel costs 
and other operating expenses. 
 
 
Note 3.3 – Goodwill  
Goodwill related to the acquisition of Language Tools GmbH in March 2016 was fully written off per 31 
December 2019. The amortization was based on impairment testing at year-end 2019 and triggered by the 
weak performance in the US business. 
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Notes 4 – Capital, equity and finance 

Note 4.1 – Financial instruments 
The following tables shows the various financial assets and liabilities, grouped in the different categories of 
financial instruments according to IFRS 9: 

 

31.12.2019 Financial instruments at amortised cost 
Assets  
Trade receivables (Note 2.4)  2 929 
Other current assets (Note 2.5) 13 621 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4.3) 13 970 
Total financial assets 30 520 

  
Liabilities  
Current liabilities (note 6.1) 47 425 
Non-current liabilities (Note 6.1) 119 389 
Total financial liabilities 166 814 

 

31.12.2018 Financial instruments at amortised cost 
Assets  
Trade receivables (Note 2.4)  11 610 
Other current assets (Note 2.5) 6 041 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4.3) 2 236 
Total financial assets 19 889 

  
Liabilities  
Current liabilities (note 6.1) 52 689 
Non-current liabilities (Note 6.1) 18 299 
Total financial liabilities 70 988 

 
  

Financial assets 
Management assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other current 
assets approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

Financial liabilities  
The fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings are determined by using the DCF method using a discount 
rate that reflects the borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of the Group's loans 
and borrowings are assessed to be in all material aspects similar to carrying amount.  

Capital restrictions 
The Group may not purpose to distribute dividends from ayfie Inc. until the liability to its previous shareholders 
is paid, represented in non-current liabilities to related parties. Reference to note 6.3 for additional disclosures. 
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Note 4.2 – Ageing of financial liabilities  
 
31.12.2019 

 
1 year 

 
3-5 years 

 
Over 5 years 

 
Total 

Current liabilities (Note 6.1) 47 425   47 425  
Non-Current liabilities (Note 6.1)  117 745 1 644 119 389 
Total 47 425 117 745 1 644 166 814 

 

NOK 1000   
 
31.12.2018 

 
1 year 

 
3-5 years 

 
Over 5 years 

 
Total 

Current liabilities (Note 6.1) 52 689   52 689 
Non-Current liabilities (Note 6.1)  16 655 1 644 18 299 

Total 52 689 16 655 1 644 70 988 

 

Note 4.3 – Cash and cash equivalents 
NOK 1000   
Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Bank deposits, unrestricted 
Bank deposits, restricted* 

13 185 
785 

1 452 
784 

Total cash and cash equivalents 13 970 2 236 
 

* Restricted bank deposits relate to cash for withholding taxes which may not be used for other purposes. Cash 
at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

 
Note 4.4 – Financial income and expenses 

NOK 1000   
Financial income and expenses 2019 2018 

 
Financial income 

  

Interest income 232 92 
Foreign exchange gains 1 115  
Other financial income  780 
Total finance income 1 348 872 

 
Financial expenses 

  

Foreign exchange losses 887 331 
Other financial expenses 8 157 476 
Total finance cost 9 044 807 
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Note 4.5 – Financial risk 
The Group is exposed to various risks affecting its financial performance, mainly foreign exchange risk, liquidity 
risk and credit risk. The Group seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of such risks through sound business 
practices. 

Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to currency risk as of the balance sheet date. Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

Foreign currency risk on financing 
The Group has some of its financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency. There is an inherent risk that the 
liabilities to the Group may increase as a result of an appreciation of USD, while the Group's presentation 
currency is NOK. The liabilities are to a large extent to related parties and described in note 4.1, 4.2 and 6.3. 

Foreign currency risk on operations 
The Group’s currency risk on operations is related to the Group’s revenue and operating expenses in foreign 
currency. Employee benefit expenses and other operating expenses are mainly in NOK, USD, EUR and SEK, with 
sales incurring in the same four currencies respectively. ayfie aims to minimize the risk of changes in the value 
of net cash flows arising from foreign currencies. 

The Group is also exposed to currency changes related to the carrying amounts of equity in foreign subsidiaries. 
Changes in the value of equity of foreign subsidiaries are partly offset by financial liabilities in the same currency. 

The Group does not hedge foreign currency exposure with derivatives at the current time but monitors the net 
exposure and may choose to use financial derivatives to limit foreign currency risk in the future. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. 
The future cash flow for the Group is constantly forecasted and owners or other investors are contacted if 
external financing is deemed necessary. Reference is made to note 4.2 for an overview of the maturity profile on 
the Group's financial liabilities 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under contract, leading to a financial loss. 
The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and to a lesser degree 
from its cash deposits with banks in Norway, Germany and the US. For an overview of the ageing of trade 
receivables, reference is made to Note 2.4. 

It is the management's opinion that there is no material credit risk connected to the Group's current assets. 
 

Note 4.6 - Capital Management, equity debt and shareholders 
For the purpose of the Group's capital management, capital includes issued capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
ensure that it maintains a healthy cash flow to cover ongoing operations and maximize shareholder's value over 
time. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or 
acquire debt. Within net debt, the Group includes interest bearing loans and borrowings, less unrestricted cash 
and cash deposits. Net debt is presented below; 
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NOK 1000   
Net debt 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
Less: unrestricted cash and short-term deposits 

102 802 
-13 185  

15 580 
-1 452 

Net debt -89 617 -14 128 
 

Issued capital: 

Issued share capital Number of shares Nominal Value Balance Sheet 
31.12.2017 55 182 575 2 759 2 759 
Issue of share capital 18.07.2018 92 899 2 2 
Issue of share capital 20.08.2018 58 441 3 3 
Issue of share capital 21.12.2018 4 295 452 215 215 
3112.2018 59 629 367 2 981 2 981 
Issue of share capital 08.02.2019 1 079 530 54 54 
31.12.2019 60 708 897 3 035 3 035 

 
 
Each share has a nominal value of NOK 0.05. All issued shares have equal voting rights and the right to receive 
dividend. 

Dividend distribution to shareholders 
The company has not paid dividends in 2019. 

 

  



   

 

 

ayfie Group – 2019 Annual Report 33 

Ownership structure: 

Shareholders as of 31 December 2019 Total shares Ownership Shareholding/Voting 

Citibank, N.A. (nominee accounts)   6 824 672  11 % 11 % 
MERTOUN CAPITAL AS   5 231 418  9 % 9 % 

STAFF HOLDING AS   4 655 097  8 % 8 % 
LANI INVEST AS   2 588 536  4 % 4 % 
KARENSLYST ALLE 5 AS   2 380 000  4 % 4 % 
LEIJO AS   2 327 440  4 % 4 % 

JESSE INVEST AS   2 235 419  4 % 4 % 
LAST INVEST AS   1 943 682  3 % 3 % 
HÜBERT   1 896 282  3 % 3 % 
HØYLANDET BYGGUTLEIE AS   1 527 728  3 % 3 % 

TERSUS AS   1 370 433  2 % 2 % 
CLEARSTREAM BANKING S.A. (nominee accounts)   1 367 208  2 % 2 % 
TRANQUILLE INVESTMENTS LLC   1 232 560  2 % 2 % 
WANI INVESTERING AS   1 220 719  2 % 2 % 

JSQ AS   1 201 865  2 % 2 % 
ARVARIUS AS   1 156 379  2 % 2 % 
VESTLAND INVEST AS   1 155 000  2 % 2 % 
EKER GROUP AS   1 140 068  2 % 2 % 

KNARTEN HOLDING AS   1 000 236  2 % 2 % 
LEIF HÜBERT AS    968 863  2 % 2 % 

Other shareholders  17 285 291  28 % 28 % 

Total  60 708 896  100 % 100 % 
 

Reconciliation of equity is shown in the statement of changes in equity. 

At the end of the financial year, members of the Board and executive employees held shares in the parent 
company, representing the following ownership: 

Ownership interests held by Board Members and Executive Management: Ownership 
Board of Directors 10 % 
Former CEO 2 % 
Total 12 % 
 

There were 4 127 469 warrants with a NOK 11.80 strike price and 3 425 333 warrants with a NOK 26.20 strike 
price 31 that lapsed 31 December 2019. 
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Note 4.7 – Performance share plan 
ayfie Group AS has equity settled share option programs for employees in the Group. The program is an incentive 
program implemented in September 2017 and includes both Executive Management, Board of Directors and 
other employees in the Group. On average, the three option tranches vests in approximately 1, 2 and 3 years. 
Options granted expire approximately four years from the balance sheet date 31 December 2019. No options 
were called as of 31 December 2019. 

The share option program has a strike price of NOK 6.5 per share. The convertible loan issued in April 2019 had 
initially a conversion price of NOK 3 per shares. In the private placement and subsequent offering in Q1 2020 the 
share price was set to NOK 0.1 per share. As a consequence of the pricing in the Q1 2020 share issues, the 
conversion price of the convertible loan was at the same time changed to NOK 0.1 per share. Based on the current 
pricing of the company that the reflects the company’s financial status and performance, it is assumed that it is 
unlikely that options will be exercised. The company is therefore currently considering a new incentive program. 

 

Notes 5 – Capital, equity and finance  

Note 5.1 – Taxes 
NOK 1000 2019 2018 
Current income tax expense:   
Tax payable  - 
Change deferred tax/deferred tax assets 212 -1 398 
Total income tax expense 212  -1 398 
   
Tax payable 2019 2018 
Profit before taxes 
Permanent differences* 
Change in temporary differences 

-111 683 
40 628 

1 331 

-60 325 
57 

4 024 
Tax basis -69 724 -54 245 
Current taxes according to statutory tax rate 22% (23% 2018) 0 0 
   
Deferred tax liabilities/Assets 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Property, plant and equipment 22 846 
Other current assets -2 079 -1 943 
Other temporary differences 439 457 
Losses carried forward (including tax credit) -665 295 -601 350 
Basis for deferred tax liabilities (assets): -666 914 -601 990 
 
Calculated deferred tax 

 
-174 474 

 
-129 061 

- Deferred tax assets not recognized 174 584 129 404 
Deferred tax liability in the balance sheet 110 343 
Deferred tax asset in the balance sheet   

 

The Group's operations are subject to income tax in various foreign jurisdictions. The statutory income tax rates 
vary from 21 percent to 30 percent which results in a difference between the statutory income tax rate in Norway 
and the average tax rate applicable to the Group. The average tax rate for the Group's deferred tax assets are 
21.4 percent and 21.4 percent for 2018. A reconciliation of the differences between the theoretical tax expense 
under the rate applicable in Norway and the actual tax expense is as follows: 
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Reconciliation of income tax expense 2019 2018 
Profit before taxes -111 683 -60 325 
Expected tax expense (Norway tax rate) -25 687 -13 875 
Permanent differences1 8 938 12 
Effects of foreign tax rates 24 570 942 
Effects of changes in tax rate2 21 387 1 445 
Effect of deferred tax asset not recognized 10 077  10 077 
Recognized income tax expense 19 286 -1 398 
 

1 Permanent differences are related to Skattefunn, costs related grants and non-deductible costs. 

2 Norway changed the corporate tax rate from 23 percent to 22 percent in 2019 and from 24 percent to 23 
percent in 2018. 

The Group has NOK 665 295 thousand (NOK 601 350 thousand in 2018) of tax losses carried forward. These losses 
relate to companies that have a history of losses and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the 
Group. Of the tax losses carried forward NOK 183 440 thousand do not expire, while NOK 481 855 thousand 
related to losses in the US subsidiary begin to expire in 2030. The subsidiaries neither have any taxable temporary 
difference nor any tax planning opportunities available that could partly support the recognition of these losses 
as deferred tax assets. On this basis, the Group has determined that it cannot recognize deferred tax assets on 
the tax losses carried forward. 

If the Group was able to recognize all unrecognized deferred tax assets as of the balance sheet date, equity would 
have increased by approximately NOK 174 584 thousand. 
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Notes 6 - Other disclosures 
Note 6.1 – Provisions and other liabilities 
 
 
 

 
1 Deferred purchase consideration relates to the acquisition of Language Tools GmbH in March 2016 
 
In April 2019 ayfie raised a convertible loan of NOK 87.0 million to strengthen the Group’s cash situation, and a 
short term shareholder loan of NOK 15.8 million was also converted into a convertible loan. The total convertible 
loan of NOK 102.8 million has 5 years maturity and bear an annual interest of 4.5% + 3 months NIBOR. The 
conversion price was set to NOK 3 per shares. However, as a consequence of the share increases in Q1 2020, the 
conversion rate was fixed at NOK 0.1 per share. 
 
The convertible loan notes are tradable.  
 
 
Note 6.2 – Commitments and contingencies  
Lease commitments - Group as lessee 
The Group has entered into lease agreements through its operations in Norway, Sweden, Germany and the US. 
The lease agreements mainly relate to office buildings. The terms of the agreements are between 3 months and 
5 years. The Group has the right but not the obligation under some of its lease agreements, to lease the assets 
for additional terms of one to three years. The Group assesses at lease commencement, and subsequently when 
facts and circumstances which under the control of the Group require it, whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise these options and reflects this in the lease term. The Group has estimated that the potential future lease 
payments, should it exercise these extension options, would result in an increase in lease liability of NOK 9.1 
million. There are no restrictions placed upon the Group as a result of entering into these leases. 

The Group has applied the recognition exemption for short term leases (lease term of 12 months and less) and 
leases of assets with low value.  

  

NOK 1000   
Current liabilities Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Contracted liabilities 4.1, 4.2 14 861 12 562 
Salaries and other personnel related costs 4.1, 4.2 2 471 3 519 
Other short-term liabilities 4.1, 4.2 19 598  1 911 
Deferred purchase consideration (seller’s credit)   4.1      10 495 16 744 
Total Current liabilities 47 425 34 736 
   
Non-Current liabilities 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Convertible loan 102 803  
Deferred purchase consideration (seller’s credit)1 4.1  6 543        7 499 
Non-current lease liabilities 10 043  
Total Non-Current liabilities 119 389        7 499 
    
Non-Current provisions 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Share options  4.7  657 
Total Non-Current provisions  657 
   
Non-current provisions and liabilities 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
Total non-current provisions and liabilities 119 389 657 
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Right-of-use assets Buildings Total 
01.01.2019  18 726 18 726 
Addition of right-of-use assets  991 991 
Disposals  0 0 
Transfers and reclassifications  0 0 
Currency exchange differences  309 309 
31.12.2019 20 026 20 026 
      
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 01.01.2019   0 
Depreciation 5 704 5 704 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31.12.2019 5 704 5704 
      
Carrying amount of right-of-use assets 31.12.2019 14 322 14 322 
      
Lease liabilities     
      
Undiscounted lease liabilities and maturity of cash outflows   Total 
Less than 1 year   4 816 
1-2 years   4 724 
2-3 years   3 172 
3-4 years   2 147 
4-5 years    
More than 5 years    
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31.12.2019   14 859 

   
   
Summary of the lease liabilities   Total 
At initial application 01.01.2019  18 726 
New lease liabilities recognised in the year  991 
Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability  -6 526 
Cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability   
Interest expense on lease liabilities  1 385 
Currency exchange differences  2 83 
Total lease liabilities at 31.12.2019  14 859 
Current lease liabilities   4 816 
Non-current lease liabilities   10 043 
Total cash outflows for leases  4 857 

 

Assets pledged as security and guarantee liabilities 
The Group has pledged assets in ayfie Inc. as security for its liabilities related to the seller’s credit from the 
Language Tools GmbH acquisition in March 2016. Reference is made to note 6.3.  

Contingent assets and liabilities 
The Group has no contingent assets or liabilities that meet the criteria for disclosure. 

 
Note 6.3 – Related party transactions 
Related parties are shareholders, Board Members and Executive Management in the parent company and the 
Group subsidiaries. Note 1.1 provides information about the Group’s structure, including details of the 
subsidiaries and the Parent company. The agreements on remuneration for Executive Management appear in 
note 2.2. 
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All transactions within the Group or with other related parties are based on the principle of arm's length. 

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties 
(outside the Group) for the relevant financial year: 

NOK 1000   
Related party transactions and balances for 2019 Executive 

Management 
Share- 

holders 
Board of 
Directors 

Total 2019 

Non-current liabilities to related parties 31.12.2019 6 543   6 543 
Current liabilities to related parties 31.12.2019 10 495  10 495 
 

NOK 1000   
 
Related party transactions and balances for 2018 

Executive 
Management 

Share- 
holders 

Board of 
Directors 

Total 2018 

Non-current liabilities to related parties 31.12.2018 17 298   17 298 
Current liability to relates parties 31.12.2018 7 017  7 017 
 

Non-current liabilities to related parties at 31 December 2019 are seller’s credit of NOK 4 899 thousand from the 
acquisition of Language Tools GmbH in March 2016 due in March 2021 and debt in ayfie Inc. of NOK 1 644 
thousand to a set of existing or former shareholders dating back to 2014 when ayfie Inc. was the parent company 
of the Group. The latter loan, that was reduced by NOK 7 017 thousand in 2019 through a debt/equity conversion, 
will be payable only when the Board of ayfie Inc. decides to pay a dividend. As there is currently no intention to 
make dividend payments from ayfie Inc., the liability is classified as a non-current liability.  

Current liabilities as of 31 December 2019 is seller’s credit in from the acquisition of Language Tools GmbH in 
March 2016, NOK 5 679 thousand due in April 2020 and NOK 4 816 thousand due in November 2020. 

 
Note 6.4 – Events after the reporting period 
 
NOK 54.9 million was raised in Q1 2020 through share issues at NOK 0.1 per share, NOK 50.0 million in February 
in a private placement and NOK 4.9 million in a subsequent offering in March 2020. Net proceeds from the 
combined capital amounted to NOK 52.0 million. 

On 24 February 2020 an extraordinary shareholder meeting elected a new board: 

• Lars Boilesen, chairman 
• Jostein Devold 
• Martin Nes 
• Lars Nilsen 
• Jan Chr. Opsahl 
• Øystein Stray Spetalen 

On 19 March 2020 the board terminated Erik Baklid’s employment as CEO with immediate effect. The Group’s 
CTO Johannes Stiehler was appointed acting CEO.  
 
On 19 March 2020 the board initiated a reorganization of the company, and several restructuring measures 
were implemented to ensure cost reductions and improved cash flows.  
 
The outbreak of the corona-virus disease (COVID-19) has had a global impact on health and economic activities. 
For the time being, ayfie is essentially operating as normal, although the majority of employees have been 
working from home since mid-March 2020. However, the lock-down situation is impacting the reorganizational 
processes as well as sales activities. It is currently too early to assess the mid-term and long-term effects of the 
COVID-19. 
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Statement of comprehensive income parent company 
For the years ended 31 December 

 

 

Amounts in NOK 1000 Notes 2019 2018 
 
Revenue and other operating income    
  Revenue  1 471  

Total revenue and other operating income  1 471  

Cost of sales    
  Cost of Sales  0  
Gross Profits  1 471  
Operating Expenses    

Personnel expenses 3,4 3 810 3 414 
Other operating expenses 5.1 5 494 26 143 
Depreciation and amortization  100  

Total operating expenses 9 404 29 557 
Operating profit or loss -7 933 -29 557 
Finance income and costs    

Income on investment in subsidiaries  3 792 1 880 
Interest income from Group companies  6 686 2 297 
Other finance income 5.2 1 245 3 992 
Interest paid to Group companies  464 107 
Other finance expenses 5.2 167 718 648 

Profit or loss before tax -164 392 -22 143 
Income tax expense 6   

Net loss for the year -164 392 -22 143 
Allocated as follows    
Transferred from other equity 164 392 -22 143 
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Statement of financial position parent company 
 

 

 

Amounts in NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 
ASSETS    
Intangible assets          7   

ayfie technology  13 384 5 423 
ERP system   200 299 

Total intangible assets      13 584 5 722 
Financial assets     

  Investment in subsidiaries 9              8 341             8 341 

  Loan to Group companies   8                  0            98 423 
Total financial assets   8 341 106 764 
Total non-current assets 21 925  112 486 
Current assets    

Trade receivables 8       932 
Other current assets  5 904 127 
Receivables in Subsidiaries 8 6 279 1 880 
Cash and cash equivalents 2 2 176 290 

Total current assets 14 360 3 229 
TOTAL ASSETS 36 285  116 015 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Equity    

Issued share capital 11 3 035 2 981 
Share premium  161 220 154 257 
Other capital reserves  1 490     1 490 
Other equity  -256 209 -91 817 

Total equity        -90 464 66 911 
Non-current liabilities    

Liabilities to subsidiaries   9 957 5 810 
Other non-current provisions and liabilities 12 102 803 0 

Total non-current liabilities 112 760 5 810 
 

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables        3 307 25 854 
Current liabilities to related parties     7 125 254 
Other current liabilities 10 3 557 17 187 

Total current liabilities 13 989  42 294 
   
Total liabilities              126 749 49 105 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  36 285 116 015 
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Oslo, 25 May 2020 
The Board and CEO of ayfie Group AS 

 
 

Sign.  Sign. 
Lars Boilesen 

Chairman 
 Jostein Devold 

Board member 
 
 

Sign. 

 
 
 

 
 

Sign. 
Martin Nes 

Board member 
 Lars Nilsen 

Board member 
 

 

Sign.  Sign. 
Jan Opsahl 

Board member 
 Øystein Stray Spetalen 

Board member 
 

 

Sign.  
Johannes Stiehler 

Acting chief executive officer 
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Notes to the financial statements - Parent company 
 

 

Note 1 - Accounting Principles 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally 
accepted accounting principles for small enterprises. 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries is valued by the cost method in the company accounts. The investment is valued as cost of acquiring 
shares in the subsidiary, providing that write down is not required. Write down to fair value will be carried out if 
the reduction in value is caused by circumstances which may not be regarded as incidental and deemed necessary 
by generally accepted accounting principles. Write-downs are reversed when the cause of the initial write-downs 
are no longer present. 

Dividends and other distributions are recognized in the same year as appropriated in the subsidiary accounts. If 
dividends exceed withheld profits after acquisition, the exceeding amount represents reimbursement of invested 
capital, and the distribution will be subtracted from the value of the acquisition in the balance sheet. 

Balance sheet classification 
Net current assets comprise creditors due within one year, and entries related to goods circulation. Other entries 
are classified as fixed assets and/or long-term creditors. 

Current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and fair value. Short term creditors are recognized at 
nominal value. 

Fixed assets are valued by the cost of acquisition, in the case of non-incidental reduction in value the asset will 
be written down to the fair value amount. Long term creditors are recognized at nominal value. 

Foreign currency translation 
Foreign currency transactions are translated using the year end exchange rates. 

Pensions 
The pension contributions are charged to expenses as they are incurred. 

Income tax 
Tax expenses in the profit and loss account comprise both tax payable for the accounting period and changes in 
deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at 22 percent on the basis of existing temporary differences between 
accounting profit and taxable profit together with tax deductible deficits at the year end. Temporary differences, 
both positive and negative, are balanced out within the same period. Deferred tax assets are recorded in the 
balance sheet to the extent it is more likely than not that the tax assets will be utilized. 

To the extent Group contribution is not registered in the profit and loss, the tax effect of Group contribution is 
posted directly against the investment in the balance. 

Share based payment 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments. This program is 
measured at fair value at the date of the grant. The estimated cost at the grant date is recorded as a capital 
investment in its subsidiaries and directly against equity over the vesting period. This estimate is based on the 
Company’s assumptions of when and if the shares vest, adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting 
conditions. The fair value share-based program is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected 
life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. 
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Intangible assets 
For assessment of intangible assets, reference is made to note 1.3 in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Note 2 - Bank deposit 
The company have the following restricted cash: 

NOK 1000    
Restricted cash 2019 2018 
Withholding tax account  
Deposit 

169 
300 

149 
300 

Total restricted cash 469 449 

 

Note 3 - Personnel expenses and auditor fee 
NOK 1000    
Personnel expenses 2019 2018 
Salaries1 3 416 2 915 
Social security tax 166 403 
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 126 92 
Other personnel costs 102 4 
Total personnel expenses 3810 3 414 
Full time equivalent employees as of 31.12.2019 3 2 

  
1 Including board compensation. Reference is made to note 2.2 in the consolidated financial statements. 

Personnel costs was adjusted for reduced social security costs related to the share option program NOK 331 
thousand. 
 

Benefits to the CEO 
The CEO of ayfie Group AS was in 2019 employed by ayfie Inc. For specification on remuneration and other 
benefits, reference is made to note 2.2 in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Audit Fee 
 
NOK 1000 

Auditor related fees         2019 

Fees for audit1     521 
Fees for other services2    71 

Total remuneration to the auditor       592 
 
1 Including audit of the subsidiaries ayfie Inc. and ayfie GmbH. 
2 Including services related to debt/equity conversion in January 2019 and convertible loan in April 2019  
 
Note 4 – Pensions 
The Company is required to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance with Norwegian legislation 
("Lov om Obligatorisk Tjenestepensjon"). The Company's pension arrangements fulfil the requirements of this 
legislation. 
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Note 5.1 – Other operating expenses 
NOK 1000    
Other operating expenses 2019 2018 
Professional services  850 2 049 
IT expenses 
Other operating expenses 

3 084 
1 560 

    20 699  
3 395 

Total other operating expenses 5 494 26 143 

 
 
Note 5.2 – Financial income and expenses 

NOK 1000   
Financial income and expenses 2019 2018 
Financial income   
Income on Investment in subsidiaries 3 792 1 880 
Interest income from Group companies  6 686 2 297 
Interest income 196 6 
Foreign exchange gains 1 049 3 986 
Total finance income 11 723 8 169 

 Financial expenses   
Interest paid to Group companies 464 107 
Foreign exchange losses 0 424 
Interest 5078 220 
Write-down of loan to subsidiaries 161 678  
Other financial expenses 963 4 
Total finance cost 168 183 755 
 

Note 6 – Taxes 
NOK 1000   

Tax base estimation 2019 2018 
Ordinary result before tax -164 392 -21 143 
Permanent differences  157 889 -1 880 
Transaction costs posts to equity - - 
Change in temporary differences 37 -90 
Tax base -6 466 -23 113 

   

Temporary differences outlines 2019 2018 
Fixed assets 37 90 
Net losses carried forward     -38 095 -31 592 
Total after net losses carried forward     -38 058     -31 503 
Differences not included in deferred tax base     -38 058     -31 503 
Total - - 
 Calculated deferred tax -8 380 -5 423 
 Deferred tax assets not recognized 8 380 5 423 
 Deferred tax asset (-) / Liability (+) - - 
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Note 7 – Intangible assets 
NOK 1000 
 
Intangible assets 

Acquired 
Technology 

Other intangible 
assets 

 
Total 

Acquisition cost 01.01.18    
Additions 5 423 299 5 576 
Acquisition cost 31.12.18 5 423 299 5 722 
Additions 7 961  7 961 
Acquisition cost 31.12.19 13 384 299 13 583 

 
Accumulated amortization & impairment 01.01.18 

   

Amortization for the year    
Accumulated depreciation & impairment 31.12.18    

Amortization for the year  100 100 
Accumulated amortization & impairment 31.12.19  100 100 

    

Carrying amount 31.12.2018 5 722 299 5 576 

Carrying amount 31.12.2019 13 384 199 13 483 

Economic life 3 years   3-5 years  
Amortization plan Straight line Straight line  

 

Intangible assets consist of external research and development costs from the development of ayfie products. 

All internal research and development are recorded as costs.  

 

Note 8 – Related party transactions 
For information on related party transactions for the Group, reference is made to note 6.3 in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

NOK 1000   
 
Related party transactions and balances  2019 2018 

Intercompany loans 
Dividend from ayfie AB 
Other receivables   

0 
3 792 
2 487 

98 423 
1 880 

932 
Total 6 2796 

 
101 235 

 Intercompany loans payable   
 Total 9 957 5 810 
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Note 9 – Investment in subsidiaries 
NOK 1000      
Company and location Acquisition  

date 
Ownership share/ 

Voting rights 
Net profit  

2019 
Equity  

31.12.19 
Book value 

31.12.19 
ayfie AS (Norway) 01.03.2017 100 %      2 594        6 137 372 
ayfie Inc. (USA) 20.02.2017 100 % - 87 305 -131 255 935 
ayfie AB (Sweden) 08.03.2018 100 % 96 47 7 034 
ayfie GmbH (Germany)1    -31 199 -45 154   
Total           -116 828 -170 255 8 341 

 
1 ayfie Inc. owns all shares in ayfie GmbH 

 
Note 10 – Other short-term liabilities 
NOK 1000    
Other short-term liabilities 2019 2018 
Shareholder loan 0 15 588 
Other short-term liabilities 3 557 1 599 
Total other short-term liabilities 3 557 17 187 
 
 

Note 11 - Equity and shareholders 

 Issued share 
capital  

Share 
premium 

Other capital 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total  
equity  

Opening balance 01.01.2018 2 759   124 475  1 490 -69 675 59 049 
Loss for the year     -22 143 -22 143 
Issue of shares      222  29 782   30 004 
Balance as of 31 December 2018 2 981 154 257 1 490 -91 817 66 911 
 

 Issued share 
capital  

Share 
premium 

Other capital 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total  
equity  

Opening balance 01.01.2019 2 981  154 257  1 490 -91 817 66 911 
Loss for the year    -164 392 -164 392 
Conversion of shareholder loan       54 6 963   7 017 
Balance as of 31 December 2019 3 035 161 220 1 490 -256 209 -90 464 

 

Reference is made to note 4.6 in the consolidated financial statements for information on the Company's share 
capital and shareholders including Executive Management and the Board's equity interests. 

 
Note 12 - Convertible loan 

Reference is made to note 6.1 in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 13 – Events after the reporting period 
 
NOK 54.9 million was raised in Q1 2020 through share issues at NOK 0.1 per share, NOK 50.0 million in February 
in a private placement and NOK 4.9 million in a subsequent offering in March 2020. Net proceeds from the 
combined capital increases ? amounted to NOK 52.0 million. 

On 24 February 2020 an extraordinary shareholder meeting elected a new board: 

• Lars Boilesen, chairman 
• Jostein Devold 
• Martin Nes 
• Lars Nilsen 
• Jan Chr. Opsahl 
• Øystein Stray Spetalen 

On 19 March 2020 the board terminated Erik Baklid’s employment as CEO with immediate effect. The Group’s 
CTO Johannes Stiehler was appointed acting CEO.  
 
Reference is made to note 6.4 in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Auditor’s report 
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Contact 
 
CFO Siw Ødegaard 
 
ayfie Group AS 
Karenslyst Allé 49 · 0279 Oslo · Norway 
 
Mobile: +47 95 75 98 48 
Mail: siw.odegaard@ayfie.com  
Web: www.ayfie.com   

mailto:siw.odegaard@ayfie.com
http://www.ayfie.com/
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2018 Highlights  
 

 

 

• NOK 48.9 million in total revenue, up 42 percent from 2017 

• NOK 35.4 million in recurring revenue, up 74 percent from 2017 

• NOK 68 million in contracted annual recurring revenue at year-end, up 152 
percent from 2017 

• Signed contracts with lighthouse customers in the legal, legal services and 
financial industries  

• Strategic shift from customer driven implementations to scalable solutions 
and implementations 

• Development of the products Locator for Knowledge Management, 
Inspector for Relativity and Document Analyzer for Intelligent Character 
Recognition and Data Extraction ready for launch in 2019   

 
 

Oslo 
London 

Stockholm 

Munich 

Denver 

New York 

Gliwice 
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Report from the Board of Directors 
Revenue growth and strategic developments 
After receiving positive market response for the new Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) based ayfie 
technology in late 2017, the main focus in 2018 was to outline the market potential, signing 
lighthouse customers, defining a clear product strategy and eventually start productization of the 
ayfie solutions, which help businesses access, organize, extract and analyze their data accurately and 
efficiently.  

 
 

Locations, business overview and operations 
ayfie Group AS (“the Company”) is the parent company of the ayfie Group (“the Group” or “ayfie”) and 
is located in Oslo, Norway. The Company owns 100 percent of the shares in ayfie AS in Norway, ayfie 
AB in Sweden, ayfie GmbH in Germany and ayfie Inc. in the United States (“US”).  

The Nordic and US companies are the sales and business development entities of the Group, whereas 
the German entity is the research and development (“R&D”) hub of the Group. 

ayfie provides AI enhanced solutions based on proprietary linguistics, machine learning, smart search 
and text analytics for the legal, legal services, finance and publishing industries. ayfie’s technology and 
solutions are developed by the Group’s highly qualified research and development teams – among 
them computational linguistics experts and computer scientists.  
 

The ayfie technology provides solutions that help businesses to: 

• Unlock unique insight and value from unstructured content spread across multiple systems 
• Find relevant information regardless of file location, format or language 
• Remain compliant with legal regulations such as the General Data Protection Regulation 

(GDPR) 
• Enable knowledge discovery by delivering human-like understanding of entities and core 

topics, as well as, classification of critical, redundant, outdated, trival data (CROT). 
• Power enterprise workflows to speed up innovation and eliminate non-value-added work 

 
After the launch of the technology in late 2017, the immediate focus in 2018 was on identifying user 
cases and work with lighthouse customers to gain industry insights while identifying market potential. 
As the target market was defined, a clear product strategy emerged and a strategic shift from 
customized development cases to products took place in the second half of 2018. 

The Nordic operations achieved profits and positive cash flow in 2018 through solid revenue growth 
and a strategic reorganization, and will continue to build its revenue base and streamlining its 
operations in 2019. The US operation experienced strong revenue growth in 2018, and invested in the 
scaling of its business development and sales organizations to facilitate further growth. There was a 
significant scaling of R&D capacity in 2018, both in the German entity and through the establishment 
of a development team in Poland. Besides continuous development of the core technology and new 
products, there was started a merge of the two technology platforms (the VirtualWorks search engine 
and the ayfie text analysis platform) into one new platform to support ayfie’s new productization 
strategy.    

At year-end 2018, ayfie had a contracted annual recurring revenue base of approximately NOK 68 
million, an increase from NOK 27 million at year-end 2017 representing a growth of 152 percent. The 
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strong growth has been made through signed contract with key customers in both the Nordics and in 
the US. However, part of the contracted annual recurring revenue will kick in during 2019. This is due 
to project kickoff and implementation of certain customers scheduled later in 2019. Furthermore, the 
contracted annual recurring revenue carries a variable component in the form of processing revenue 
derived from our mortgage offering. As this is a newly developed product, recurring revenue will scale 
throughout 2019. As such, ayfie is in the process of building a solid recurring revenue business.  

Furthermore, by the end of 2018 ayfie had developed new products ready for launch in 2019: 

• Locator for Knowledge Discovery helps lawyers turn their data into knowledge resources by 
aggregating enterprise data into a Universal Index™ and making the contents accessible 
anytime, anywhere and across teams. The intuitive search experience allows users to quickly 
and easily find the information they need. The advanced linguistics analysis and Artificial 
Intelligence/Machine Learning on the text-based data allows law firms to leverage their 
historical files in future engagements. This is key to our customers maintaining a competitive 
advantage. 
 

• Inspector for Relativity is an integrated, easy-to-use and best-of-breed tool for litigation that 
deploys in the leading technology stack of Relativity®. It provides a modern and defensible 
approach to exploring and culling the data sets of today’s litigation. ayfie Inspector’s 
linguistics-based feature engineering is a critical differentiation which adds structure to vast 
amounts of text-based content for rapid filtering. With the recent addition of Continuous 
Active Learning, an Artificial Intelligence approach to predicting the relevancy of a particular 
document, ayfie offers state-of-the-art technology solutions to deal with ever-growing data 
sets. 
 

• Document Analyzer for Intelligent Character Recognition and Data Extraction is a cloud-based, 
configurable platform that reads vast collections of homogenous documents, extracting data 
with lightning speed and unmatched granularity and precision.  

 
Market  
ayfie believes the market for AI, smart search and text analytics will expand as the amounts of data 
continues to increase exponentially - a view supported by current market trends and global surveys. 
The legal and legal services, finance and publishing industries continue to represent a major 
opportunity as they attempt to handle large amounts of unstructured data such as contracts, loan 
documents and patient journals. Other industries are about to face similar challenges as data within 
their industry continue to grow. 

ayfie firmly believes the Group has the potential to become a major provider due to the nature of its 
technology and solutions: Firstly, ayfie offers a text analytics solution capable of rapidly providing 
semantic understanding of words, phrases and their relations. Contrary to text analytics solutions 
based solely on machine learning, ayfie’s technology performs semantic analysis of phrases and 
expressions. Thus, on top of providing higher quality analysis, ayfie’s solution can analyze smaller 
amounts of text as there is no need for extensive amounts of data to trace patterns. Secondly, by 
combining its unique language-based text analytics layer with statistical analysis, machine learning and 
other advanced algorithms, ayfie provides superior and faster processing solutions than the 
competition. 
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Outlook 
Moving forward, ayfie’s focus will be on selling existing solutions and its new products to secure 
growth, profits and positive cash flow from its operations. However, continuous development of the 
core technology, solutions  and products is essential as ayfie’s absolute and comparative advantages 
are likely to be challenged as the AI, smart search and text analytics market continues to grow.  

Given the Group’s high level of R&D activities and investments in its business development and sales 
organizations, it is crucial that the Group continues to succeed in signing customers to expand its 
revenue base. It is also essential for the Group to secure efficient delivery processes in order to shorten 
the period from signing of contracts to revenue recognition.  

Ending 2018 with a solid contracted annual recurring revenue base and new market proven products, 
ayfie expects to deliver strong growth in 2019 through selling “what we have today,” constraining costs 
and bolstering its advantage in the AI market.  

 
Financial summary 
(All amounts in brackets are comparative figures for 2017 unless otherwise specifically stated) 

The following financial summary is based on the consolidated financial statements of ayfie Group AS 
and its subsidiaries. The consolidated statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IRFS) as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors believe 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, 
consolidated statement of cash flow, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
accompanying notes provide satisfactory information about the operations, financial results and 
position of the Group and the parent company at 31 December 2018. 

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  
Full year consolidated revenue amounted to NOK 48.9 million (NOK 34.4 million). Recurring revenue 
that amounted to NOK 35.4 million (NOK 20.3 million), consisted of  subscription revenue NOK 25.6 
million (NOK 16.5 million), maintenance/support NOK 2.5 million (3.8 million) and retainer 
development service NOK  7.1 million (NOK 0 million). The 55 percent increase in subscription revenue 
was due to the gradually build-up of the subscription base. Revenue from maintenance/support fell by 
34 percent as previous long term perpetual contracts were shifted to subscription contracts. Retainer 
development revenue, introduced in 2018 in a response to key customers’ requests for continues 
development of their ayfie products, amounted to NOK 7.1 million (NOK 0.0 million). 

Non-recurring revenue of NOK 13.5 million (NOK 13.1 million) consisted of perpetual revenue from 
resellers of NOK 5.8 million (NOK 5.8 million) and professional services /consultancy fees NOK 7.7 
million (NOK 7.3 million) generated by customer specific developments and onboarding of new 
customers. 

Cost of sales NOK 2.3 million (NOK 0.0 million) was services provided by third parties on deliveries to 
some key customers.   

Total operating expenses amounted to NOK 101.6 million (NOK 86.8 million). Personnel expenses of 
NOK 69.7 million (NOK 53.3 million) included negative NOK 0.6 million (NOK 1.5 million) in costs related 
to a share-based payment program established in September 2017. The number of employees 
increased from 49 on 31 December 2017 to 62 on 31 December 2018, and the number of contracted 
labors increased from 6 to 21 during the same period. The majority of the 28 new resources were 
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developers, and there were also some strengthening of the sales and marketing departments. Other 
operating expenses amounted to NOK 31.9 million (NOK 28.3 million).  

Depreciation and amortization expenses amounted to NOK 5.5 million (NOK 5.3 million) and was 
mainly related to depreciation of technology acquired through the acquisition of Language Tools GmbH 
(now ayfie GmbH) in March 2016. 

Financial income of NOK 0.9 million (NOK 0.3 million) was related to interest on bank deposits and 
other financial income. Financial costs of NOK 0.8 million (NOK 0.6 million) consisted mainly of net 
losses on foreign currency transactions. Net financials amounted to NOK 0.1 million (negative NOK 0.3 
million).  

Net loss for the year amounted to NOK 58.9 million (NOK 51.2 million). Total comprehensive income, 
adjusted for exchange differences on translation of foreign operations of negative NOK 0.4 million 
(NOK 1.0 million), gave a total comprehensive income of negative NOK 59.3 million (negative NOK 50.2 
million). 

 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
Total assets amounted to NOK 67.4 million (NOK 102.2 million). The total non-current assets of NOK 
47.5 million (NOK 43.9 million) consisted mainly of goodwill and intangible assets related to the 
acquisition of Language Tools GmbH (ayfie GmbH) in March 2016. Total goodwill amounted to NOK 
40.2 million (NOK 37.7 million), where the change from 2017 to 2018 is related to currency 
fluctuations. There was no impairment of goodwill in 2017 or 2018. Intangible assets of NOK 6.2 million 
(NOK 5.9 million) is related to acquired and developed technology and is amortized over 3 years, which 
constitutes the expected useful life of the asset. Total current assets of NOK 19.9 million (NOK 58.3 
million) consisted of cash NOK 2.2 million (NOK 44.1 million), trade receivables NOK 11.6 million (NOK 
7.3 million) and other currents assets NOK 6.0 million (NOK 6.9 million). NOK 7.4 million (NOK 7.0 
million) of trade receivable were not due per 31 December 2018. Other current assets consisted mainly 
of prepayments from customers of NOK 1.8 million (NOK 1.3 million) and deposits of NOK 3.2 million 
(NOK 4.1 million).  

Total equity and liabilities amounted to NOK 67.4 million (NOK 102.2 million), where the total equity 
of negative NOK 3.6 million (NOK 25.6 million) consisted mainly of share capital and share premium 
totaling NOK 157.2 million (NOK 127.2 million) and retained earnings negative NOK 168.6 million 
(negative NOK 109.7 million). Equity was strengthened by NOK 7.0 million in March 2019 through a 
debt/equity swap. 

Non-current liabilities of NOK 2.8 (NOK 45.4 million) consisted mainly a shareholder loan NOK 1.8 
million (NOK 34.8 million) in ayfie Inc. Current liabilities of NOK 68.3 million (NOK 58.1 million) 
consisted mainly of trade and other payables of NOK 10.9 million (NOK 5.3 million), shareholder loans 
NOK 22.6 million (NOK 0.0 million), deferred revenue of NOK 12.3 million (NOK 11.2 million) and 
seller’s credit from the Language Tools GmbH (ayfie GmbH) acquisition in 2016 of NOK 16.7 million. 

The equity ratio was negative at year end 2018, compared with 25 percent the previous year. Equity 
was strengthened by NOK 7.0 million in March 2019 through a debt/equity swap. In April ayfie raised 
a convertible loan of NOK 87.0 million to strengthen the Group’s cash situation, and a short term 
shareholder loan of NOK 15.8 million was converted into a convertible loan. The loans have 5 years 
maturity and bear an annual interest of 4.5% + 3 months NIBOR.  
  
ayfie had NOK 602.0 million (NOK 537.8 million) of tax losses carried forward. The Group has 
determined not to recognize deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried forward in the 2018 financial 
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statements. If the Group had recorded all unrecognized deferred tax assets, equity would have 
increased by approximately NOK 129.5 million. NOK 157.4.3 million  of the tax losses carried forward 
do not expire, while NOK 443.9 million related to losses in the US subsidiary, ayfie Inc., begin to expire 
in 2030. 

Consolidated statement of cash flow 
Net cash flow from operating activities was negative NOK 52.1 million (negative NOK 48.4 million). Net 
cash flow from investing activities was negative NOK 6.5 million (NOK 0.0 million). Net cash flow from 
financing activities was NOK 16.8 million (NOK 85.3 million). Cash and cash equivalents was NOK 2.2 
million (NOK 44.1 million) at year end.  

 

Equity, shares and shareholders 
Equity decreased from NOK 25.6 million in 2017 to negative NOK 3.6 million in 2018 due to the year’ 
loss of NOK 58.9 million (NOK 51.2 million), issue of share capital NOK 30.0 million (NOK 132.1 million) 
and other comprehensive income negative NOK 0.3 million (NOK 1.0 million).  

At year end 2018, there were approximately 220 shareholders (including estimates for number of 
shareholders behind nominee accounts). ayfie had no own shares in ayfie Group AS. 

 
Financial risks  
ayfie is exposed to financial risk in different areas - mainly currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
The Group seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of such risks through sound business practice.  

Currency risk 
ayfie has a significant portion of its financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. There is an 
inherent risk that the liabilities to the Group may increase as a result of an appreciation of USD, EUR 
and SEK, while the Group's presentation currency is NOK.  

ayfie’s currency risk on operations is related to the Group’s revenue and operating expenses in foreign 
currency. Employee benefit expenses and other operating expenses are mainly in NOK, USD, EUR and 
SEK, with sales incurring mainly in USD, NOK and SEK. ayfie aims to minimize the risk of changes in the 
value of net cash flows arising from foreign currencies.  

ayfie is also exposed to currency changes related to the carrying amounts of equity in foreign 
subsidiaries. Changes in the value of equity of foreign subsidiaries are partly offset by financial 
liabilities in the same currency.  

The Group does not hedge foreign currency exposure with derivatives at the current time but monitors 
the net exposure and may choose to use financial derivatives to limit foreign currency risk in the future. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that ayfie will be unable to meet its obligations associated with operational and 
financial liabilities. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it 
will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Group's reputation.  

ayfie owns its technology, as well the products and solutions it provides, and has a highly scalable 
business model. Customers typically pay subscription upfront – yearly or quarterly.  The Group, 
therefore, has the potential to significantly increase cash flow from operations as sales increase. 



 

ayfie Group – 2018 Annual Report 9 

Future cash flow for the Group is constantly forecasted with owners or other investors being contacted 
if external financing is deemed necessary. ayfie’s investors have over the years been most supportive 
and have contributed in financing developments and acquisitions.  

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under contract, leading to a 
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade 
receivables) and from its cash deposits with banks. It is the management's opinion that there is no 
material credit risk connected to the Group's current assets. 

 

Events after 31 December 2018 
28 January 2019 the extraordinary general meeting decided to deregister the ayfie Group AS share at 
the Norwegian OTC. 

1 March 2019 equity was increased by NOK 7.0 million though a debt/equity swap.  
 
10 March 2019 the seller’s credit of NOK 16.7 million was renegotiated, and due date extended with 
12 months to March 2020.  
 
12 April 2019 a NOK 87 million convertible loan was raised. The loan has 5 years maturity and bear an 
annual interest of 4.5% + 3 months NIBOR. Interest are to be paid quarterly. The Conversion price was 
NOK 3 per share, and the loan note holders can exercise their conversion right 12 months after 12 April 
2019.   
 
12 April 2019 NOK 15.8 million in short term debt to shareholders were converted to convertible loan 
on the same terms as the NOK 87 million convertible loan. 
 
During the second quarter 2019 ayfie Inc. relocated its main office from New York City to Denver to 
facilitate for more cost efficient up scaling of its operations. 

 
Going concern 
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, the Board confirms that the financial statements have 
been prepared under the assumption of going concern and that this assumption is valid. This 
assumption is based on the Group’s financial position after the raise of the NOK  87 million convertible 
loan 12 April 2019, its conversion of the NOK 15.8  million shareholder loan 12 April 2019, its profit 
and cash flow forecasts for the year 2019 as well as its long term strategic forecasts. 

ayfie firmly believes its current technology, products and organization are well prepared to capture a 
major position in the rapidly growing international market for AI based search and text analytics. ayfie 
has built a solid revenue base since the launch of its technology In late 2017. The current volume of 
signed contracts does however not provide sufficient cash flow to ensure a positive net cash flow for 
the Group, and it is crucial that the Group continues to succeed in signing key customers and increasing 
market penetration in order to strengthen the revenue base and achieve positive cash flow from 
operational activities. 

ayfie’s shareholders have over the years been most supportive and have contributed in financing 
developments and acquisitions. 
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Employees 
ayfie aims to be a workplace with equal opportunities and practices gender equality regarding salary, 
promotion and recruiting. As the Group is mainly recruiting sales and technology personnel, 
occupations typically dominated by males, a major portion of the staff is male. At year end 2018 ayfie 
had 62 employees, of which 11 were female. ayfie had 1 female executive manager, and there were 
no women on the Board. 

There was hardly any leave of absence due to illness recorded in 2018, and no incidences nor reports 
of work related accidents resulting in significant material damage or personal injury. 

The working environment is considered to be good and activities to secure a continued positive 
working environment are carried out on an ongoing basis.  

 

Change in Board of Directors  
A new board was elected 28 June 2018. Trond Vernegg was elected chairman, Lars Nilsen was elected 
board member and Jostein Devold was reelected as board member.  

 

Allocation of net loss for the year 
The Board of Directors has proposed the net loss of ayfie Group AS of NOK 24 023 thousand to be 
charged to other equity. The Board of Directors does not propose any dividend payments for 2018. 

 

Oslo, 13 June 2019 
The Board and CEO of ayfie Group AS 

 
 

 

   
Trond Vernegg 

Chairman of the Board 
 Jostein Devold 

Member of the Board 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Lars Nilsen  
Member of the Board 

 Erik Baklid 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the years ended 31 December 
 

 

NOK 1000 Notes 2018 2017 
Revenue and other operating income 

Revenue 2.1 
Other operating income 2.1 

 
48 944 

 

 
33 406 

1 014 
Total revenue and other operating income 48 944 34 421 
Cost of sales 

Cost of sales    
 

2 265 
 

 
 
 

Gross profits 46 679 34 421 
Operating expenses 

Personnel expenses 2.2 
Other operating expenses 2.3 
Depreciation and amortization 3.1,3.2 

Total operating expenses 

 
                  69 736 

31 864 
5 469 

-101 600 

 
                 53 304 

28 279 
5 256 

86 838 
Operating profit or loss -60 390 -52 412 
Finance income and costs 

Finance income 4.4 
Finance costs 4.4 

 
872 
807 

 
257 
584 

Profit or loss before tax -60 325 -52 745 
Income tax expense 5.1 1 398 -1 501 

Net loss for the year - 58 927 -51 244 
 
 
Other comprehensive income 

  

 
Items that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 

 
 

-337 

 
 

999 
Total items that subsequently may be reclassified to profit or loss -337 999 
Other comprehensive income for the period -337 999 
   
Total comprehensive income for the period -59 264 -50 245 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
  
 

 

NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
ASSETS    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 3.1 1 006                       298 
Intangible assets 3.2 6 221                      5 857 
Goodwill 3.3 40 247 37 734 

Total non-current assets 47 474 43 868 
 

Current assets    
Trade receivables 2.4                  11 610 7 312 
Other current assets 2.5 6 041 6 935 
Cash and cash equivalents 4.3 2 236 44 076 

Total current assets 19 888 58 324 
TOTAL ASSETS 67 362  102 192 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Equity    

Issued share capital 4.6 2 981 2 759 
Share premium  154 257 124 475 
Other capital reserves  1 490         1 490 
Currency revaluation reserve  6 260 6 597 
Uncovered losses   -168 614 -109 687 

Total equity                    -3 626 25 634 
 
Non-current liabilities    

Deferred tax liabilities 5.1 343  1 740 
Non-current liabilities to related parties 6.3 17 298 34 833 
Other non-current provisions and liabilities 6.1  658 8 795 

Total non-current liabilities 18 299 45 369 
 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 2.6 10 936 5 326 
Current liabilities to related parties 6.3                  7 017 - 
Other current liabilities 6.1 34 736 25 864 

Total current liabilities 52 689 58 095 
   

Total liabilities 70 988 76 559 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 67 362 102 192 

 
Oslo, 13 June 2019 

The Board and CEO of ayfie Group AS 

   

Trond Vernegg 
Chairman of the Board 

 Jostein Devold 
Member of the Board 

 

  

Lars Nilsen  
Member of the Board 

 Erik Baklid 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Consolidated statement of cash flow 
For the years ended 31 December 
 

 

NOK 1000 Notes 2018 2017 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

   

Profit before tax  -60 325 -52 745 
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flow:    

Depreciation and amortization 3.1,3.2 5 469 5 256 
Net finance income and costs included in financing activities 4.5 65 -257 
Net foreign exchange differences   268 -2 651 
Share based payments 4.7 -640 1 490 

Working capital adjustment: 
   

Changes in trade receivables 2.4 -4 298 -3 440 
Changes in other current assets 2.5 894 -1 559 
Changes in trade and other payables 2.6 5 610 1 910 
Changes in provisions and other liabilities 6.1 852 3 547 

Net cash flows from operating activities -52 086 -48 449 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 

  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3.1 -982 -175 
Investment in intangible assets 3.2 -5 576 -16 
Interest received 4.4 92 232 

Net cash flow from investing activities -6 466 41 
 
Cash flow from financing activities 

  

Proceeds from issuance of equity  1 477 96 398 
Loan from shareholders 6.3 15 300 - 
Deferred purchase consideration paid (Seller’s credit) 4.2, 3.3 - -11 137 
Interests paid 4.4 - - 

Net cash flow from financing activities 16 777 85 260 
 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

  
-41 775 

 
36 851 

Effect of change in exchange rate  -65 -107 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 4.3 44 076 7 332 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 2 236 44 076 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 
 

 

 
 
NOK 1000 

Issued 
share 

capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
capital 

reserves 

Cumulative 
translation 
differences 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total  
equity 

Balance as of 1 January 2017 280 469 253               5 598 -524 340 -49 210 
Profit (loss) for the year     -51 244 -51 244 
Other comprehensive income 
Reclassification due to new parent 
Transaction costs 
Share based payment 

  
-469 253 

-5 172 
 

 
 
 

1 490 

999  
465 897 

999 
-3 636 
- 5172 
1 490 

Issue of share capital 2 479 129 647    132 126 
Balance as of 31 December 2017 2 759 124 475 1 490 6 597 -109 687 25 634 
Profit (loss) for the year     -58 927 -58 927 
Other comprehensive income    -337  -337 
Issue of share capital*  222 29 782    30 004 
Balance as of 31 December 2018 2 981 154 257 1 490 6 260 -168 614 -3 626 
 
 
*Including issue of share capital 21 December 2018 registered in The Register of Business Enterprise 10 January 
2019.  
 
1 March 2019 the equity was increased by NOK 7 017 thousand trough a conversion of debt to equity. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

 

 
Notes 1 – Background Information 
Note 1.1 – Corporate information 
Corporate Information 
The consolidated financial statements of ayfie Group AS and its subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group" or "ayfie") 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors 13 June 2019. ayfie Group AS (“the Company” or “the parent)” is a limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address of its registered office is Karenslyst allé 49, 0279 Oslo. 

Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of ayfie Group AS is comprised of consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flows, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, and related notes. The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by The European 
Union (EU). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 

Presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK), which is also the functional 
currency of the parent company. All figures are rounded to the nearest thousand (000), except when otherwise 
indicated. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

Foreign currencies 
For presentation purposes, balance sheet items are translated from functional currency to presentation currency 
by using exchange rates at the reporting date. Items within total comprehensive income are translated from 
functional currency to presentation currency by applying average exchange rates. If currency rates are fluctuating 
significantly, daily exchange rates are applied for significant transactions. 

Going concern 
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a, the Board confirms that the financial statements have been 
prepared under the assumption of going concern and that this assumption is valid. The assumption is based on 
profit and cash flow forecasts for the year 2019 and ayfie’s long-term strategic forecasts. 

ayfie firmly believes its current technology, products and organization are well prepared to capture a major 
position in the rapidly growing international market for AI based search and text analytics. There is a positive 
development in sales since the launch of its new technology in late 2017. The current volume of signed contracts 
does not provide sufficient cash flow to ensure a positive net cash flow for the Group and it is crucial that the 
Group continues to succeed in signing key customers and increasing market penetration in order to strengthen 
the revenue base and achieve positive cash flow from operational activities. 

ayfie’s shareholders have over the years been most supportive and have contributed in financing developments 
and acquisitions. 

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 
31 December 2018. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
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Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its return. Generally, there is a presumption that 

a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has less 
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

Generally, ayfie Group's presumption is that a majority of voting rights results in control. The Group re-assesses 
whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent as the Group currently has no non-controlling interests. Uniform accounting policies are applied to all 
Group companies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

The Group's interests in subsidiaries are presented below: 

Consolidated entities Office CUR Shareholding Group's voting ownership share 
ayfie AS Norway NOK 100 % 100 % 
ayfie Inc. USA USD 100 % 100 % 
ayfie GmbH* Germany EUR 100 % 100 % 
ayfie AB Sweden SEK 100 % 100 % 
 

* ayfie GmbH merged with VirtualWorks GmbH in January 2018. ayfie GmbH owned all shares in VirtualWorks 
GmbH to the time of the merge. 

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Note 1.2 – Estimates, judgments and assumptions 
Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
In connection with the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, the management has made 
assumptions and estimates about future events and applied judgements that affect the reported values of assets, 
liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in 
future periods. The assumptions, estimates and judgements are based on historical experience, current trends 
and other factors that the Group’s management believes to be relevant at the time the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, are described below: 

Business combinations 
Fair value 
In a business combination, the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed are valued at fair value at the time of 
acquisition. The various assets and liabilities are valued on the basis of different models, requiring estimates and 
assumptions to be made. Goodwill is the residual in this type of purchase price allocation. Errors in estimates 
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and assumptions can lead to an error in the split of the value between the various assets and liabilities, including 
goodwill, but the sum of the total excess values will always be consistent with the purchase price paid.  

Useful life 
The useful lives of the intangible assets acquired in a business combination are assessed as either finite or 
indefinite and may in some cases involve considerable judgements. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 
are initially measured at fair value and subsequently tested for impairment by assessing the recoverable amount 
of each cash generating unit (CGU) or Group of CGUs to which the intangible assets relate. 

Intangible assets acquired with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period 
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of 
each reporting period. 

Share based payment 
Estimating fair value for share-based payments requires determination of the most appropriate valuation model, 
which depends on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determination of the most 
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option or appreciation right, 
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. For the measurement of the fair value of 
equity-settled transactions with employees at the grant date, assumptions and models used for estimating the 
fair value, reference is made to note 4.7 for disclosures. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. Reference is made to note 5.1 for information on 
the Group's recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets. 
 

Note 1.3 – Significant accounting policies 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes or duty. The Group has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements 
since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude, and is exposed to credit risks. 

Sale 
Recurring revenue from the sale of solutions such as subscriptions is accounted for over the contract period on 
a linear basis. Non-recurring revenue such as professional services is accounted for as consulting services. Such 
consulting services are recognized by reference to the stage of completion. Stage of completion is normally 
measured by reference to labor hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labor hours for the 
consulting services being provided. 

Business combinations 
A business combination is a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more 
businesses. A business consists of inputs and processes applied to those inputs that have the ability to create 
outputs. Determining whether a particular set of assets and activities is a business should be based on whether 
the integrated set is capable of being conducted and managed as a business by a market participant. 

Business combinations are accounted for according to IFRS 3 using the acquisition method, also called purchase 
price allocation (PPA). The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
which is measured at acquisition date fair value according to IFRS 13, and the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in other operating expenses.  
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When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition 
date. 

Goodwill arises in a business combination when the fair value of consideration transferred exceeds the fair value 
of identifiable assets acquired less the fair value of identifiable liabilities assumed. Goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the combination irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units, 
and tested subsequently for impairment. The impairment test is disclosed in note 3.3. 

Sale of PPE 
Revenue from sale of property, plant and equipment items is presented net of costs. 

Interest income 
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial assets classified as AFS, 
interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in finance income in 
the statement of profit or loss. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities 
are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect of taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except: When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss. In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realized, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition 
at that date, are recognized subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The 
adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred 
during the measurement period or recognized in profit or loss. 

VAT 
Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except: When VAT incurred on a purchase of 
assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognized as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. When receivables and payables 
are stated with the amount of VAT included. The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Construction in progress, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment 
and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and the related 
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. The useful lives of 
intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the 
amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the 
intangible assets. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite 
to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss 
when the asset is derecognized. 
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Research and development 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project, which represents 
new applications/technology, are recognized as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available for use or 
sale 

• Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset 
• How the asset will generate future economic benefits 
• The availability of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 

during development 

Initial capitalization of costs is based on management's judgement that technological and economic feasibility is 
confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined milestone according to an 
established project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalized, management makes 
assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the 
expected period of benefits. The assessment of when product development is capitalized is highly subjective, as 
the outcome of these projects may be uncertain. Research and development carried out by the Group’s own 
personnel is not capitalized. 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when 
development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future 
benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. Estimating recoverable 
amounts of assets must in part be based on management’s evaluations, including determining appropriate cash-
generating units, determining discounting rates, estimates of future performance, revenue generating capacity 
of the assets and assumptions of the future market conditions. Reference is made to note 3.2 for an overview of 
capitalized development costs and expensed R&D. 

Group as a lessee 
A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group would be classified as a finance lease. 
The Group as a lessee only has operating leases as of the balance sheet date. These are recognized as operating 
expenses in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Government grants 
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are 
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as income in equal amounts over the expected 
useful life of the related asset. When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant 
are recorded at nominal amounts and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based 
on the pattern of consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments. Government 
grants are disclosed in note 2.1. 

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognized at the invoice amount and subsequently measured at invoice amount less any 
write-downs. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits 
The Group operates a defined contribution pension plan in Norway, which requires contributions to be made to 
a separately administered fund. Contributions have been made to the pension plan for full-time. The pension 
premiums are charged to expenses as they are incurred. 

Share-based payments 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments. This program is 
measured at fair value at the date of the grant. The fair value at the grant date is expensed over the vesting 
period, based on the Company’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest, adjusted for the effect of non-
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market based vesting conditions. The fair value share-based program is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing 
model and assumptions are disclosed in note 4.7. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted based 
on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral 
considerations. Social security tax on options is recorded as a liability. 

Cash and short-term deposits 
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and 
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral 
part of the Group’s cash management. 

Statement of cash flows 
The Company presents the statement of cash flow using the indirect method. Cash inflows and cash outflows are 
shown separately for investing and financing activities, while operating activities include both cash and non-cash 
items. Value added tax and other similar taxes are regarded as collection of tax on behalf of authorities and are 
reported net. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Financial instruments 
Classification of financial instruments 
Financial instruments within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified in the following categories: 

• Loans and receivables: Trade receivables and other current assets 
• Loans and borrowings: Interest bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables 

The classification is dependent on the type of instrument and the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired or originated. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable cash flows that are not 
quoted in an active market. 

The Group does not have financial instruments where fair value is recognized through profit and loss (FVTPL). 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable transaction expenses. 
Subsequently, these instruments are measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method 
(EIR). Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 

Loans and borrowings are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently these liabilities are measured at their amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method (EIR). Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 

  

Note 1.4 – New standards in 2018 
Changes in account principles and disclosure requirements 
New and amended accounting standards and interpretations issued by the IASB may affect the Group's future 
financial reporting. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have 
been issued, but are not yet effective. 
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Replacement of IAS 39 with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and is effective from 1 January 
2018. IFRS 9 includes recognition, classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.  

Under IFRS 9, debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, amortized cost, 
or fair value through OCI. The classification is based on the Group’s business model for managing the assets, 
and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on 
the principal amount outstanding. 

The Group has financial instruments in form of financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at amortized 
costs. 

Adoption of IFRS 9 has not had significant impact on the Group’s classification and measurement of financial 
assets, liabilities and equity instruments. 

Implementation of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers replaces all existing standards and interpretations relating to 
revenue recognition. The core principle of IFRS 15 is for companies to recognize revenue to depict the transfer 
of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, payment) to which the 
company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard applies, with limited 
exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers and establishes a five-step model to account 
for revenue arising from contracts with customers and revenue from some non-financial assets (e.g. revenue 
related to property, plant and equipment). 

IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and 
circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with their customers. The standard also 
specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling 
a contract. In addition, the standard requires extensive disclosures. 

The adoption of IFRS 15 has not changed the principles for revenue recognition in previous periods, and IFRS 15 
has therefore not had impact on the accounts 1 January 2018. 

 
1.5 Standards issued but not yet effective 
IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance 
sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a liability   
to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset 
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest 
expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. IFRS 16 also requires more 
extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is 
permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full 
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.  
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IFRS 16 will be implemented in 2019. The Group will have to recognize several leases on its balance sheet that 
will result in: 

• Increased interest-bearing debt and property, plant and equipment 
• Increased annual depreciation of leased assets 
• Decreased annual lease expenses recognized as operational expenses 

Please refer to note 6.2 for an overview of the total lease commitments in the company.  
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Notes 2 - Operating performance 
Note 2.1 – Revenues and other operating income 
NOK 1000   
Revenue from sales 2018 2017 
Recurring revenue   

Subscription 25 850 16 479 
Maintenance/support 
Retainer Development Service 

2 521 
7 061 

3 845 
0 

Total recurring revenue 35 432 20 324 

   
Non-recurring revenue   

Perpetual 5 841 5 806 
Professional Services/consultancy fees 7 670 7 276 

Non-recurring revenue 13 512 13 082 

Total revenue from sales 48 944 33 406 

 
Recurring revenue 
ayfie’s business model is based on subscriptions, with contract lengths of typically 2-5 years. Retainer 
development agreements of more than 12 months are classified as recurring revenue. 

Non-recurring revenue 
Customer specific development and onboarding of customers is charged at an hourly base and classified as 
professional services. Revenue from resellers of ayfie solutions is classified as perpetual revenue. Such revenue 
has maintenance/support elements classified as recurring revenue. 

NOK 1000   
Geographic information 2018 2017 
Revenues from customers   
Norway 23 437 17 435 
Germany 2 947 4 495 
Sweden 5 368 5 836 
USA 17 192 5 640 
Total revenues 48 944 33 406 
 

NOK 1000   
Other operating income 2018 2017 
Government grants - 1 014 
Total other income - 1 014 
 
 

Note 2.2 – Personnel expenses 
NOK 1000   
Personnel expenses 2018 2017 
Salaries 57 727 42 363 
Social security tax 6 388 5 233 
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 368 436 
Contract labor* 
Cost of share-based payment 

5 308 
-639 

0 
1 490 

Other personnel costs 583 3 781 
Total personnel expenses 69 736 53 304 
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Full time equivalent employees as of 31.12.             62   49 
Contract labor as of 31.12.       21                     6
      
*In the 2017 annual report, contract labor costs of NOK 1.4 million was recorded as professional service costs 
and classified as other operating expenses.  

Pensions 
The Norwegian companies in the Group are obligated to keep an occupational pension scheme pursuant to the 
Norwegian Mandatory Occupational Pensions Act. The Group's pension scheme satisfies these requirements. 

Contributions are paid to pension insurance plans and charged to the income statement in the period to which 
the contributions relate. Once the contributions have been paid, there are no further payment obligations. 

Management and Board remuneration 
 
NOK 1000     
Remuneration to the CEO in 2018 Salary  Pension Other 

remuneration 
Total  

remuneration 
Erik Baklid - CEO 2 362  311 2 673 
 

Benefits to the CEO 
The CEO of the Group is employed by ayfie Inc. and is entitled to regular employee benefits including health 
benefits as presented in the table above and does not have an agreement for severance pay. The CEO takes part 
in the Group's share option programs as described in note 4.7 and own shares in the parent company disclosed 
in note 4.6. 

NOK 1000     
Accrued remuneration to Board Members in 
2018 

   Total 
 remuneration 

Board of Directors    171 
 

Executive Management employed by the Norwegian entities are included in the pension scheme described 
above. 

At the end of the financial year, Members of the Board and Executive Management held shares in the parent 
company. Reference is made to note 4.6 for disclosures on shareholdings. They also take part in the Group's 
share option program and have been granted options, disclosed in note 4.7. 

The Board Members are not subject to agreements for severance pay, bonuses or profit-sharing. No loans or 
pledges have been provided to the Board Members or Executive Management of the Group. 

 
Note 2.3 – Operating expenses 
NOK 1000   
Other operating expenses 2018 2017 
Sales and marketing  3 575 1 839 
Professional services* 6 972 7 475 
Rental and leasing  
IT  
Travel  
Losses 

6 403 
7 298 
3 945 
1 640 

5 068 
4 781 
3 585 

- 
Other operating expenses 2 032 5 531 
Total other operating expenses 31 864 28 279 
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*In the 2017 annual report contract labor of NOK 1.4 million was recorded as professional service costs and 
classified as other operating expenses. In 2018 such costs of the total amount of NOK 5.3 million were classified 
as personnel costs. 

 

Audit fee 
 
NOK 1000 
Auditor related fees         2018 
Fees for audit     875 
Fees for tax services    291 
Fees for other services    673 
Total remuneration to the auditor             1 858 

  
Tax services and other services were mainly related to services carried out in 2018 regarding the reorganization 
of the Group in 2017 and adoption to IRFS in 2017.   
 
All amounts are excluding VAT 
 

Note 2.4 – Trade receivables 
NOK 1000   
Trade receivables 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Trade receivables at nominal value 11 610 7 901 
Expected credit loss - -588 
Total trade receivables 11 610 7 312 
 

As of 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is, as follows: 

NOK 1000 Past due  
Ageing analysis Total Not due < 30 days 31-60 days > 90 days 
Trade receivables 31.12.2017 7 901 7 024 84 198 594 
Trade receivables 31.12.2018 11 610 7 416 1 376 2 783 35 
 

For details regarding the Group's procedures on managing credit risk, reference is made to note 4.5. 
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Note 2.5 – Other current assets 
NOK 1000   
Other current assets 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Pre-payments 1 852                    1 273 
Deposits 3 168 4 075 
VAT -                        142 
Other current assets 1 021 1 446 
Total other current assets 6 041 6 935 
 

Note 2.6 – Trade and other payables 
NOK 1000   
Trade and other payables 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Trade payables 7 874 2 905 
VAT payable 2 414 1 177 
Withholding payroll taxes and social security 648 1 244 
Total trade and other payables 10 936 5 326 

 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14-30 day terms. For an overview of the 
term date of trade and other payables, reference is made to note 4.2. 
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Notes 3 – Asset base 
Note 3.1 – Property, plant and equipment 
NOK 1000   

 

Property, plant and equipment 
Fixtures and fittings, tools, 

office machinery etc. 

 

Total 
Acquisition cost 1.1.2017 1 179 1 179 
Additions                                                    217 217 
Disposals -42 -42 
Currency translation effects 1 1 
Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 1 354 1 354 
Additions                                                   982                         982 
Disposals   
Currency translation effects   
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 2 336                     2 336 

 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1.1.2017 

 
829 

 
829 

Depreciation for the year 227 227 
Currency translation effects   
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31.12.2017 1 056 1056 
Depreciation for the year 276 276 
Currency translation effects - - 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31.12.2018 1 330 1 330 

  
Carrying amount 31.12.2017 298 298 
Carrying amount 31.12.2018 1 006 1 006 
 

Economic life  3-5 years 
Depreciation plan  Straight-line 
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Note 3.2 – Intangible assets  
NOK 1000   

 
 
Intangible assets 

 
Acquired 

Technology 

Other 
intangible 

assets 

 
 

Total 

Acquisition cost 1.1.17 14 111 922 15 032 
Additions - 16  
Currency translation effects - 78  
Acquisition cost 31.12.17 14 111 1 016 15 126 
Additions - 5 576 5 576 
Currency translation effects - -  
Acquisition cost 31.12.18 14 111 6 592 20 703 

 
Accumulated amortization & impairment 1.1.17 

 
                                  3 920 

 
                 305 

 
4 224 

Amortization for the year 4 704 324 5 028 
Currency translation effects - 37 37 
Accumulated depreciation & impairment 31.12.17 8 623 666 9 289 
Amortization for the year 4 704 489             5 193 
 Currency translation effects -  - 
Accumulated amortization & impairment 31.12.18 13 327 1 155 14 482 

  
Carrying amount 31.12.2017 5 487 350 5 838 
Carrying amount 31.12.2018 784 5 437 6 221 
 

Economic life 3 years      3-5 years  
Amortization plan Straight line Straight line  
 

Acquired technology 
The Group acquired ayfie GmbH in March 2016, reference to note 3.3. Management assessed the fair value of 
technology to NOK 14 256 at the acquisition date. The economic useful life is estimated to 3 years as big data 
technical solutions are under continuous development. 

Other intangible assets - research and development 
The Group performs a range of research and development projects related to the Group's technology and 
solutions. Development work of NOK 5 576 was capitalized in 2018. Research and development expenses that  
was not capitalized is  included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as personnel costs and 
other operating expenses. 
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Note 3.3 – Goodwill and impairment considerations 
NOK 1000   
Goodwill Note Goodwill 
  

  
  
Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 37 734 
Currency translation effects 2 513 

Acquisition cost 31.12.2018   40 247 
  
  

Carrying amount 31.12.2017 
Carrying amount 31.12.2018 

37 734 
40 247 

 

Goodwill is related to the acquisition of Language Tools GmbH (ayfie GmbH) in 2016.  

The Group has goodwill which is subject to annual impairment testing. The testing is performed annually 31 
December and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or Group of CGUs) to which 
goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 

The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, 
conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of 
the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If 
no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

ayfie technology - CGU and basis for determining recoverable amount 
For impairment testing, goodwill acquired through the business combination of ayfie GmbH is allocated to the 
existing CGU of ayfie technology. The employees from ayfie are integrated in the Group organization, and 
management monitors the business on this aggregate level. Additionally, ayfie technology is the smallest 
identifiable Group of assets that generates cash inflows to the Group, and these are largely independent of the 
cash inflows from other assets.  

The CGU's recoverable amount has been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal. The fair value has 
been determined by the implicit post-money valuation related to series funding from new third-party investors. 
The transitions used occurred close to the balance sheet dates 

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is higher than its carrying amount and no impairment loss is 
recognized in 2018. The carrying amount of the CGU includes goodwill together with other non-current assets 
and net working capital less deferred tax from technical goodwill. Management believes that no reasonably 
possible change in the key assumptions above would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to materially exceed 
its recoverable amount. 
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Notes 4 – Capital, equity and finance 
Note 4.1 – Financial instruments 
The following tables shows the various financial assets and liabilities, grouped in the different categories of 
financial instruments according to IFRS 9: 

NOK 1000   

 
31.12.2018 

Loans and 
receivables 

Loans and 
borrowings 

 
Total 

Assets 
Trade receivables (Note 2.4) 
Other current assets (Note 2.5) 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4.3) 

 
 11 610 
 6 041 
 2 236 

 
12 175 

5 478 
2 236 

Total financial assets  19 888 - 19 888 
 
Liabilities 

   

Current liabilities (Note 6.1)  34 736 34 736 
Non-current liabilities (Note 6.1)   658 658 
Non-current liabilities to related parties (Note 6.3)  17 298 17 298 
Trade and other payables (Note 2.6)  10 936 10 936 
Total financial liabilities -  63 628 63 628 

 
     

 
31.12.2017 

Loans and 
receivables 

Loans and 
borrowings 

 
Total 

Assets 
Trade receivables (Note 2.4)  
Other current assets (Note 2.5) 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4.3) 

 
 7 312 
 6 935 
 44 076 

 
7 312 
6 935 

44 076 
Total financial assets  58 324 - 58 424 

 
Liabilities 

   

Current liabilities (Note 6.1)  25 864 25 864 
Non-current liabilities (Note 6.1)               7 499 7 499 
Non-current liabilities to related parties (Note 6.3)  34 833 36 833 
Trade and other payables (Note 2.6)  5 326 5 326 
Total financial liabilities - 73 522 73 522 
 

Loans and receivables 
Management assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other current 
assets approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

Loans and borrowings 
The fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings are determined by using the DCF method using a discount 
rate that reflects the borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of the Group's loans 
and borrowings are assessed to be in all material aspects similar to carrying amount. None of the loans or 
borrowings are interest bearing. 
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Capital restrictions 
The Group may not purpose to distribute dividends from ayfie Inc. until the liability to its previous shareholders 
is paid, represented in non-current liabilities to related parties. Reference to note 6.3 for additional disclosures. 

 
Note 4.2 – Ageing of financial liabilities 
 
31.12.2018 

 
1 year 

 
3-5 years 

 
Over 5 years 

 
Total 

Current liabilities (Note 6.1) 18 012   18 012  
Non-Current liabilities (Note 6.1)    - 
Non-current liabilities to related parties (Note 6.3)   17 298 17 298 
Trade and other payables (Note 2.6) 10 936   10 936 
Current liabilities to related parties (Note 6.3)* 7 017   7 017 
Total 35 965  17 298 53 263 

* Seller’s credit of NOK 16 744 thousand due in March 2019 was in March 2019 extended with 12 months to 
March 2020, shareholder loan of NOK 7 016 thousand was converted to equity in March 2019 through a 
conversion of debt to equity and the remaining was converted to a 5-year convertible loan in April 2019.  

 
 
NOK 1000 

  

 
31.12.2017 

 
1 year 

 
3-5 years 

 
Over 5 years 

 
Total 

Current liabilities (Note 6.1) 25 864   25 864 
Non-Current liabilities (Note 6.1)  7 499  7 499 
Non-current liabilities to related parties (Note 6.3)   34 833 34 833 
Trade and other payables (Note 2.6) 5 326   5 326 
Current liabilities to related parties (Note 6.3) -   - 
Total 31 190 7 499 34 833 73 522 

 

 

Note 4.3 – Cash and cash equivalents 
NOK 1000   
Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Bank deposits, unrestricted 
Bank deposits, restricted* 

1 452 
784 

43 147 
929 

Total cash and cash equivalents 2 236 7 332 
 

* Restricted bank deposits relate to cash for withholding taxes which may not be used for other purposes. Cash 
at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 
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Note 4.4 – Financial income and expenses 
NOK 1000   
Financial income and expenses 2018 2017 

 
Financial income 

  
 

232 
25 

Interest income 92 
Other financial income 780 
Total finance income 872 257 

 
Financial expenses 

  

Agio 331 584 
Other financial expenses 476 - 
Total finance cost 807 584 
 

Note 4.5 – Financial risk and capital management 
The Group is exposed to various risks affecting its financial performance, mainly foreign exchange risk, liquidity 
risk and credit risk. The Group seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of such risks through sound business 
practices. 

Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to currency risk as of the balance sheet date. Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

Foreign currency risk on financing 
The Group has a significant portion of its financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency. There is an inherent 
risk that the liabilities to the Group may increase as a result of an appreciation of USD, while the Group's 
presentation currency is NOK. The liabilities are to a large extent to related parties and described in note 4.1, 4.2 
and 6.3. 

The Group's financial liabilities denominated in USD and EUR are presented below together with a sensitivity 
analysis on possible changes to equity and profit & loss before tax if the NOK/USD and NOK/EUR rates would 
have been higher or lower in 2018, holding all other variables constant: 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity Change in  
NOK/USD 

Effect on profit 
before tax 

Effect on 
equity 

31.12.2017 +/- 5% 2 603 2 776 
31.12.2018 +/- 5% 1 579 1 429 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity Change in  
NOK/EUR 

Effect on profit 
before tax 

Effect on 
equity 

31.12.2017 +/- 5% 346 165 
31.12.2018 +/- 5% 716 41 

 

Foreign currency risk on operations 
The Group’s currency risk on operations is related to the Group’s revenue and operating expenses in foreign 
currency. Employee benefit expenses and other operating expenses are mainly in NOK, USD, EUR and SEK, with 
sales incurring in the same four currencies respectively. ayfie aims to minimize the risk of changes in the value 
of net cash flows arising from foreign currencies. 

The Group is also exposed to currency changes related to the carrying amounts of equity in foreign subsidiaries. 
Changes in the value of equity of foreign subsidiaries are partly offset by financial liabilities in the same currency. 
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The Group does not hedge foreign currency exposure with derivatives at the current time but monitors the net 
exposure and may choose to use financial derivatives to limit foreign currency risk in the future. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. 
The future cash flow for the Group is constantly forecasted and owners or other investors are contacted if 
external financing is deemed necessary. Reference is made to note 4.2 for an overview of the maturity profile on 
the Group's financial liabilities. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under contract, leading to a financial loss. 
The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and to a lesser degree 
from its cash deposits with banks in Norway, Germany and the US. For an overview of the ageing of trade 
receivables, reference is made to Note 2.4. 

It is the management's opinion that there is no material credit risk connected to The Group's current assets. 
 

Note 4.6 – Equity and shareholders 
For the purpose of the Group's capital management, capital includes issued capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
ensure that it maintains a healthy cash flow to cover ongoing operations and maximize shareholder's value over 
time. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or 
acquire debt. Within net debt, the Group includes interest bearing loans and borrowings, less unrestricted cash 
and cash deposits. 

NOK 1000   
Net debt 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
Less: unrestricted cash and short-term deposits 

15 580 
                 -1 452 

- 
-43 147 

Net debt -14 128 -43 147 
 

Issued capital: 

Issued share capital Number of shares Nominal Value Balance Sheet 
At 31 December 2016 35 371 935 280 280 
Reclassification due to new parent -35 371 935 -280 -280 
Capital increase 20 February 2017 35 371 935 1 769 1 769 
Capital increase 21 March 2017 4 980 360 249 249 
Issue of share capital 31 March 2017 11 881 780 594 594 
Issue of share capital 11 July 2017 1 155 000 58 58 
Issue of share capital 2 September 2017 1 793 500 90 90 
At 31 December 2017 55 182 575 2 759 2 759 
Issue of share capital 18 July 2018 92 899 2 4 645 
Issue of share capital 20 August 2018 58 441 3 2 922 
Issue of share capital 21 December 2018* 4 295 452 215 90 
At 31 December 2018 59 629 367 2 981 2 981 
 

*Registered in The Register of Business Enterprise 10 January 2019.  
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Each share has a nominal value of NOK 0.05. All issued shares have equal voting rights and the right to receive 
dividend. 

 

Dividend distribution to shareholders 
The company has not paid dividends in 2018. 

Ownership structure: 

Shareholders as of 31 December 2018* Total shares Ownership Shareholding/Voting 
Citibank (nominee accounts) 5 677 089 10 % 10 % 
MERTOUN CAPITAL AS 5 231 418 9 % 9 % 
STAFF HOLDING AS 4 655 097 8 % 7 % 
LANI INVEST 
TORSTEIN INGVALD TVENGE 
LEIJO AS 

2 422 283 
2 370 000 
2 327 440 

4 % 
4 % 
4 % 

4 % 
4 % 
4 % 

JESSE INVEST AS 2 235 419 4 % 4 % 
LAST INVEST AS 1 943 682 4 % 4 % 
HØYLANDET BYGGUTLEIE AS 
CLEARSTREAM BANKING  

1 527 728 
1 367 208 

3 % 
2 % 

3 % 
2 % 

LEIF HÜBERT 1 347 626 2 % 2 % 
WANI INVESTERING AS 1 220 719 2 % 2 % 
VESTLAND INVEST AS 1 155 000 2 % 2 % 
EKER GROUP AS 1 140 068 2 % 2 % 
TERSUS AS 1 130 575 2 % 2 % 
TRANQUILLE INVESTMENTS LLC 1 232 560 2 % 2 % 
JSQ AS 1 201 865 2 % 2 % 
ARVARIUS AS 1 156 369 2 % 2 % 
KNARTEN HOLDING AS 1 000 236 2 % 2 % 
NILS GABRIEL ANDRESEN 819 055 1 % 1 % 
Other shareholders 18 467 930 31 % 31 % 
Total 59 629 367 100 % 100 % 
 

*Including 4.295.452 shares that were issued 21 December 2018 and registered in The Register of Business 
Enterprise 10 January 2019 

Reconciliation of equity is shown in the statement of changes in equity. 

At the end of the financial year, members of the Board and executive employees held shares in the parent 
company, representing the following ownership: 

Ownership interests held by Board Members and Executive Management: Ownership 
Board of Directors 10 % 
CEO 2 % 
Executive Management (excl. CEO) 1 % 
Total 13 % 
 

There were 4 127 469 warrants outstanding with a NOK 11.80 strike price and 3 425 333 warrants outstanding 
with a NOK 26.20 strike price 31 December 2018. All warrants laps at 31 December 2019 

  



 

ayfie Group – 2018 Annual Report 37 

Note 4.7 – Performance share plan 
ayfie Group AS has equity settled share option programs for employees in the Group. The program is an incentive 
program implemented in September 2017 and includes both Executive Management, Board of Directors and 
other employees in the Group. On average, the three option tranches vests in approximately 1, 2 and 3 years. 
No options were called as of 31 December 2018. Options granted expire approximately five years from the 
balance sheet date 31 December 2018. 

The fair value of the options is set on the traded price at grant date and expensed over the vesting period.  

Overview of outstanding options: 
 
 
  Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

Number of 
share options 

Outstanding options 1 January 2018            7 274 181 
Options granted 
Options forfeited 
Options exercised 
Options expired 

 6.5 59 482 
964 115 

- 
- 

Outstanding options 31 December 2018  6.5  6 369 548 
Exercisable at 31 December 2018   2 123 185 
 

  Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Number of 

share options 
Outstanding options 1 January 2017    
Options granted 
Options forfeited 
Options exercised 
Options expired 

 6.5 7 274 181 
- 
- 
- 

Outstanding options 31 December 2017  6.5 7 274 181 
Exercisable at 31 December 2017   0 
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Assumptions used to determine fair value of grants in 2018: 
 
 
Option programs 

 
Expected life of 

options 

 
Exercise price 

NOK 

 
Number of 

share options 
2017 Program - Tranche 1 4.71 6.5 2 123 185 
2017 Program - Tranche 2 4.71 6.5 2 123 186 
2017 Program - Tranche 3 4.71 6.5 2 123 177 
Average and total 4.71 6.5 6 369 548 
 

Pricing model 
The fair value of the options has been calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for European 
options. 

Share price on the grant date 
The share price is set to the last traded price on the grant date. 

The strike price per option 
The strike price is the share price on the grant date. 

Volatility 
The expected volatility is set to 40 percent based on a peer group analysis. 

The term of the option 
The expected life of the share options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily 
indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. It is assumed that 100 percent of the employees will exercise the 
options. 

Dividend 
The estimated dividend per share is NOK 0 per annum. 

Risk-free interest rate 
The risk-free interest rate is set equal to the interest rate on government bonds during the term of the option, 
approximately 1 percent. 

Other disclosures 
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was NOK 0.411. 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as of 31 December 2018 was 
4.75 years. 

Share options held by Executive Management and the Board Number of share 
options 

% of total 

Board of Directors 350 000 5 % 
CEO 1 250 000 20 % 
Executive Management of the Group (Excl. CEO) 3 069 482 48 % 
Total Share options held by Executive Management and The Board 4 669 482 73 % 
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Notes 5 – Capital, equity and finance 
Note 5.1 – Taxes 
NOK 1000 2018 2017 
Current income tax expense:   
Tax payable - - 
Change deferred tax/deferred tax assets -1 398 -1 501 
Total income tax expense -1 398  -1 501 
   
Tax payable 2018 2017 
Profit before taxes 
Permanent differences* 
Change in temporary differences 

-60 325 
57 

4 024 

-52 745 
-6 252 
4 394 

Tax basis -56 245 -54 604 
Current taxes according to statutory tax rate 23% (24% 2017) -12 936 -13 105 
   
Deferred tax liabilities/Assets 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Property, plant and equipment 846 5 436 
Other current assets -1 943 -2 531 
Other temporary differences 457 479 
Losses carried forward (including tax credit) -601 350 -537 850 
Basis for deferred tax liabilities (assets): -601 990 -534 466 
 
Calculated deferred tax 

 
-129 061 

 
-114 716 

- Deferred tax assets not recognized 129 404 116 456 
Deferred tax liability in the balance sheet 343 1 740 
Deferred tax asset in the balance sheet - - 

 

The Group's operations are subject to income tax in various foreign jurisdictions. The statutory income tax rates 
vary from 21 percent to 30 percent which results in a difference between the statutory income tax rate in Norway 
and the average tax rate applicable to the Group. The average tax rate for the Group's deferred tax assets are 
21.4 percent and 21.5 percent for 2017. A reconciliation of the differences between the theoretical tax expense 
under the rate applicable in Norway and the actual tax expense is as follows: 

Reconciliation of income tax expense 2018 2017 
Profit before taxes -60 325 -52 745 
Expected tax expense (Norway tax rate) -13 875 -12 659 
Permanent differences* 12 -1 501 
Effects of foreign tax rates 942 1 339 
Effects of changes in tax rate** 1 445 1 197 
Effect of deferred tax asset not recognized 10 077 10 123 
Recognized income tax expense -1 398 -1 501 
 

* Permanent differences are related to Skattefunn, costs related grants and non-deductible costs. 

** Norway changed the corporate tax rate from 24 percent to 23 percent in 2018 and from 25 percent to 24 
percent in 2017. 

The Group has NOK 601 350 thousand (NOK 537 850 thousand in 2017) of tax losses carried forward. These losses 
relate to subsidiaries that have a history of losses and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the 
Group. Of the tax losses carried forward NOK 157 444 thousand do not expire, while NOK 443 904 thousand 
related to losses in the US subsidiary begin to expire in 2030. The subsidiaries neither have any taxable temporary 
difference nor any tax planning opportunities available that could partly support the recognition of these losses 
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as deferred tax assets. On this basis, the Group has determined that it cannot recognize deferred tax assets on 
the tax losses carried forward. 

If the Group was able to recognize all unrecognized deferred tax assets as of the balance sheet date, equity would 
have increased by approximately NOK 129 400 thousand. 

  



 

ayfie Group – 2018 Annual Report 41 

Notes 6 - Other disclosures 
Note 6.1 – Provisions and other liabilities 
NOK 1000   
Current liabilities Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Deferred revenue 4.1, 4.2 12 562 11 217 
Salaries and other personnel related costs 4.1, 4.2 3 519 2 921 
Other short-term liabilities 4.1, 4.2 1 911 3 718 
Deferred purchase consideration (seller’s credit)    4.1           16 744 8 008 
Total Current liabilities 34 736 25 864 
   
Non-Current liabilities 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Deferred purchase consideration (sellers credit) 4.1 -               7 499 
Total Non-Current liabilities - 7 499 
   
Non-Current provisions 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Share options  4.7 657         1 297 
Total Non-Current provisions 657 1 297 
   
Non-current provisions and liabilities 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Total non-current provisions and liabilities 657 8 795 
 

Note 6.2 – Commitments and contingencies 
Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee 
The Group has entered into operating lease agreements through its operations in Norway, Sweden, Germany 
and the US. The terms of the agreements are between 3 months and 5 years. The Group has the right but not 
the obligation under some of its lease agreements, to lease the assets for additional terms of one to three years. 
There are no restrictions placed upon the Group as a result of entering into these leases. 

The minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are presented in the table below: 

Minimum lease payments 
(non-cancellable operating leases*) 

2019 
Expense 

Matures 
within 1 year 

Matures  
2-5 years 

 
Total 

Property leases* 5 734 5 664 9 762 21 160 
Total non-cancellable operating leases* 5 734 5 664 9 762 21 160 
 

*Including lease of office New York City at an annual rent of NOK 970 thousand expiring 30 April 2022 that is up 
for sublease from June 2019 onwards when ayfie Inc. relocates to Denver. 

Assets pledged as security and guarantee liabilities 
The Group has not pledged any assets as security for its liabilities in 2018 or 2017. The Group has not given any 
guarantees to or on behalf of third parties in the current and previous period. 

Contingent assets and liabilities 
The Group has no contingent assets or liabilities that meet the criteria for disclosure. 

Note 6.3 – Related party transactions 
Related parties are shareholders, Board Members and Executive Management in the parent company and the 
Group subsidiaries. Note 1.1 provides information about the Group’s structure, including details of the 
subsidiaries and the Parent company. The agreements on remuneration for Executive Management appear in 
note 2.2. 

All transactions within the Group or with other related parties are based on the principle of arm's length. 
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The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties 
(outside the Group) for the relevant financial year: 

NOK 1000   
 
Related party transactions and balances for 2018 

Executive 
Management 

Share- 
holders 

Board of 
Directors 

 
Total 2018 

Non-current liabilities to related parties 31.12.2018 17 298   - 17 298 
Current liability to relates parties 31.12.2018  
 

7 017 
 

- 7 017 

Purchases from related parties in 2018 2 201 - 2 201 
 

NOK 1000   
 
Related party transactions and balances for 2017 

Executive 
Management 

Share- 
holders 

Board of 
Directors 

 
Total 2017 

Non-current liabilities to related parties 31.12.2017 34 833  34 833 
Current liabilities to related parties 31.12.2017 -  - 
Purchases from related parties in 2017 258 120 378 
 

Non-current liabilities to related parties as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018 is UDS debt in ayfie Inc. 
to a set of existing or former shareholders dating back to 2014 when ayfie Inc. was the parent company of the 
Group. In December 2018 NOK 27 920 thousand were converted to equity. Further NOK 7 017 thousand were 
converted to equity in March 2019. The remaining loan will be payable only when the Board of ayfie Inc. decides 
to pay a dividend. As there is currently no intention to make dividend payments from ayfie Inc., the liability is 
classified as a non-current liability. 

Current liabilities as of 31 December 2018 consists of a short term loan from shareholders of NOK 15 588 
thousand which was converted to convertible loans in April 2019 and seller’s credit of NOK 16 744 thousand due 
in March 2020. 

 

Note 6.4 – Events after the reporting period 
 
28 January 2019 the extraordinary general meeting decided to deregister the ayfie Group AS share at the NOTC. 

1 March 2019 equity was increased by NOK 7 017 thousand through a debt/equity swap.  
 
10 March 2019 the seller’s credit of NOK 16 744 thousand was renegotiated, and due date extended with 12 
months to March 2020. 
 
12 April 2019 a MNOK 87 000 thousand convertible loan was raised. The loan has 5 years maturity and bear an 
annual interest of 4.5% + 3 months NIBOR. Interest is to be paid quarterly. The Conversion price is NOK 3 per 
share, and the loan note holders can exercise their conversion right 12 months after 12 April 2019.  
 
12 April 2019 NOK 15 803 thousand recorded as short term debt to shareholders at 31 December 2018 were 
converted to convertible loan on the same terms as the MNOK 87 000 million convertible loan. 
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Financial Statements 
Parent Company  
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Statement of comprehensive income parent company 
 
 

 

 

NOK 1000 Notes 2018 2017 
Operating expenses 

Personnel expenses 3, 4 
Other operating expenses 5  

Total operating expenses 

 
                    3 414 

26 143 
29 557 

 

 
                    1 533 

1 094 
2 627 

Operating profit or loss -29 557 -2 627 
Finance income and costs 

Invome on investment in subsidiaries 
Interest income from Group companies 
Other finance income  
Interest paid to Group companies 
Other finance expenses  

 
1 880 
2 297 
3 992 

107 
648 

 
- 
- 

589 
- 

360 

Profit or loss before tax -22 143 -2 398 
Income tax expense 6 - - 

Net loss for the year - 22 143 -2 398 
 
Allocated as follows 

  

    Transferred from other equity -22 143 -2 398 
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Statement of financial position parent company 
 
 

NOK 1000 Notes 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
ASSETS    
Intangible assets 
                   7   

ayfie technology 
ERP system  
 

Total intangible assets 
          

5 423 
299 

 
5277 

                        - 

 
Financial assets 
     Investment in subsidiaries 
     Loan to Group companies     
     Other receivables  
 
Total financial assets   

 

 
 

9 
8 
2 

  
 

8 341 
  98 423  

300 
 

107 064 

                     
 

1307 
29 920 

0 
 

31 277 

Total non-current assets 112 786    31 227 
 

Current assets    
Trade receivables 8                        932 - 
Other current assets 8 

8 
127 

1 880 
72 

- 
Receivables in subsidiaries 
Cash and cash equivalents 2 290 30 137 

Total current assets 3 229 30 209 
TOTAL ASSETS 116 015  61 437 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Equity    

Issued share capital 11 2 981 2 759 
Share premium  154 257 124 475 
Other capital reserves  1 490         1 490 
Other equity  -91 817 -69 674 

Total equity                   66 911 59 050 
 
Non-current liabilities    

Other non-current liabilities 8 5 810  331 
Total non-current liabilities 5 810 331 

 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables             8 25 854 18 
Current liabilities to related parties        254 203 
Other current liabilities 10 17 187 1 835 

Total current liabilities 42 294  2 056 
   

Total liabilities                   49 105 2 387 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 116 015 61 437 
 

Oslo, 13 June 2019 
The Board and CEO of ayfie Group AS 

 

   
Trond Vernegg 

Chairman of the Board 
 Jostein Devold 

Member of the Board 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Lars Nilsen 
Member of the Board 

 Erik Baklid 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Notes to Financial Statements - Parent Company 
 

 

 

Note 1 - Accounting Principles 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally 
accepted accounting principles for small enterprises. 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries is valued by the cost method in the company accounts. The investment is valued as cost of acquiring 
shares in the subsidiary, providing that write down is not required. Write down to fair value will be carried out if 
the reduction in value is caused by circumstances which may not be regarded as incidental and deemed necessary 
by generally accepted accounting principles. Write-downs are reversed when the cause of the initial write-downs 
are no longer present. 

Dividends and other distributions are recognized in the same year as appropriated in the subsidiary accounts. If 
dividends exceed withheld profits after acquisition, the exceeding amount represents reimbursement of invested 
capital, and the distribution will be subtracted from the value of the acquisition in the balance sheet. 

Balance sheet classification 
Net current assets comprise creditors due within one year, and entries related to goods circulation. Other entries 
are classified as fixed assets and/or long-term creditors. 

Current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and fair value. Short term creditors are recognized at 
nominal value. 

Fixed assets are valued by the cost of acquisition, in the case of non-incidental reduction in value the asset will 
be written down to the fair value amount. Long term creditors are recognized at nominal value. 

Foreign currency translation 
Foreign currency transactions are translated using the year end exchange rates. 

Pensions 
The pension contributions are charged to expenses as they are incurred. 

Income tax 
Tax expenses in the profit and loss account comprise both tax payable for the accounting period and changes in 
deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at 22 percent on the basis of existing temporary differences between 
accounting profit and taxable profit together with tax deductible deficits at the year end. Temporary differences, 
both positive and negative, are balanced out within the same period. Deferred tax assets are recorded in the 
balance sheet to the extent it is more likely than not that the tax assets will be utilized. 

To the extent Group contribution is not registered in the profit and loss, the tax effect of Group contribution is 
posted directly against the investment in the balance. 

Share based payment 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments. This program is 
measured at fair value at the date of the grant. The estimated cost at the grant date is recorded as a capital 
investment in its subsidiaries and directly against equity over the vesting period. This estimate is based on the 
Company’s assumptions of when and if the shares vest, adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting 
conditions. The fair value share-based program is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected 
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life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations. 

 

Note 2 - Bank deposit 
The company have the following restricted cash: 

NOK 1000    
Restricted cash 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
Withholding tax account 
Deposit rent 

149 
300 

220 
- 

Total restricted cash 449 220 

 

Note 3 - Personnel expenses and auditor fee 
NOK 1000    
Personnel expenses 2018 2017 
Salaries* 2 915 776 
Social security tax 403 126 
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 92 33 
Share based payment expense - 183 
Other personnel costs 4 415 
Total personnel expenses 3 414 1 533 
Full time equivalent employees as of 31 December 2 2 

 

*Including board compensation. Reference is made to note 2.2 in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Benefits to the CEO 
The CEO of ayfie Group AS is employed by ayfie Inc. For specification on remuneration and other benefits, 
reference is made to note 2.2 in the consolidated financial statements. 

Audit Fee 
 
NOK 1000 
Auditor related fees         2018 
Fees for audit*     700 
Fees for other assurance services    630 
Fees for tax consultant services    292 
Total remuneration to the auditor       1 622 

 
*Including audit of the subsidiaries ayfie Inc. and ayfie GmbH. 
 
Tax services and other services were mainly related to services carried out in 2018 regarding the reorganization 
of the Group in 2017 and adoption to IFRS in 2017.   
 
All amounts are excluding VAT. 
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Note 4 – Pensions 
The Company is required to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance with Norwegian legislation ("Lov 
om Obligatorisk Tjenestepensjon"). The Company's pension arrangements fulfill the requirements of this 
legislation. 

 
 

Note 5 – Other operating expenses 
NOK 1000    
Other operating expenses 2018 2017 
Professional services   2 049 764 
Development services acquired from subsidiaries 20 698                    - 
Other operating expenses 3 395               330 
Total other operating expenses 26 143 1 094 

 
 
Note 6 – Taxes 
NOK 1000    

   

Tax base estimation 2018 2017 
Ordinary result before tax 
Permanent differenes (dividend from subsidiaries) 
Transaction costs postes to equity 
Change in permanent differences 

          -21 143 
            -1 880 
                      - 
                  -90 

-2 398 
- 

-5 172 
- 

Tax base -24 113 -7 569 
   

Temporary differences outlines 2018 2017 
Fixed assets 90 - 
Net losses carried forward           -31 592 -7 570 
Total after net losses carried forward           -31 503         -7 570 
Differences not included in deferred tax base           -31 503         -7 570 
Total - - 
 
 Calculated deferred tax 
Deferred tax assets not recognized 

 
-5 423 
5 423 

 
- 
- 

Deferred tax asset (-) / Liability (+) - - 

 
 
Note 7 – Intangible assets 

Intangible assets consist of external research and development costs from the development of ayfie products to 
be launched in 2019.  

All internal research and development are recorded as costs.  
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Note 8 – Related party transactions 
For information on related party transactions for the Group, reference is made to note 6.3 in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

NOK 1000   
 
Related party transactions and balances  2018 2017 

Intercompany loans 
Dividend 
Other receivables   

98 423 
1 880 

932 

29 921 
 

42 
Total 101 235 29 963 

 
Note 9 – Investment in subsidiaries 
 
 
NOK 1000 

  

Company and location Acquisition  
date 

Ownership share/ 
Voting rights 

Net profit  
2018 

Equity  
31.12.18 

Book value 
31.12.18 

ayfie AS (Norway) 01.03.2017 100 %                  14 243           3 543 372 
ayfie Inc. (USA) 
ayfie AB (Sweden) 
ayfie GmbH (Germany)* 

20.02.2017 
08.03.2018 

                         100 %  
100 % 

- 33 122 
  2 728 
                 - 6 211                         

       -43 575 
          1 923 

       -20 216 

935 
             7 034 
 

Total                   -22 362 -58 325 8 341 

 
* ayfie Inc. owns all shares in ayfie GmbH 

 
Note 10 – Other short term liabilities 
 
NOK 1000 

   

Other short term liabilities 2018 2017 
Shareholder loan 15 588 1 185 
Other short term liabilities 1 599              650 
Total other short term liabilities 17 187 1 835 
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Note 11 - Equity and shareholders 
 

Issued share 
capital 

 
Share 

premium 

Other 
capital 

reserves 

 
Retained 
earnings 

 
Total  

equity 
Opening balance 30 -  - 30 
Loss for the year    -2 398 -2 398 
Capital write down -30    -30 
Contribution in shares of ayfie Inc. 1 769 1 868  -3 636 0 
Adjustment of contribution for shares in ayfie AS    -63 640 -63 640 
Capital increase (conversion of debt) 249 32 123   32 372 
Capital increase (issue of shares) 594 76 637   77 232 
Capital increase (issue of shares) 58 7 450   7 508 
Capital increase (issue of shares) 90 11 568   11 658 
Transaction costs related to issuance of shares  -5 172   -5 172 
Share based payments   1 400  1 489 
Balance as of 31 December 2017 2 759 124 475 1 490 -69 675 59 049 
 

 
Issued share 

capital 

 
Share 

premium 

Other 
capital 

reserves 

 
Retained 
earnings 

 
Total  

equity 
Opening balance 01.01.2018 2 759          124 475         1 490      -69 675 59 049 
Loss for the year        -22 143 -24 023 
Issue of shares*                222 29 782   29 782 
Balance as of 31 December 2018 2 981 154 257 1 490 -91 817 66 911 
 

*Including issue of share capital 21 December 2018 registered in The Register of Business Enterprise 10 January 
2019 

Reference is made to note 4.6 in the consolidated financial statements for information on the Company's share 
capital and shareholders including Executive Management and the Board's equity interests. 
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Auditor’s Report 
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Contact 
 
CFO Siw Ødegaard 
 
ayfie Group AS 
Karenslyst Allé 49 · 0279 Oslo · Norway 
 
Mobile: +47 95 75 98 48 
Mail: siw.odegaard@ayfie.com  
Web: www.ayfie.com      




